UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K

ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2024

☐ TRANSITION REPORT PUR	SUANT TO SECTION 13 OF For the transition period		XCHANGE ACT OF 1934
_	Commission file nur	nber: 001-33071	
	EHEALT (Exact name of registrant as	,	
Delaware (State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organiza	ation)	(56-2357876 I.R.S Employer Identification No)
	13620 RANCH ROAD AUSTIN, T (Address of principal execu	X 78717	
	(Registrant's telephone num Securities registered pursuant	ber, including area code) to Section 12(b) of the Act:	
<u>Title of each class</u> Common Stock, par value \$0.001 per share	Trading S EHT		Name of each exchange on which registered The Nasdaq Stock Market LLC
•		Section 12(g) of the Act: None	
	defined in Rule 405 of the Se	curities Act. Yes □ No ⊠	
Indicate by check mark if the registrant is not required to file reports pursuant			
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to file such reports), and (2) has been			
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically e preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required.)	every Interactive Data File re	quired to be submitted pursuant	
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, a "large accelerated filer," "accelerated filer," "smaller reporting company," and	n accelerated filer, a non-ac	celerated filer, a smaller reportir	
Large accelerated filer		Accelerated filer	
Non-accelerated filer		Smaller reporting company	\boxtimes
Emerging growth Company			
If an emerging growth company, indicate by check mark if the registrant has pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act. \Box	s elected not to use the exte	nded transition period for comply	ying with any new or revised financial accounting standards provide
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has filed a report on and attest the Sarbanes-Oxley Act (15 U.S.C. 7262(b)) by the registered public account			of its internal control over financial reporting under Section 404(b) of
If securities are registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act, indicate by issued financial statements. \Box	check mark whether the fina	ancial statements of the registral	nt included in the filing reflect the correction of an error to previousl
Indicate by check mark whether any of those error corrections are restatement the relevant recovery period pursuant to §240.10D-1(b). \Box	ents that required a recovery	analysis of incentive-based com	pensation received by any of the registrant's executive officers during
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined	in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchan	ge Act). Yes □ No ⊠	
Based on the closing price of the registrant's common stock on the last busing of its shares (based on a closing price of \$4.53 per share) held by non-affiliative who may be deemed to be an affiliate of the registrant have been excluded from the contract of the registrant have been excluded from the contract of the registrant have been excluded from the contract of the registrant have been excluded from the contract of the registrant have been excluded from the contract of the registrant have been excluded from the contract of the registrant have been excluded from the contract of the registrant have been excluded from the contract of the registrant have been excluded from the contract of the registrant have been excluded from the contract of the registrant have been excluded from the contract of the registrant have been excluded from the contract of the registrant have been excluded from the contract of the registrant have been excluded from the registrant have been excluded fr	ates was \$127.7 million. Sha	res of the registrant's common s	stock held by each executive officer and director and by each person
The number of shares of the registrant's common stock, par value \$0.001 pe	r share, outstanding as of Fe	bruary 21, 2025 was 29,942,604	shares.
	DOCUMENTS INCORPOR	ATED BY REFERENCE	
Portions of the registrant's Definitive Proxy Statement for the 2025 Annual Mare incorporated by reference into Part III of this Annual Report on Form 10-M		ch is expected to be filed within	120 days after the Company's fiscal year ended December 31, 2024

EHEALTH, INC.

FORM 10-K

Table of Contents

		PAGE
Summary of Risk Factors		2
Forward-Looking Statements		4
	PART I	
Item 1.	Business	6
Item 1A.	Risk Factors	19
Item 1B.	Unresolved Staff Comments	45
Item 1C.	Cybersecurity	45
Item 2.	Properties	47
Item 3.	Legal Proceedings	48
Item 4.	Mine Safety Disclosures	48
	PART II	
Item 5.	Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities	49
Item 6.	[Reserved]	49
Item 7.	Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations	50
Item 7A.	Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk	71
Item 8.	Financial Statements and Supplementary Data	72
Item 9.	Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure	110
Item 9A.	Controls and Procedures	110
Item 9B.	Other Information	113
Item 9C.	Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that Prevent Inspections	113
	PART III	
Item 10.	Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance	113
Item 11.	Executive Compensation	113
Item 12.	Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters	113
Item 13.	Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence	113
Item 14.	Principal Accountant Fees and Services	113
	PART IV	
Item 15.	Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules	114
Item 16.	Form 10-K Summary	114
Signatures		115
Exhibit Index		116

SUMMARY OF RISK FACTORS

The following is a summary of the principal risks we face, any of which could adversely affect our business, operating results or financial condition:

- The markets in which we participate are intensely competitive. If we cannot compete effectively against current and future competitors, including government-run health insurance exchanges, our business, operating results and financial condition could suffer.
- Our business may be harmed if we lose our relationship with health insurance carriers or our relationships with health insurance carriers are modified.
- We derive a significant portion of our revenue from a small number of health insurance carriers. Any impairment of our relationships with them or impairment of their businesses could adversely affect our business, operating results and financial condition.
- If we are unable to successfully attract and convert qualified prospects into members for whom we receive commissions, our business, operating results and financial condition would be harmed.
- · Our business, operating results and financial condition will be adversely impacted if we are unable to retain our existing members.
- Our marketing efforts may not be successful or may become more expensive, either of which could adversely affect our business, operating results and financial condition.
- If our carrier advertising and sponsorship program is not successful, our business, operating results and financial condition could be harmed.
- Our operations in China involve many risks that could increase expenses, expose us to increased liability and adversely affect our business, operating results and financial condition.
- Our business is seasonal in nature, and if we are not successful in responding to changes in the seasonality of our business, our business, operating results and financial condition could be harmed.
- Changes in our senior management or other key employees could affect our business, operating results and financial condition.
- Our business success depends on our ability to timely recruit, train and retain qualified licensed insurance agents, or benefit advisors, and other personnel to provide superior customer service and support our strategic initiatives while also controlling our labor costs.
- Our business could be harmed if we are not successful in executing on our operational and strategic plans.
- Changes and developments in the health insurance industry or system, including changes in laws and regulations, could harm our business, operating results and financial condition.
- The marketing and sale of health insurance plans, including Medicare plans are subject to numerous, complex and frequently changing laws, regulations and guidelines. Non-compliance with or changes in laws, regulations and guidelines, or changes in their interpretation or the manner in which they are enforced could harm our business, operating results and financial condition.
- From time to time we are subject to various legal proceedings, which could adversely affect our business, operating results and financial condition.
- We may be unable to operate our business if we fail to maintain our health insurance licenses and otherwise comply with the numerous laws and regulations applicable to the sale of health insurance.
- Increasing regulatory focus on privacy and data security issues and expanding laws could impact our business and expose us to increased liability.
- Our business could be harmed if we are unable to contact our consumers or market the availability of our products through specific channels.
- If we fail to properly maintain existing or implement new information systems, our business may be materially adversely affected.
- Issues relating to the use of artificial intelligence in our business operations could result in liability, reputational harm and an adverse impact on our operating results and financial condition.
- Our business is subject to security risks. If we experience a successful cyberattack or a security breach or are otherwise unable to safeguard the confidentiality and integrity of the data we hold, including sensitive personal information, our business will be harmed.
- Our commission revenue could be negatively impacted by changes in our estimated conversion rate of an approved member to a paying member, our forecast of average plan duration or our forecast of likely commission amounts.

- Our operating results will be impacted by factors that impact our estimate of the constrained lifetime value of commissions per approved member.
- If commission reports we receive from carriers are inaccurate or not sent to us in a timely manner, our business and operating results could be harmed, and we may not recognize trends in our membership.
- We do not receive information about membership cancellations from our health insurance carriers directly, which makes it difficult for us to determine the impact of current conditions on our membership retention and to accurately estimate membership as of a specific date.
- Our agreements with our lender and our convertible preferred stock investor contain restrictions that impact our business and expose us to risks that could materially adversely affect our liquidity and financial condition.
- Operating and growing our business is likely to require additional capital. If capital is not available to us, our business, operating results and financial condition may suffer.
- Our future operating results are likely to fluctuate and could fall short of our guidance and other expectations, which could negatively affect the value of our common stock.
- · The price of our common stock has been and may continue to be volatile, and the value of your investment could decline.
- Our convertible preferred stock investor has rights, preferences and privileges that are not held by, and are preferential to, the rights of
 our common stockholders and may exercise influence over us. This could adversely affect our liquidity and financial condition, result in
 the interests of our convertible preferred stock investor differing from those of our common stockholders and make an acquisition of us
 more difficult.
- We may not be able to adequately protect our intellectual property, which could harm our business, operating results and financial condition.
- · Our self-insurance programs may expose us to significant and unexpected costs and losses.
- Our business, operating results and financial condition can be impacted by political events, political instability, trade and other international disputes, geopolitical tensions or natural disasters.
- Adverse economic conditions including slow growth, recession, high unemployment, inflation, financial and credit market disruptions, could materially adversely affect our business, operating results and financial condition.

Our Risk Factors are not guarantees that no such conditions exist as of the date of this report and should not be interpreted as an affirmative statement that such risks or conditions have not materialized, in whole or in part.

CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

In addition to historical information, this Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "Securities Act") and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act"). The words "expect," "anticipate," "believe," "estimate," "farget," "goal," "project," "hope," "intend," "plan," "seek," "continue," "may," "could," "should," "might," "forecast," "depends," "predict," "confident," "are positioned" and variations or the negative of such words and similar expressions are intended to identify such forward-looking statements. These statements include, among other things, statements regarding the following:

- · our expectations relating to estimated membership and approved members;
- our estimates regarding the constrained lifetime value of commissions per approved member and commissions receivable;
- our expectations relating to revenue, operating costs, cash flows and profitability;
- · our expectations regarding our strategy and investments;
- our expectations regarding our business, industry and market trends, including market opportunity, consumer demand and our competitive advantage;
- our expectations regarding our Medicare, individual and family, small business, and other ancillary products and initiatives, including anticipated trends and our ability to enroll members;
- our expectations regarding our growth strategies and cost-saving initiatives;
- · the impact of future and existing laws and regulations on our business;
- the impact of public health crises, pandemics, natural disasters and other extreme events;
- the impact of macroeconomic conditions, including adverse events or perceptions affecting the U.S. or international financial systems, inflationary pressures and the political climate on our business;
- our expectations regarding commission rates, conversion rates, plan termination rates and duration, membership retention rates and membership acquisition costs;
- our expectations regarding insurance agent licensing and productivity;
- our expectations regarding beneficiary complaints, customer experience and enrollment quality;
- our expectations relating to the seasonality of our business;
- expected competition, including from government-run health insurance exchanges and other sources;
- our expectations relating to marketing and advertising investments and expected contributions from our marketing and strategic partnership channels;
- the timing of our receipt of commission and other payments;
- · our critical accounting policies and related estimates;
- · liquidity and capital needs;
- political, legislative, regulatory and legal challenges;
- the merits or potential impact of any lawsuits filed against us or any government enforcement actions; and
- other statements regarding our future operations, financial condition, prospects and business strategies.

We have based these forward-looking statements on our current expectations about future events. These statements are not guarantees of future performance and involve risks, uncertainties and assumptions that are difficult to predict. Our actual results may differ materially from those suggested by these forward-looking statements for various reasons, including our ability to retain existing members and enroll new members during the annual healthcare open enrollment period, the Medicare annual enrollment period, the Medicare Advantage open enrollment period and other special enrollment periods; changes in laws, regulations and guidelines, including in connection with healthcare reform or with respect to the marketing and sale of Medicare plans; competition, including competition from government-run health insurance exchanges and other sources; the seasonality of our business and the fluctuation of our operating results; our ability to accurately estimate membership, lifetime value of commissions and commissions receivable; changes in product offerings among carriers on our ecommerce platform and changes in our estimated conversion rate of an approved member to a paying member and the resulting impact of each on our commission revenue; the concentration of our revenue with a small number of health insurance carriers; our ability to execute on our growth strategy and other business initiatives; changes in our senior management or other key employees; our ability to recruit, train, retain and ensure the productivity of licensed insurance agents, or benefit advisors, and other personnel; exposure to security risks and our ability to safeguard the security and privacy of confidential data; our relationships with health insurance carriers; the success of our carrier advertising and sponsorship program; our success in marketing and selling health insurance plans and our unit cost of acquisition; our ability to effectively manage our operations as our business evolves and execute on our

business plan and other strategic initiatives; the need for health insurance carrier and regulatory approvals in connection with the marketing of Medicare-related insurance products; changes in the market for private health insurance; consumer satisfaction of our service and actions we take to improve the quality of enrollments; changes in member conversion rates; changes in commission rates; our ability to sell qualified health insurance plans to subsidy-eligible individuals and to enroll subsidy-eligible individuals through government-run health insurance exchanges; our ability to derive desired benefits from investments in our business, including membership growth and retention initiatives; our reliance on marketing partners; the success and cost of our marketing efforts, including branding, online advertising, direct-to-consumer mail, email, social media, telephone. SMS text, television, radio and other marketing efforts; timing of receipt and accuracy of commission reports; payment practices of health insurance carriers; dependence on our operations in China; the restrictions in our debt obligations; the restrictions in our investment agreement with our convertible preferred stock investor; our ability to raise additional capital; compliance with insurance, privacy, cybersecurity and other laws and regulations; the outcome of litigation or government enforcement actions in which we may from time to time be involved; the performance, reliability and availability of our information technology systems, ecommerce platform and underlying network infrastructure, including any new systems we may implement; our ability to deploy new and evolving technologies, such as artificial intelligence; public health crises, pandemics, natural disasters and other extreme events; general economic and macroeconomic conditions, including inflation, recession, political events, instability or geopolitical tensions, trade or other international disputes, financial, banking and credit market disruptions; our ability to effectively administer our self-insurance program; and those identified under the heading "Risk Factors" in Part I, Item 1A. of this report and those discussed in our other Securities and Exchange Commission filings. Given these risks and uncertainties, you are cautioned not to place undue reliance on such forward-looking statements. The forward-looking statements included in this report are made only as of the date hereof. Except as required by applicable law, we do not undertake, and specifically decline, any obligation to update any of these statements or to publicly announce the results of any revisions to any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events, changes in assumptions or otherwise.

Because these forward-looking statements involve risks and uncertainties, there are important factors that could cause our actual results to differ materially from those in the forward-looking statements.

PART I

ITEM 1. BUSINESS

Overview

eHealth, Inc. and its subsidiaries, referred to throughout this report as "eHealth," the "Company," "we," "us" or "our," is a leading private health insurance marketplace with a technology and service platform that provides consumer engagement, education and health insurance enrollment solutions. Our mission is to expertly guide consumers through their health insurance enrollment and related options, when, where, and how they prefer. Our platform leverages technology to solve a critical problem in a large and growing market by aiding consumers in what has traditionally been a complex, confusing and opaque health insurance purchasing process.

Our omnichannel consumer engagement platform differentiates our offering from our competitors and enables consumers to use our services online, by telephone with a licensed insurance agent, or benefit advisor, or through a hybrid online assisted interaction that includes live agent chat and co-browsing capabilities. We have created a consumer-centric marketplace that offers consumers a broad choice of insurance products that includes thousands of Medicare Advantage, Medicare Supplement, Medicare Part D prescription drug, individual, family, small business, and other ancillary health insurance products from over 180 health insurance carriers nationwide. Our plan recommendation tool curates this broad plan selection by analyzing beneficiaries' health-related information against plan data for insurance coverage fit. This tool is supported by a unified data platform and is available to our ecommerce consumers and our licensed benefit advisors. We strive to be the most trusted, unbiased, transparent partner to consumers in their journeys through the health insurance market.

Our Business Model

Our management evaluates our business performance and manages our operations in the following two reportable segments: (1) the Medicare segment and (2) the Employer and Individual ("E&I") segment. As an insurance agency, we derive our revenue from consideration paid to us by our health insurance carrier partners, who are our customers, for our services through commissions and other forms of compensation. We do not generate revenue directly from the consumers that we help enroll in insurance products on behalf of our health insurance carrier partners. Our platform and services are free to the consumer, and, as an insurance agency, we do not take on underwriting risk.

Medicare Segment

Our Medicare segment represents the majority of our business and constituted approximately 90% of our revenue in 2024. We actively market a large selection of Medicare-related health insurance plans and, to a lesser extent, ancillary products such as dental and vision insurance and hospital indemnity plans, to our Medicare-eligible consumers. Our Medicare ecommerce platform (which can be accessed through our websites www.eHealthMedicare.com and www.GoMedigap.com), along with our telephonic enrollment capabilities, enable consumers to research, compare and purchase Medicare-related health insurance plans, including Medicare Advantage, Medicare Supplement, and Medicare Part D prescription drug plans. As a health insurance agency, we primarily generate revenue from commissions received from health insurance carriers. These commissions may include certain bonus payments based on achieving predetermined sales targets or other objectives set by the health insurance carriers. In addition to commission revenue, our Medicare segment generates other revenue through amounts earned in connection with our Medicare advertising programs where we may engage in marketing activities and other services, as well as amounts earned from our non-broker of record fee-based arrangements and our performance of various post-enrollment services for members.

Medicare Advantage and Medicare Part D prescription drug plan pricing is approved by the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services ("CMS"), an agency of the United States Department of Health and Human Services, and is not subject to negotiation or discounting by health insurance carriers or our competitors. Similarly,

Medicare Supplement plan pricing is set by the health insurance carrier and approved by state regulators. It is not subject to negotiation or discounting by health insurance carriers or our competitors.

Employer and Individual Segment

Within our E&I segment, we actively market individual and family health insurance plans ("IFP"), along with employer plans, which include small business health insurance plans and Individual Coverage Health Reimbursement Arrangements ("ICHRAs"). In addition, we market a variety of ancillary products, including but not limited to, short-term, dental and vision plans. These ancillary products are offered to individual and family and small business consumers and are also sold on a standalone basis. We generate revenue as a result of commissions we receive from health insurance carriers whose health insurance plans are purchased through us, as well as commission override payments we receive for achieving sales volume thresholds or other objectives. To a lesser extent, the E&I segment also generates other revenue from amounts earned in our online sponsorship program as well as our technology licensing activities. IFP pricing, which is set by the health insurance carrier and approved by state regulators, is not subject to negotiation or discounting by health insurance carriers or our competitors.

Revenue

Commission Revenue Sources

Medicare Segment — In the first effective plan year of a Medicare Advantage or Medicare Part D prescription drug plan for which we are the broker of record, we receive a fixed annual commission from health insurance carriers, generally after the plan is approved by the carrier and the plan becomes effective. We also receive a fixed commission that is prorated for the remaining months of the calendar year, if applicable. Additionally, if the plan is the first Medicare Advantage or Medicare Part D prescription drug plan issued to the member because either the beneficiary just became eligible for these products or has previously been covered through an Original Medicare program, we may receive a higher commission that covers an entire 12-month period, regardless of the plan's effective month. Beginning with the second plan year and as long as the member remains on that plan, we typically receive fixed monthly commissions for Medicare Advantage and Medicare Part D prescription drug plans which continue until the plan is cancelled or we are no longer the broker of record. For Medicare Supplement plans that we sell, our commissions generally represent a flat amount per member per month or a percentage of the premium collected by the carrier while the member maintains coverage. Premium-based commissions are reported to us after the health insurance carrier collects premiums, generally every month. We continue to receive commissions from the relevant health insurance carrier until the health insurance plan is cancelled or we are no longer the broker of record.

Employer and Individual Segment — The commissions we receive for IFP, small business health insurance plans and ancillary health insurance plans are either a percentage of the premiums consumers pay for those plans or a flat amount per member per month. They vary depending on the carrier that is offering the plan, the state where the plan was sold and the size of the business. Commission payments are typically made to us every month until either the plan is cancelled or we are no longer the broker of record. IFP pricing, which is set by the health insurance carrier and approved by state regulators, is not subject to negotiation or discounting by health insurance carriers or our competitors.

Other Revenue Sources

Within our two operating segments, we earn commission revenue, as well as non-commission revenue, or other revenue, which includes online sponsorship and advertising, non-broker of record arrangements, performance of other services, technology licensing and captive arrangements revenue.

Online Sponsorship and Advertising. We generate revenue from our sponsorship and advertising program that allows carriers to purchase advertising space for non-Medicare products on our website and potentially Medicare plan-related advertising on separate websites that we develop, host and maintain. In addition, in connection with our Medicare plan advertising program, we may engage in other activities, including marketing. In return for our services, we typically are paid either a flat amount, a monthly amount, or, in our individual and family

health insurance sponsorship advertising program, a performance-based fee based on metrics such as submitted health insurance applications.

Non-Broker of Record. In certain arrangements, we facilitate beneficiary enrollment in Medicare-related health insurance plans with health insurance carriers without becoming the agent of record. Under these arrangements, we receive one-time fees determined by contract terms. Our services are complete once the submitted application is approved by the relevant health insurance carrier. We recognize fee income based upon the fee we expect to receive for selling the plan after the carrier approves an application.

Technology Licensing. We generate revenue from licensing the use of our health insurance ecommerce technology. Our technology platform enables health insurance carriers to market and distribute health insurance plans online. Health insurance carriers that license our technology typically pay us implementation fees and performance-based fees that are based on metrics such as submitted health insurance applications.

Captive Arrangements. In certain arrangements where we work as captive agents for specific health insurance carriers, we recognize revenue for customer care and enrollment and marketing fees paid to us by the health insurance carriers in the period the services are performed.

Other Services. We generate revenue from agreements with carriers to perform various post-enrollment services for members in Medicare health insurance plans. We typically are paid a fixed fee upon completion of the specific service and the revenue is recognized in the period the service was completed.

Additional financial information about our company is included in Part II, Item 7, *Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations* and Item 8, *Financial Statements and Supplementary Data*, of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Carrier Relationships

We have developed strategic relationships with leading health insurance carriers in the United States, enabling us to offer thousands of health insurance plans online. We have relationships with over 180 Medicare-related, individual and family, employer and ancillary health insurance plan carriers, including large national carriers and well-established regional carriers. Many of these major carriers have been selling their products through us for over ten years. In many cases, we have back-office integration with major carriers allowing us to submit applications efficiently and cost-effectively, which is an area of competitive differentiation for our business. We typically enter into contractual agency relationships with health insurance carriers that are non-exclusive and terminable on short notice by either party for any reason.

Our Platforms and Technology

Our ecommerce platforms and consumer engagement solutions are built to provide market-leading information, decision support, and transactional services to a broad group of health insurance consumers nationwide, while prioritizing accessibility to health insurance. Our ecommerce platforms organize and present voluminous and complex health insurance information in an objective format that empowers individuals, families, and businesses to research, analyze, compare, and purchase a wide variety of health insurance plans.

Our technology platform also allows eHealth to provide omnichannel capabilities to our consumers who can shop and enroll in health insurance through an intuitive online interface, by speaking with a live benefit advisor or utilizing one of the hybrid enrollment methods such as agent chat and co-browsing tools. These omnichannel capabilities represent a differentiated offering relative to other competitors in our sector.

We have a technology and content team that is responsible for ongoing enhancements to the features and functionality of our ecommerce platforms, which are critical to maintaining our technology leadership position in the industry.

Elements of our platforms include:

Plan Comparisons and Recommendations. We offer online comparison and recommendation tools that process and simplify voluminous information across thousands of health insurance plans from over 180 health insurance carriers nationwide that are available through our platform. Our technology enables consumers to compare and evaluate health insurance options based on each consumer's specific needs and plan characteristics such as price, plan type, coverage limits, deductible amount, co-payment amount, and in-network and out-of-network benefits. After entering relevant information on our website or giving such information to one of our licensed benefit advisors, consumers can receive a list of applicable health insurance plans and rate and benefit information in an easy-to-understand format. We also have introduced MatchMonitor™, a self-service tool that allows members to easily understand the implications of annual notice changes, check if any of their critical benefits are impacted and compare their current plan to other options.

Online Application and Enrollment Forms. Health insurance applications vary widely by carrier and state. Our proprietary application tool lets us capture each insurance application's unique business rules and build a corresponding online application. Our online application process offers our consumers significant improvements over the traditional, paper-intensive application process. It employs dynamic business logic to help individuals and families correctly complete the application and enrollment forms in real time. This reduces delays resulting from application rework, where incomplete applications are mailed back and forth between the consumer, the traditional agent, and the carrier. This is a significant problem with traditional health insurance distribution, and we further simplify the enrollment process by enabling electronic signatures.

Customer and Carrier Data Interchange. Our digital data interface technology integrates our online application process with health insurance carriers' technology systems, enabling us to deliver our consumers' applications to health insurance carriers electronically. Our digital interface technology also expedites the loading of insurance product inventory into our various shopping experiences and accelerates the application process by eliminating manual delivery. We also receive alerts and data from carriers, such as notification of approval or a request from a carrier for a consumer's medical records for underwriting purposes. These features of our service help prevent applications from becoming delayed or rejected through inactivity of the consumer or the carrier.

Advisor Enrollment Center Technology Systems. Our proprietary agent-assist management systems enable us to provide a full range of personalized customer service tasks efficiently while complying with Medicare and health insurance regulatory requirements. Our benefit advisors have script-on-screen tools that align to customer and compliance needs and leverage a common back-office platform that powers our direct-to-consumer shopping experience. Our systems also have customer relationship management tools that can track each consumer throughout the application process, generate automated emails specific to each consumer.

Customer Center. Our customer center enables members to create a secure personal profile that stores their prescription drug regimen, preferred doctors and pharmacies, current coverage, and other relevant data. This data is available to members and our licensed benefit advisors that they contact. After a member creates a customer center account, our technology will import details provided to an agent over the telephone to the account. The following are important benefits of our customer center:

- **Empower Medicare beneficiaries to take control of their personal information** Our customer center puts our members in the driver's seat by helping them track and update the information they need when it is time to reconsider their coverage options.
- Identification of Medicare plan options With their relevant information securely stored in our customer center, it is easier for shoppers to find the best plan options for their personal needs and budget. It also incentivizes them to return to us when their needs change.
- **Drive retention through communication** Our customer center allows beneficiaries to track the status of their applications over time through our Application Tracker tool and connects them with us if they have questions.

Information Security

Information security is an integral part of our business. We emphasize to our employees that information security is "everyone's responsibility." We are committed to maintaining information security through responsible management, appropriate use, and protection according to relevant legal and regulatory requirements and our contractual relationships. Our head of Information Security is focused on information and systems technology and corporate governance to drive a common security framework practice. The Information Security team concentrates on technology, behaviors, and safeguarding information from unauthorized or inappropriate access, use, or disclosure. The audit committee of our board of directors oversees information and cybersecurity risks and periodically reviews those risks with our head of Information Security. We utilize various industry-recognized information security frameworks, including SOC-2, Health Information Trust Alliance (HITRUST), National Institute of Standards and Technology, Payment Card Industry Data Security Standard, Center for Internet Security ("CIS") Controls, and CIS Benchmarks. In 2024, we successfully achieved HITRUST i1 certification for our carrier integration platform. With this certification we are poised to continue to deliver secure, compliant and reliable services to our customers. For more information about our cybersecurity risk management and governance, see Part I, Item 1C, Cybersecurity, of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Marketing

We focus on building brand awareness, increasing Medicare, individual, family and business consumer visits to our websites and telephonic sales centers, converting these visitors into members and retaining these members long-term. Our marketing initiatives are tailored to each consumer segment, ensuring each message resonates, is deployed into the channels that are relevant to each segment and connects throughout the entirety of the end-to-end experience. Our priority channels across audiences include:

Direct Marketing. Our direct marketing consists of channels that drive consumers to call our advisor enrollment centers directly or access our website, which may include direct mail, search engines such as Google, paid social platforms like Facebook, email marketing, search engine optimization, radio, and television/video (including linear, connect television devices and over the top media).

Partner Marketing. Our marketing partner channel comprises a network of partners that drive consumers to our ecommerce platform and advisor enrollment centers. Our partners include affiliate partners, strategic partners and carrier partners. Affiliate partners include lead generators who specialize in traditional direct marketing channels. Our strategic partner marketing channel consists of marketing with partners to serve their constituencies across key industry vertical categories, including pharmacies and provider networks, as well as financial, insurance and other service partners. Such partnerships may include co-branded marketing tactics and a suite of product integrations to assist in optimizing partner traffic through our online and telephonic flows. We also work with health care industry participants such as insurance carriers and provide market services in connection with our provision of business process outsourcing that leverages our advisor enrollment center capabilities to help field inbound call volumes.

Industry and Market

The purchase of health insurance is a high-stakes decision for a consumer. Historically it has been a complex, time-consuming and paper-intensive process. The complexity and large number of plan options with a variety of coverage, provider networks, and out-of-pocket cost combinations can make it difficult to make informed health insurance decisions. The Internet's convenient, information-rich and interactive nature offers the opportunity to provide consumers with more organized and transparent information, a broader choice of plans and a more efficient and accurate process than have typically been available from traditional health insurance distribution channels. We believe that the Internet is becoming an increasingly important channel for researching and enrolling into health insurance plans, similar to other consumer-focused industries such as travel, financial services and shopping.

Medicare is a federal program that provides persons 65 years of age and older, and some persons under the age of 65 who meet certain conditions, with hospital and medical insurance benefits. Medicare beneficiaries

choose between Medicare Fee-For-Service and Medicare Advantage plans. Medicare Fee-For-Service is a government plan where the consumer is responsible for select health care related payments with no limit on out-of-pocket expenses and can be used at any doctor or hospital that accepts Medicare. To increase coverage, Medicare Fee-For-Service beneficiaries can purchase commercially offered Medicare Supplement plans. Medicare Advantage is an alternative to Medicare Fee-For-Service that provides health and drug coverage in a single offering from private health insurance carriers that CMS has contracted with under the Medicare Advantage and Medicare Part D prescription drug programs. Under these programs, the government pays health insurance carriers per enrollee to cover health care expenses rather than the government making payments directly to providers under Medicare Fee-For-Service. Medicare Advantage plans are required to cover the same services as Medicare Fee-For-Service and usually cover a variety of other health care services and include a cap on out-of-pocket spending for the consumer. In many cases, Medicare Advantage plans only allow consumers to use doctors who are in the specific plan's network.

In our Medicare segment, we have benefited from several trends over the past few years, including: (1) demographic trends, with an average of approximately 10,000 people projected to turn 65 every day for the next several years; (2) the strong value proposition of the Medicare Advantage program, which we believe has provided overall superior health outcomes compared to traditional Medicare; (3) and a wide selection of Medicare Advantage plans that are increasingly offering extra benefits such as gym memberships, medical transportation and nutritional services; (4) the increasing proportion of the Medicare eligible population that is choosing commercial insurance solutions such as Medicare Advantage and Medicare Supplement plans, rather than obtaining healthcare through the Original Medicare program; and (5) consumers' growing propensity to comparison shop, including for healthcare insurance. In addition, our digital platform provides us with a strong competitive advantage as adoption of the Internet for research, social interaction, shopping, and other daily needs is continuously growing for seniors.

Individual and family products are typically purchased by consumers under 65 years of age that do not have coverage through their employers. Small business group health insurance addresses the health insurance needs of businesses typically with 100 or fewer employees. The employer market is continuing to evolve towards alternative products such as ICHRAs, in which employers of any size can reimburse employees for some or all of the premiums the employees pay for health insurance they purchase on their own, which is typically an individual market health insurance plan. ICHRA adoption has grown 29% from 2023 to 2024 and became an available option for employers in 2020. Individual, family and small business health insurance has historically been sold by independent insurance agents and, to a lesser degree, directly by insurance companies. Many of these agents are self-employed or work for small agencies, and they typically service only their local communities. In addition, many of these agents sell health insurance from a limited number of insurance carriers (in some cases only one), resulting in a reduced selection of plans for the consumer.

Recent macroeconomic events, including rising consumer prices and interest rates, have led to uncertainty as it pertains to consumer shopping patterns. Given that our core product, Medicare Advantage, is characterized by low premiums, including a large selection of zero premium plans, the demand for our services is relatively minimally impacted by the economic cycles. At the same time, purchasing power of consumers and businesses has a greater impact on activity in the individual and family and business markets. Additionally, during 2024, Medicare Advantage plan providers experienced unprecedented disruptions as carriers faced higher medical cost trends as well as regulatory pressures causing them to make material changes to their offerings. As a result, there were benefit and premium changes and also plan cancellations and market exits, which resulted in elevated consumer demand during this past Annual Enrollment Period ("AEP"). We believe our choice model became a valuable tool to match beneficiaries with the best coverage through our carrier agnostic tools.

Our Growth Strategies

We believe that our consumer-centric omnichannel distribution model provides us competitive strengths in customer engagement and health insurance distribution. It creates opportunities for growth in our core Medicare business and in other areas of the health insurance market. We intend to pursue the following strategies to further advance our business.

Pursue Deliberate Revenue Diversification and Scaling of our Business

During 2025, we intend to continue to pursue deliberate, targeted scaling of our business by focusing on products, demand generation channels, fulfillment processes and market segments that best leverage our competitive differentiation. We believe that consumers are increasingly favoring choice and the ability to comparison shop to achieve optimal health insurance coverage. Our omnichannel choice model that supports telephonic, online-unassisted and online-assisted interactions with eHealth is well-aligned with the evolving needs and preferences of our consumers and allows us to reach a large portion of the Medicare and broader health insurance markets. We intend to leverage our technology leadership, carrier relationships and distribution capabilities year-round to scale our core business and pursue the diversification of our revenue base.

We are focusing on growing our investment in Medicare Supplement, an attractive product which can be sold year-round. Recently, we have introduced a dedicated Medicare Supplement sales team and expanded our carrier offerings. We plan to continue to expand our consumers' end-to-end experience in this product. Another important element of our diversification program involves continuing to supplement our core broker-of-record business with scaled dedicated carrier arrangements and business process outsourcing arrangements that leverage our advisor enrollment center capabilities to help field inbound call volumes for specific carriers. Certain of these arrangements provide for feebased revenue where cash is collected in advance or in close proximity to when the revenue is recognized. Going forward, the E&I segment will also be an important element of our diversification plan, and we expect to pursue both direct-to-consumer strategies as well as business-to-business strategies for employers of all sizes, including the emerging ICHRA opportunity.

Evolve Brand Awareness for All Products and Channels

In 2023, we completed our Company rebrand to more effectively communicate eHealth's differentiated value proposition. In 2024, we focused on communicating our value proposition in our branded materials throughout the consumer journey. We maintained a consistent message across our marketing channels during consumer interaction with our omnichannel platform as consumers researched and shopped for plans, and we also extended this to post-enrollment member engagement activities. In 2025, we intend to leverage our growing consumer brand and consumer-centric marketing to scale volume through direct channels and further enhance lead quality across all types of products we offer. We expect to focus on driving further alignment with telesales and our online platform to provide a targeted and personalized consumer experience.

Improve Member Retention and Conversions on Our Platform while Continuing to Evolve our Telesales Organization

Our goal is to build a leadership position in our industry by establishing our omnichannel distribution platform as the gold standard for consumer experience. We believe that success and sustainability of brokers is increasingly determined by consumer satisfaction, retention and other quality tracking metrics. This trend is redefining the competitive landscape in our business and has created significant competitive advantages for agents and brokers that emphasize member experience and collaborate with carriers on attaining quality goals.

Through continued improvements to our online experience and plan recommendation engine, enhancements to agent training and a comprehensive post-enrollment retention strategy, we strive to present beneficiaries with choices that best align with their unique circumstances and assist them in making future decisions should their insurance plan needs or personal circumstances change.

In 2024, we introduced additional initiatives, including updating our member onboarding experience, launching our loyalty program, ePerks, and providing personalized communications with our new and existing consumers over a variety of channels meant to foster year-round awareness of eHealth and the services we provide. We introduced MatchMonitor™, a self-service tool that allows members to easily understand the implications of annual notice changes, check if any of their critical benefits are impacted and compare their current plan to other options. We also developed targeted retention programs for audiences with higher propensity for attrition. These efforts included proactively reaching out to beneficiaries whose coverage would potentially be changing during the AEP, coordinating marketing outreach, specialized training for our benefit advisors to cater to specific member needs and having a dedicated team of benefit advisors for existing members. In 2025, we plan to

evolve and optimize deliberate, consumer-centric retention efforts from policy submission through effectuation and subsequent renewals with a goal to improve member-level retention on the eHealth platform.

During 2024, we continued enhancing the consumer experience to improve conversion rates across our entire omnichannel platform, regardless of how a consumer first interacts with eHealth or how the final enrollment is made. This includes increasing the effectiveness of our telesales organization through a redesigned hiring, training and career path program. We also utilized a larger number of screeners to help ensure beneficiaries are routed to the appropriate benefit advisor or customer service team member which ultimately reduces call hold times while enhancing the efficiency of our benefit advisors. We expect to continue to focus on evolving our telesales organization to support scale and diversification needs of the business and changing market conditions. We plan to sustain a steady benefit advisor count throughout 2025 and invest in our benefit advisors by providing them with improved tools to perform their tasks, to allow them to grow and improve in their roles and to ultimately produce higher quality leads.

Advance Our Digital Technology Leadership and Strengthen and Expand Health Insurance Carrier Partnerships

We plan to advance our digital technology leadership to better serve our consumers, employees and health insurance carriers by utilizing our artificial intelligence ("Al") Center of Excellence to help guide and prioritize our Al and technology initiatives for 2025. As we continue to focus on growth and diversity of our business and expand our technology, we plan to fortify the organizational foundation that supports our health insurance carrier relationships through a strategic approach to health insurance carrier portfolio management. We plan to take a nimble, opportunistic approach to distribution models reflecting evolving carrier needs and regulatory landscape.

Competition

The market for selling health insurance plans is highly competitive. Our competitors include government entities, including government-run health insurance exchanges; health insurance carriers; other health insurance agents and brokers; and companies that use the Internet and other means to attract individuals interested in purchasing health insurance and generate revenue by referring these individuals to us or one of our competitors.

Other agents and brokers. We compete with agents and brokers who offer and sell health insurance plans utilizing traditional offline distribution channels as well as the Internet. Our current competitors include the tens of thousands of local insurance agents across the United States who sell health insurance plans in their communities. A number of these agents as well as larger brokers operate websites and provide online shopping experiences to varying degrees for consumers interested in purchasing health insurance. In addition, there are a number of direct-to-consumer Medicare platforms that generate demand through a combination of online and traditional marketing channels and fulfill demand through their call center operations.

Government. In connection with our marketing of Medicare related health insurance plans, we compete with the federal government's Original Medicare program. CMS also offers Medicare plan online enrollment, information and comparison tools and has established call centers for the sale of Medicare Advantage and Medicare Part D prescription drug plans. CMS has regulatory authority over the Medicare Advantage and Medicare Part D prescription drug program and can influence the competitiveness of Medicare Advantage and Medicare Part D prescription drug plans compared to the Original Medicare program, as well as the compensation that health insurance carriers are allowed to pay us.

Insurance carriers. Many health insurance carriers directly market and sell their plans to consumers through call centers and their own websites. Although we offer health insurance plans for many of these carriers, they also compete with us by offering their plans directly to consumers and, to a much lesser extent, to small businesses. Health insurance carriers have become more experienced in marketing their products directly to consumers, both over the Internet and through more traditional channels, which has resulted in increased competition.

Internet marketers and other advertisers. There are many Internet marketing companies and other advertisers that use the Internet and other means to find consumers interested in purchasing health insurance and

are compensated for referring those consumers to agents and health insurance carriers. We compete with these companies for individuals who are looking to purchase health insurance.

Intellectual Property

We rely on a combination of patent, trademark, copyright and trade secret laws in the United States and other jurisdictions, as well as confidentiality procedures and contractual provisions, to protect our proprietary technology and our brand. We also have filed patent applications that relate to certain of our technology and business processes.

Seasonality

The majority of our commission revenue is recognized in the fourth quarter of each calendar year under Accounting Standards Codification ("ASC") 606, *Revenue from Contracts with Customers*. We have historically sold a significant portion of Medicare plans for the year in the fourth quarter during the Medicare AEP, when Medicare-eligible individuals are permitted to change their Medicare Advantage and Medicare Part D prescription drug coverage for the following year. During 2024 and 2023, 60% and 56%, respectively, of our Medicare planrelated applications were submitted during the fourth quarter. As a result, we generate a significant portion of our commission revenue related to new Medicare plan-related enrollments in the fourth quarter.

Beginning January 1, 2019, CMS revived the Medicare Advantage open enrollment period ("OEP") during which Medicare Advantage plan enrollees may enroll in another Medicare Advantage plan or disenroll from their Medicare Advantage plan and return to the Original Medicare program. The Medicare Advantage OEP occurs between January 1 and March 31 of each year. As a result, we typically generate higher commission revenue in the first quarter compared to the second and third quarters.

The annual OEP for IFP takes place in the fourth quarter of the calendar year, as prescribed under the federal Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act and related amendments in the Health Care and Education Reconciliation Act. During 2024 and 2023, 42% and 46%, respectively, of our IFP-related applications were submitted during the fourth quarter. As a result, we generate a significant portion of our commission revenue related to individual and family plan-related enrollments in the fourth quarter. In the states where the Federally Facilitated Marketplace ("FFM") operates as the state health insurance exchange, individuals and families generally are not able to purchase individual and family health insurance outside of the AEP, unless they qualify for a special enrollment period as a result of certain qualifying events, such as losing employer-sponsored health insurance or moving to another state. Extended open enrollment or special enrollment periods may change the seasonality of our individual and family health insurance business.

We incur a significant portion of our marketing and advertising expenses in the fourth quarter as a result of the Medicare AEP and the OEP under the Affordable Care Act. We expect this seasonal trend in marketing and advertising expenses to continue in the foreseeable future.

Full-time internal benefit advisors represent the majority of our telesales capacity. We plan to maintain our internal telesales benefit advisors year-round, net of natural attrition, and expect to increase our internal benefit advisors' utilization outside of the enrollment periods by expanding our offerings of ancillary products and carrier call center outsourcing programs. We typically start ramping our telesales capacity during the second quarter, in preparation for the fourth quarter AEP. The magnitude of new agent hiring is driven by our enrollment growth goals for that year. Our customer care and enrollment expenses are typically highest in the fourth quarter and lowest in the second quarter.

Human Capital Resources

Employees are our most valuable asset, and we strive to put them first. We are a creative and collaborative group with a single, shared mission. As of December 31, 2024, we had 1,773 regular full-time employees, of which 1,213 were in customer care and enrollment, 247 were in technology and content, 227 were in general and

administrative and 86 were in marketing and advertising. Of the 1,773 regular full-time employees, 212 were non-US employees based in our subsidiary in China. None of our U.S. employees are represented by a labor union. As required under Chinese law, the employees in our Xiamen, China office established what is referred to as a labor union in China in January 2014. We have not experienced any work stoppages and consider our employee relations to be strong. In addition, from time to time, we rely on independent contractors, consultants, business partners, seasonal employees and other staff that are not full-time employees to support our business.

Our human capital strategy focuses on building a company culture and workforce that aligns with our mission, is future-ready and is driven to make a meaningful impact. We continuously review and refine our mechanisms used to hire, develop, evaluate and retain our employees. To measure and enhance engagement, we conduct a comprehensive internal survey annually, paired with ongoing, real-time feedback through business unit engagement champions. To drive continuous improvement, in 2024, we introduced an external survey in partnership with the global engagement organization, Great Place to Work®, to benchmark our actions against top-performing organizations. In 2024, we earned the Great Place to Work® Certified recognition, indicating our employees' satisfaction with our culture, leadership and overall employee experience.

We recognize the importance of cultivating a company culture in which everyone is treated with respect and dignity, in which we can learn from one another's unique experiences and capabilities and in which we can be our best, personally and professionally. We are committed to fostering a workplace culture that values all perspectives and human experiences, fairly provides opportunities to excel and ensures our employees feel heard and included. We are proud that our workforce represents a mix of backgrounds, skills and experiences which makes us stronger as an organization and allows us to better understand and serve the needs of our consumers who represent diverse socio-economic and demographic backgrounds.

We believe our employees are fundamental to our success and we strive to provide a workplace that promotes growth and development of all employees supported by an extensive learning culture. We offer free online courses and a robust manager development program across all our operations. We provide specialized training within Sales Mastery University to enable our benefit advisors to onboard, obtain certification, and be equipped with the tools necessary to be productive within their roles. For manager level employees, eHealth introduced a meeting series titled Leaders Leading Leaders, which are virtual monthly gatherings of all eHealth leaders with the goal of providing critical and timely business updates to align organization-based objectives to the company's strategic objectives and prepare leaders to disseminate vital internal information to their teams. This meeting also facilitates functional leadership growth opportunities and the development of business acumen within our leader pool.

We also strive to recognize and reward our talent and are committed to the well-being of our employees. We offer all employees a competitive base salary and an annual cash bonus award earned based on achieving goals relating to company performance and personal performance, and our full-time employees enjoy a generous Total Rewards package of benefits. Our pay and benefits structures are designed to motivate, incentivize and reward our employees at all levels of the organization for their skill development, demonstration of our values and performance. Our benefits package generally includes the following:

Core Benefits:	
Health Insurance, including Medical, Dental and Vision	Mental Health and Employee Assistance Programs
Life & Disability	Flexible Spending Accounts
401(k) Retirement Plan with Company Match Program	

Additional Benefits:	
Tuition Reimbursement	Back-up Care
Student Loan Repayment Programs	Financial Planning Assistance
Fertility & Adoption Assistance	Legal Program
Employee Stock Purchase Plan	Recognition Program through Spotlight
Paid Time Off	Phone and Internet Reimbursement
Parental Leave	Donation with Matching & Volunteering Program

Pet Insurance

Government Regulation and Compliance

Insurance and Healthcare Regulations. We currently distribute health insurance plans nationwide. The health insurance industry is heavily regulated. Each of these jurisdictions has its own rules and regulations relating to the offer and sale of health insurance plans, typically administered by a department of insurance. State insurance departments have administrative powers relating to, among other things: regulating premium prices; granting and revoking licenses to transact insurance business; approving individuals and entities to which, and circumstances under which, commissions can be paid; regulating advertising, marketing and trade practices; monitoring broker and agent conduct; and imposing continuing education requirements. We are required to maintain valid life and/or health agency and/or agent licenses in each jurisdiction in which we transact health insurance business.

In addition to state regulations, we also are subject to federal laws, regulations and guidelines issued by CMS that place a number of requirements on health insurance carriers and agents and brokers in connection with the marketing and sale of Medicare Advantage and Medicare Part D prescription drug plans. We are subject to similar requirements of state insurance departments with respect to our marketing and sale of Medicare Supplement plans. Medicare plans are not generally able to be purchased outside of an annual enrollment period that occurs in the fourth quarter of the year, subject to exception for individuals aging into Medicare eligibility and for individuals who qualify for a special enrollment period as a result of certain qualifying events. In addition, Medicare Advantage plan enrollees may enroll in another Medicare Advantage plan or disenroll from their Medicare Advantage plan and return to the Original Medicare program only during the Medicare Advantage open enrollment period that generally occurs in the first quarter of the year.

CMS and state insurance department regulations and guidelines include a number of prohibitions regarding the ability to contact Medicare-eligible individuals and place many restrictions on the marketing of Medicare-related plans. For example, we or our health insurance carrier partners are required to file certain of our websites, our advisor enrollment center scripts and other marketing materials we use to market Medicare-related plans with CMS and state departments of insurance. Regulations may also require publication or additional notices and disclaimers. In some instances, CMS or state departments of insurance must approve the material before we use it. In addition, the laws and regulations applicable to the marketing and sale of Medicare-related plans are ambiguous, complex and, particularly with respect to regulations and guidance issued by CMS for Medicare Advantage and Medicare Part D prescription drug plans, change frequently. CMS frequently proposes and implements new regulations, or amends or clarifies existing regulations, in ways that may make operating our business more difficult. For example, in recent years, CMS has expanded the set of materials requiring filing or approval and added required disclaimers to certain types of marketing and communications. Most recently, CMS has proposed new rules to limit compensation to brokers and agents like us for certain types of services in connection with Medicare Advantage and Medicare Part D prescription drug programs.

Affordable Care Act. The Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, as amended by the Health Care and Education Reconciliation Act which became law in March 2010 (as amended, collectively, the "Affordable Care Act"), has heavily impacted our business of selling individual, family and small business insurance plans. The Affordable Care Act and related federal regulations have been subject to periodic updates, including changes in available subsidies and arrangements (such as ICHRA, for example) and continue to evolve through the promulgation of executive orders, legislation, regulations and guidance at the federal or state level. We expect that the Affordable

Care Act, including changes thereto, will continue to significantly impact our business, operating results and financial condition.

Data Privacy and Security Regulations. We are subject to various federal and state privacy and security laws, regulations and requirements. These laws govern our collection, use, disclosure, protection and maintenance of the individually identifiable information that we collect from consumers. For example, we are subject to the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act ("HIPAA"). HIPAA and regulations adopted pursuant to HIPAA require us to maintain the privacy of individually identifiable health information that we collect on behalf of health insurance carriers, implement measures to safeguard that information and provide notification if there is a breach in the privacy or confidentiality of that information. In addition to our obligations we may have under contracts with health insurance carriers and others regarding the collection, maintenance, protection, use, transmission, disclosure or disposal of sensitive personal information, the use and disclosure of certain data that we collect from consumers is also regulated in some instances by other federal laws, including the Gramm-Leach-Biley Act ("GLBA") and state statutes implementing GLBA. GLBA generally requires brokers to provide consumers with notice regarding how their non-public personal health and financial information is used and the opportunity to "opt out" of certain disclosures before sharing that information with a third party. GLBA also generally requires safeguards for the protection of personal information. We regularly assess our compliance with privacy and security requirements. These requirements are evolving, and many states continue to adopt additional state-specific requirements that vary in their scope and application to our business. State privacy laws currently, or may in the future, establish, among other things, new privacy rights for residents of the relevant state, such as the right to know what personal information has been collected about them, how we use and disclose this information, and the right to request deletion of that information. In addition to government action, health insurance carrier expectations relating to privacy and security protections are increasing and evolving. We have incurred significant costs to develop new processes and procedures and to adopt new technology in an effort to comply with privacy and security laws and regulations and carrier expectations and to protect against cyber security risks and security breaches. We expect to continue to do so in the future. Violations of federal and state privacy and security laws and other contractual requirements may result in significant liability and expense, damage to our reputation or termination of relationships with government-run health insurance exchanges and our members, marketing partners and health insurance carriers.

Marketing Regulations. Our marketing practices are subject to federal and state law, such as the Telephone Consumer Protection Act (the "TCPA") and the CAN-SPAM Act, intended to protect consumers from unwanted telemarketing calls and messages. The TCPA prohibits us from using an automatic telephone dialing system or prerecorded or artificial voices to make certain telephone calls to consumers without their prior express written consent and provides for statutory damages of \$500 for each violation and \$1,500 for each willful violation. We may be required to comply with these and similar laws, rules and regulations. A Federal Communications Commission ("FCC") regulation scheduled to become effective in April 2025 would, among other things, codify do-not-call rules for texting and make revocation of TCPA consent easier. Failure to comply with obligations and restrictions related to telephone, text message and email marketing could subject us to lawsuits, fines, statutory damages, consent decrees, injunctions, adverse publicity and other losses that could harm our business.

Sustainability

We published our most recent annual sustainability report in December of 2024. Information about our Environment, Sustainability and Governance ("ESG") efforts is available on our website (www.ehealth.com) under "Governance - ESG" which provides information on our public commitments, policies, social and environmental programs, sustainability, strategy and ESG data. The information contained in, or referred to, on our website is not deemed to be incorporated into this Annual Report on Form 10-K unless otherwise expressly noted.

Corporate Information

We were incorporated in Delaware in November 1997. Our principal executive offices are located at 13620 Ranch Road 620 N, Suite A250. Austin. TX 78717, and our telephone number is (737) 248-2340.

Available Information

We make available free of charge on the Investor Relations page of our website (*ir.ehealthinsurance.com*) our annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, proxy statements, and amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as soon as reasonably practicable after we file such material with, or furnish it to, the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC"). The SEC also maintains an Internet website (*www.sec.gov*) that contains reports, proxy and information statements, and other information regarding issuers that file electronically with the SEC. Our corporate governance guidelines, code of business conduct, audit committee charter, compensation committee charter, and nominating and corporate governance committee charter are available on the governance page of our website at *ir.ehealthinsurance.com*. The information that can be accessed on or through our websites is not part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

In addition to other information in this Annual Report on Form 10-K and in other filings we make with the Securities and Exchange Commission, the following risk factors should be carefully considered in evaluating our business as they may have a significant impact on our business, operating results and financial condition. If any of the following risks actually occurs, our business, operating results, and financial condition could be materially and adversely affected. Because of the following factors, as well as other variables affecting our operating results, past financial performance should not be considered as a reliable indicator of future performance and investors should not use historical trends to anticipate results or trends in future periods. Our Risk Factors are not guarantees that no such conditions exist as of the date of this report and should not be interpreted as an affirmative statement that such risks or conditions have not materialized, in whole or in part.

Risks Related to Our Business

The markets in which we participate are intensely competitive. If we cannot compete effectively against current and future competitors, including government-run health insurance exchanges, our business, operating results and financial condition could suffer.

The market for selling health insurance plans is characterized by intense competition, and we face challenges associated with evolving distribution models, industry and regulatory standards, consumer price sensitivity and macro-economic conditions. To remain competitive against our current and future competitors, we need to continue to enhance the online and mobile health insurance shopping experience and functionalities of our website and advisor enrollment operations that our current and future consumers may use to purchase health insurance products from us. We also need to work with the health insurance carriers to be able to offer a variety of quality health insurance plans on our platform from which our consumers may choose. We will also need to market our services effectively and drive a substantial number of consumers interested in purchasing health insurance to our website and advisor enrollment centers during the relevant enrollment periods in a cost-effective manner.

We compete with government-run health insurance exchanges, among others, with respect to our sale of Medicare-related and employer and individual health insurance plans. The federal government operates a website where Medicare beneficiaries can purchase Medicare Advantage and Medicare Part D prescription drug plans or be referred to carriers to purchase Medicare Supplement plans. We also compete with the Original Medicare program. The federal government also operates websites where individuals and small businesses can purchase health insurance, and they also have offline customer support and enrollment capabilities. Our competitors also include local insurance agents across the United States who sell health insurance plans in their communities, companies that advertise primarily through television, and companies that operate call centers or websites that provide quote information or the opportunity to purchase health insurance telephonically or online, including lead aggregator services. Although we work with many health insurance carriers on marketing and selling their insurance plans on their behalf, many of them also compete with us by directly marketing and selling their plans to consumers through call centers, Internet advertising and their own websites. In recent years, we have also seen increased competition from national telesales insurance brokers.

Some of our current and potential competitors have longer operating histories, larger customer bases, greater brand recognition and significantly greater financial, technical, marketing and other resources than we do. As compared to us, our current and future competitors may be able to undertake more extensive marketing campaigns for their brands and services, devote more resources to website and systems development, negotiate more favorable commission rates and commission override payments and make more attractive offers to potential employees, marketing partners and third-party service providers. Competitive pressures from government-run health insurance exchanges and other competitors may result in our experiencing increased marketing costs, especially during the Medicare annual enrollment period which may harm our business, operating results and financial condition.

Our business may be harmed if we lose our relationship with health insurance carriers or our relationships with health insurance carriers are modified.

The success of our business depends upon our ability to enter into new and maintain existing relationships with health insurance carriers on favorable economic terms. Any impairment of our relationship with, or the material financial impairment of, these health insurance carriers or our inability to enter into new relationships with other health insurance carriers could adversely affect our business, operating results and financial condition.

Our contractual relationships with health insurance carriers are typically non-exclusive and terminable on short notice by either party for any reason. In many cases, health insurance carriers may also amend the terms of our agreements unilaterally, including commission rates, on short notice. Health insurance carriers may decide to reduce our commissions, rely on their own internal distribution channels to sell their own plans, determine not to sell their plans or otherwise limit or prohibit us from selling their plans. Carriers may also amend our agreements with them for a variety of reasons, including for competitive or regulatory reasons, dissatisfaction with the economics of the members that we place with them or because they do not want to be associated with our brand. In particular, the laws and regulations applicable to the business of selling Medicare-related plans are complex and frequently change. If we or our benefit advisors violate any of the requirements imposed by the U.S. Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services ("CMS"), or applicable federal or state laws or regulations, health insurance carriers may terminate their relationship with us or require us to take corrective action if our Medicare product sales or marketing give rise to too many complaints.

The termination of our relationship with a health insurance carrier, the reduction of commission rates, or the amendment of or change in our relationship with a carrier has in the past reduced, and may in the future reduce, the variety, quality and affordability of health insurance plans we offer, cause a loss of commissions, including commissions for past and/or future sales, cause a reduction in the estimated constrained LTVs we use for revenue recognition purposes, result in a loss of existing and potential members, adversely impact our profitability or have other adverse impacts. Any of these could harm our business, operating results and financial condition. Health insurance carriers may also determine to exit certain states or markets, change benefit offerings, or increase premiums to a significant degree, which could cause our members' health insurance plans to be terminated or our members to purchase new health insurance plans or determine not to pay for health insurance at all. If we lose these members, our business, operating results and financial condition could be harmed.

We derive a significant portion of our revenue from a small number of health insurance carriers. Any impairment of our relationships with them or impairment of their businesses could adversely affect our business, operating results and financial condition.

Our revenue has been concentrated in a small number of health insurance carriers and we expect that a small number of health insurance carriers will continue to account for a significant portion of our revenue for the foreseeable future. For example, Humana, UnitedHealthcare and Aetna accounted for 24%, 22% and 18%, respectively, of our total revenue for the year ended December 31, 2024, and accounted for 27%, 23% and 15%, respectively, of our total revenue for the year ended December 31, 2023. As discussed elsewhere in this Risk Factors section, our contractual relationships with health insurance carriers are typically non-exclusive and terminable on short notice by either party for any reason. In particular, given the concentration of our Medicare plan sales in a small number of carriers, if we lose a relationship with a health insurance carrier to market their Medicare plans, even temporarily, or if the health insurance carrier loses its Medicare product membership or their ability to conduct business is otherwise impaired, our business, operating results and financial condition could be harmed.

If we are unable to successfully attract and convert qualified prospects into members for whom we receive commissions, our business, operating results and financial condition would be harmed.

We derive our revenues primarily from commissions paid to us by health insurance carriers for Medicare-related health insurance and individual and family health insurance plans that have been purchased by members through our services. Our business success depends in large part on our ability to attract qualified prospects into our enrollment platform and provide a relevant and reliable experience in a cost-effective manner to convert such prospects into paying members for whom we receive commissions. We employ different marketing channels and may from time to time adjust our member acquisition strategy to attract visitors to our website and communicate with consumers who contact our advisor enrollment centers. If our ability to market and sell Medicare-related health

insurance and individual and family health insurance is constrained during the Medicare or individual and family health insurance enrollment periods for any reason, such as technology failures, interruptions in the operation of our ecommerce or telephony platforms, reduced allocation of resources, delayed, reduced, or ineffective delivery of our marketing efforts, or any inability to timely employ, license, train, certify and retain our benefit advisors to sell health insurance, we could acquire fewer members, suffer a reduction in our membership, and our business, operating results and financial condition could be harmed. Our business may also be adversely affected by changes in the mix of products and services that we offer on our platform, changes in the mix of consumers who are referred to us through our direct marketing, marketing partners and strategic partner marketing member acquisition channels, including the quality of sales leads, and by seasonal influences. In addition, adverse market events or economic conditions, such as changes in inflation or unemployment levels, or political events such as elections, could impact consumer behavior and demand for health insurance. If more consumers decide to delay enrollment or decrease or discontinue coverage under plans sold through us, our business, operating results and financial condition would be adversely affected.

We have taken and may take additional actions to improve the consumer experience, enhance accuracy of plan recommendations, reduce rapid disenrollment and beneficiary complaints, and improve the quality of our enrollments and conversion rates. Although we have in the past invested, and may from time to time invest, in various areas of our business, including technology and content, customer care and enrollment, and marketing and advertising to improve the quantity and quality of our membership enrollment in advance of enrollment periods, such investment may not result in a significantly improved number of approved and paying members or may not be as cost-effective as we anticipated.

Our business may be harmed if we do not enroll subsidy-eligible individuals through government-run health insurance exchanges efficiently.

In order to offer the qualified health plans that individuals and families must purchase to receive Affordable Care Act subsidies, we must meet certain conditions, such as receiving permission to do so from the applicable government health insurance exchange, entering into or maintaining an agreement with the health insurance exchange or a partner of the exchange, ensuring that the enrollment and subsidy application is completed through the health insurance exchange and complying with privacy, security and other standards. If Internet-based agents and brokers such as us use the Internet for completion of qualified health plan selection purposes, their websites may be required to meet certain additional requirements. To help manage additional expenses and regulatory burdens associated with enrolling individuals and families into qualified health plans, we rely on a third-party vendor to help comply with certain aspects of the relevant requirements, and our qualified plan enrollments are made predominantly through the Federally Facilitated Marketplace ("FFM"), which currently runs all or part of the health insurance exchange in most states.

We may experience difficulty in satisfying the conditions and requirements to offer qualified health plans to our existing members and new potential members and in getting them enrolled through the FFM or any similar state-based exchange. The FFM may at any time cease allowing us or our third-party vendor to enroll individuals in qualified health plans or change the requirements for doing so. Also, relevant government regulations or agencies may prevent us from efficiently working with our third-party vendor, including timely receiving and using data from our third-party vendor. In addition, we may be unsuccessful in maintaining a relationship with our third-party vendor that is approved to use the process, and we may not be able to enroll individuals into qualified health plans through the FFM or could be required to use an inferior process to do so. The number of states using the FFM may also decrease in the future, reducing our ability to enroll members through the FFM.

In addition, if we are not able to maintain solutions to integrate with government-run health insurance exchanges or if the health insurance exchange websites and other processes are unstable or not consumer friendly, efficient and compatible with the process we have adopted for enrolling individuals and families into qualified health plans through the exchanges, we would not be successful in retaining and acquiring members, and our business, operating results and financial condition would be harmed.

Similarly for states that use state-based exchanges instead of the FFM, we may not be able to establish or maintain stable, consumer friendly, efficient or compatible legal arrangements or technical processes to enroll members in qualified health plans through such state-based exchanges, either directly with the governmental

entities running such state-based exchanges or through appropriate third parties that allow us to access such state-based exchanges.

If we are not able to satisfy the conditions and requirements for offering qualified health plans and enrolling members through the FFM or similar state-based exchanges, or if we are not able to successfully adopt and maintain solutions in a timely, efficient and cost-effective manner to respond to changing circumstances to allow us to continue to effectively enroll large numbers of members through the FFM and state-based exchanges, we could lose existing members and fail to attract new members and may incur additional expense, which would harm our business, operating results and financial condition.

Our business, operating results and financial condition will be adversely impacted if we are unable to retain our existing members.

We receive commissions from health insurance carriers for health insurance plans sold through us. When one of these plans is canceled, or if we otherwise do not remain the agent on the plan, we no longer receive the related commission. Health insurance carriers may choose to discontinue their health insurance plans for a variety of reasons, and when members update their health insurance plan, they may also select a different plan that is not sold through us, or we are otherwise no longer the agent on the plan. Consumers may also purchase individual and family and Medicare-related health insurance plans directly from other sources, such as our competitors, and we would not remain the agent on the policy and receive the related commission.

Our ability to grow and retain our membership depends on various factors, including agent productivity and enrollment experience, the ability of carriers to offer plans that are attractive to members, the ability and propensity of enrollees to change their health plan both inside and outside of the Medicare annual enrollment period, and the source of referrals. If agent productivity, enrollment rates, and member retention rates decline, our business, operating results and financial condition could be harmed. Any decrease in the amount of time we retain our members on the health insurance plans that they purchased through us could adversely impact the estimated constrained LTVs we use for purposes of recognizing revenue, which would harm our business, operating results and financial condition. If we experience higher health insurance plan termination rates than we estimated when we recognized commission revenue, we may not collect all of the related commissions receivable, which could result in a reduction in LTV and a write-off of contract assets - commissions receivable, which would harm our business, operating results and financial condition.

Our marketing efforts may not be successful or may become more expensive, either of which could adversely affect our business, operating results and financial condition.

We spend significant resources on our marketing efforts, which may not be successful or may become more expensive, either of which could adversely affect our business, operating results and financial condition. Any decrease in the amount or effectiveness of our marketing efforts could lead to lower revenue or growth and profitability of this business.

We have recently refreshed our brand identity and expect to continue to invest in maintaining our brand identity. We believe our brand identity will strengthen our relationships with existing, and help attract, new members, marketing partners and health insurance carriers. Some of our current and potential competitors have greater brand recognition and significantly greater financial, technical, marketing and other resources than we do, and they may try to replicate our efforts, competitively bid against our branded search terms to redirect traffic seeking our brand, or undertake more extensive marketing campaigns for their brands and services. Our brand promotion activities may not be successful in maintaining or attracting new members, marketing partners or health insurance carriers, and as a result, may not yield increased revenue. To the extent that these activities yield increased revenue, the increased revenue may not offset the expenses we incur, which could harm our business, operating results and financial condition.

It is critical to the success of our business that we reach out to consumers in our target audience through direct channels, including direct mail, television, internet search, social media and email. We rely on media platforms that can effectively reach our target audience in a cost-efficient manner, and these media venue continue to be places where our consumer audience are active and receptive to our message. We anticipate that, as our market becomes increasingly competitive, these media platforms may become increasingly expensive. Our direct

channel marketing activities may not be successful or yield increased revenue, and to the extent that these activities yield increased revenue, the increased revenue may not offset the expenses we incur, and our business, operating results and financial condition could be harmed.

We depend upon Internet search engines and social media platforms to attract a significant portion of the consumers who visit our website. If we are unable to effectively advertise on search engines or social media platforms on a cost-effective basis, our business, operating results and financial condition could be harmed. We derive a significant portion of our website traffic from consumers who search for health insurance through Internet search engines, such as Google, and through social media platforms, such as Facebook. A critical factor in attracting consumers to our website is whether we are prominently displayed in response to an Internet search relating to health insurance or on a social media platform. Search engines typically provide two types of search results: algorithmic listings and paid advertisements. We rely on both to attract consumers to our websites and otherwise generate demand for our services. If we are listed less prominently in, or removed altogether from, search result listings or if Internet search engines become unavailable, the traffic to our websites would decline and we may not be able to replace this traffic, which would harm our business, operating results and financial condition. The use of alternative marketing channels could cause us to increase our marketing expenditures, which would also increase our cost of member acquisition and harm our business, operating results and financial condition.

We depend on our marketing partners for referring potential consumers to our ecommerce platform and advisor enrollment centers. The success of our relationship with a marketing partner is dependent on a number of factors, including but not limited to the continued positive market presence, reputation and growth of the marketing partner, the effectiveness of the marketing partner in marketing our website and services, the compliance of each marketing partner with applicable laws, regulations and guidelines, the contractual terms we negotiate with our marketing partners, including the marketing fees we agree to pay, and our ability to accurately and timely track, pay and manage marketing partners. These marketing partners include financial and online services companies, affiliate organizations, online advertisers and content providers, and other marketing vendors. We also have relationships with strategic marketing partners, including hospitals and pharmacy chains that promote our Medicare platforms to their customers as well as other provider groups, wellness, and other digital and affinity groups. We compensate many of our marketing partners for their referrals on either a submitted health insurance application basis or a per-referral basis or, if they are licensed to sell health insurance, we may share a percentage of the commission we earn from the health insurance carrier for each member referred by the marketing partners. We also have relationships with marketing partners that utilize aspects of our platform and tools. Given our reliance on our marketing partners, our business, operating results and financial condition would be harmed if we are unable to maintain successful relationships with high volume marketing partners as a result of increased competition for referrals or less commercially favorable terms.

As discussed elsewhere in this Risk Factors section, the marketing and sale of Medicare plans are subject to numerous laws, regulations and guidelines at the federal and state level. Recent changes to the CMS marketing guidelines have resulted in a more complicated and time-consuming process for marketing material filing and the need to file a significantly greater number of our and our marketing partners' marketing materials with CMS. If our marketing partners' marketing materials do not comply with the CMS marketing guidelines or other Medicare program related laws, rules and regulations, such non-compliance could result in our losing the ability to receive referrals of individuals interested in purchasing Medicare-related plans from that marketing material or being delayed in doing so. If CMS or a health insurance carrier requires changes to, disapproves or delays approval of these materials, we could lose a significant source of Medicare plan demand, and the operations of our Medicare business could be adversely affected. If we lose marketing partner referrals during the Medicare or individual and family health insurance enrollment periods, the adverse impact on our business would be significant.

If our carrier advertising and sponsorship program is not successful, our business, operating results and financial condition could be harmed.

We develop, host and maintain carrier-dedicated Medicare plan websites and may undertake other marketing and advertising initiatives or perform other services through our Medicare plan advertising program. We also allow health insurance carriers to purchase advertising space for non-Medicare products on our website through our sponsorship program. The success of our sponsorship and advertising program depends on a number of factors, including the amount that health insurance carriers are willing to pay for advertising services, the effectiveness of the sponsorship and advertising program as a cost-effective method for carriers to obtain additional

members, consumer demand for the health insurance carrier's product, our ability to attract consumers to our ecommerce platform or our advisor enrollment centers and convert those consumers into members, and the cost, benefit and brand recognition of the health insurance plan that is the subject of the advertising, among others. To the extent that economic conditions, health care reform or other factors impact the amount health insurance carriers are willing to pay for advertising, our advertising and sponsorship program will be adversely impacted. In addition, increased carrier focus on the quality of enrollments and reduction in member complaints could adversely impact our ability to successfully negotiate and operate our sponsorship and advertising programs. Moreover, in light of the regulations applicable to the marketing and sale of Medicare plans, and given that these regulations are often complex, change frequently and are subject to changing interpretations or enforcement actions, we may in the future not be permitted to sell Medicare plan-related advertising services. If we are not successful in these areas or these factors are unfavorable to us, our business, operating results and financial condition could be harmed. In addition, since we maintain relationships with a limited number of health insurance carriers to sell their Medicare plans, our Medicare plan-related advertising revenue would be harmed by the termination or non-renewal of any of these relationships as well as by a reduction in the amount a health insurance carrier is willing to pay for these services.

Our operations in China involve many risks that could increase expenses, expose us to increased liability and adversely affect our business, operating results and financial condition.

Our subsidiary in China conducts a portion of our operations, including the maintenance and update of our ecommerce platform and performance of specific tasks within our finance, customer care and enrollment functions. We rely on third-party vendors to communicate with our subsidiary in China. Our business would be harmed if our ability to communicate via these vendors with these employees failed, and we were prevented from promptly updating our software or implementing other changes to our database and systems, among other things. From time to time, we receive inquiries from health insurance carriers relating to our operations in China and the security measures we have implemented to protect data that our employees in China may be able to access. As a part of these inquiries, we have implemented additional security measures relating to our operations in China. Still, we may be required to implement further security measures to continue aspects of our operations in China. We may also be required to bring aspects of our operations in China back to the United States, which could be time-consuming and expensive and harm our operations, which would harm our business, operating results and financial condition.

Our operations in China also expose us to different laws, rules and regulations, including different intellectual property laws, which are not as protective of our intellectual property as the laws in the United States. United States and Chinese trade laws may also impose restrictions on the importation of programming or technology to or from the United States. We are also subject to certain laws, rules and regulations in China and the United States, including those related to anti-bribery and anti-corruption, privacy, data transfer, data security, labor, tax, foreign exchange controls and cash repatriation. In recent years, both China the United States have adopted and proposed laws regulating these areas. Such laws, regulations and standards are complex, ambiguous and subject to change or interpretation, which create uncertainty regarding compliance and enforcement. Compliance with these laws and regulations could cause us to incur substantial costs or require us to change our business operations in China. Violation of applicable laws and regulations could adversely affect our brand, affect our relationship with our health insurance carriers, and could result in regulatory enforcement actions and the imposition of civil or criminal penalties and fines, any of which could harm our business, operating results and financial condition.

Our business may be adversely impacted by changes in China's economic or political condition, the relationship between China and the United States or other countries, and our ability to continue to conduct our current operations in China. Any such changes may be caused by geopolitical issues, natural disasters, war or other events or circumstances. For example, President Trump has indicated that his administration would potentially impose greater restrictions on trade with China through significant increases in tariffs on goods imported into the United States. Any deterioration in U.S.-China relations could increase tensions and create greater uncertainty in our business dealings in China and with Chinese companies and could require us to bring aspects of our operations in China back to the United States, which could be time-consuming, expensive and disruptive.

These risks could cause us to incur increased expenses and could harm our ability to manage our operations effectively and successfully in China. Moreover, any significant or prolonged deterioration in the relationship between the United States and China could adversely affect our operations in China. Certain risks and uncertainties of doing business in China are solely within the control of the Chinese government, and Chinese law regulates the scope of our foreign investments and business conducted within China. The escalation of international tensions has increased the risk associated with our operations in China. Either the U.S. or the Chinese government may limit or sever our ability to communicate with our China operations or may take actions that force us to close our operations in China. We employ many of our technology and content employees in China, and we have other employees in China that support our business. Any disruption of our operations in China would adversely impact our business. If we are required to move aspects of our operations out of China because of political or geopolitical issues, changes in laws, inquiries from health insurance carriers or for other reasons, we could incur increased expenses, and our business, operating results and financial condition could be harmed.

Our business is seasonal in nature, and if we are not successful in responding to changes in the seasonality of our business, our business, operating results and financial condition could be harmed.

Due to the timing of Medicare and individual and family health plan annual enrollment periods, which may be subject to change from time to time, our financial results fluctuate and are not comparable from quarter to quarter. The Medicare annual enrollment period occurs from October 15 to December 7 each year, the individual and family health insurance open enrollment period typically occurs from November 1 through December or January 15 each year for most states, and the Medicare Advantage open enrollment period, during which Medicare-eligible individuals enrolled in a Medicare Advantage plan can switch to the Original Medicare program or switch to a different Medicare Advantage plan, runs from January 1 through March 31 of each year. As a result, we have traditionally experienced an increase in the number of submitted Medicare-related applications and approved members during the fourth quarter and, to a lesser extent, in the first quarter, and an increase in Medicare plan-related expense, including marketing and advertising expenses, during the third and fourth quarters in connection with the open enrollment periods. However, because commissions from approved consumers are paid to us over time, our operating results, and in particular, our operating cash flows, could be adversely impacted by a substantial increase in marketing and advertising expense.

Changes in timing of the Medicare or individual and family health plan enrollment periods, adoption of new or special enrollment periods, changes in eligibility and subsidies applicable to the purchase of health insurance, and changes in the laws and regulations that govern the sale of health insurance may occur from time to time, and we may not be able to timely adjust to changes in the seasonality of our business, which could harm our business, operating results and financial condition.

Changes in our senior management or other key employees could affect our business, operating results and financial condition.

Our success is dependent upon the performance of our senior management and other key employees, as well as our ability to attract and retain qualified personnel for all areas of our organization. We may not be successful in attracting and retaining personnel on a timely basis, on competitive terms or at all. Our executive officers and other employees can terminate their employment at any time, and the loss of these individuals could harm our business, especially if we are not successful in developing adequate succession plans. In recent years, we have appointed several new executive officers and other senior leaders across multiple functions, and we may experience additional changes in the future. For example, in 2024, we appointed a new chief revenue officer and a new chief financial officer. In addition, in August 2024, our Chief Executive Officer notified the Company of his decision to retire from his position as the Company's chief executive officer upon appointment of a successor, which is expected to occur by or before the end of the second quarter of 2025. The transition and the departure of members of our senior management or other key employees could result in additional attrition. Any significant change in leadership could harm our business, operating results and financial condition.

We also depend on a relatively small number of employees for certain key roles, and the loss of such key employees could harm our business. For example, we are required to appoint a single designated writing agent with each insurance carrier. A small number of our employees act as writing agents and each employee that acts as a writing agent does so for a number of carriers. When an employee who acts as a writing agent terminates their employment with us, we need to replace the writing agent with another employee who has health insurance

licenses. Due to our national reach and the large number of carriers whose plans are purchased by our members, the process of changing writing agents has in the past taken, and could take in the future, a significant period of time to complete. If the transition is not successful, our ability to sell health insurance plans may be interrupted, our agency relationship with particular insurance carriers may be terminated, our commission payments could be discontinued or delayed and, as a result, our business, operating results and financial condition could be harmed.

Our business success depends on our ability to timely recruit, train and retain qualified licensed insurance agents, or benefit advisors, and other personnel to provide superior customer service and support our strategic initiatives while also controlling our labor costs.

Our omnichannel consumer engagement platform enables consumers to discover, compare and purchase a health insurance plan using our proprietary online search engine as well as receive assistance of a licensed insurance agent, or benefit advisor, by telephone, online chat or through a hybrid online assisted interaction such as co-browsing. Our advisor enrollment center operations are critical to our success and dependent on our ability to recruit, train and effectively manage our licensed benefit advisors and other personnel who support the operation of our advisor enrollment centers. To sell Medicare-related health insurance products, our benefit advisors must be licensed by the states in which they are selling plans and certified and appointed with the health insurance carrier that offers the plans in each applicable state. We depend upon our staff, state departments of insurance, government exchanges and health insurance carriers for the licensing, certification and appointment of our benefit advisors. We may experience difficulties recruiting and retaining a sufficient number of benefit advisors and support staff during the year and especially for the Medicare annual enrollment period.

Even if we are successful in recruiting licensed benefit advisors and support staff, failure to retain, train and ensure the productivity of our benefit advisors and other individuals that operate our advisor enrollment centers could result in lower-than-expected sold plans, conversion rates and revenue, higher costs of acquisition per member and higher plan termination rates, any of which could harm our business, operating results and financial condition. If our benefit advisors do not perform to the standards we expect of them or if we do not generate sufficient call volumes for our benefit advisors to remain productive, our sold plan volume, conversion and retention rates could be negatively impacted, and our business, operating results and financial condition would be harmed. If investments we make in our advisor enrollment center operations do not result in the returns we expected when making those investments, we could acquire fewer members, suffer a reduction in our membership, and our business, operating results and financial condition could be harmed.

Given that our business is seasonal in nature, if we are not successful in recruiting, training and retaining qualified benefit advisors and other workers, our benefit advisors or other workers do not perform to high standards or our investments in our advisor enrollment center operations do not result in expected returns, among other factors discussed in this risk factor, our ability to sell Medicare-related health insurance plans will be impaired during the Medicare annual enrollment period, which would harm our business, operating results and financial condition.

Our business could be harmed if we are not successful in executing on our operational and strategic plans.

Our future performance depends in large part upon our ability to execute our operational and strategic plans. Our success depends in large part on our ability to diversify our revenue and scale our business. We have in the past made, and may in the future, make, significant investments in marketing and advertising, technology and content, customer care and enrollment. Our growth strategy also involves continued investment to expand our brand awareness across all products and channels and investment in improving our member retention efforts and conversion rates while continuing to invest in our telesales organization. We may also enter into strategic transactions or partnerships aligned with our business and growth objectives.

Pursuing and investing in these initiatives may increase our expenses and our organizational complexity, divert management's attention from other business concerns and also involve risks and uncertainties described elsewhere in this Risk Factors section, including the failure of our initiatives to achieve our revenue diversification, member retention, growth or profitability targets, inadequate conversion and telesales organization improvements, failure to evolve our brand, our inability to strengthen and expand our health insurance carrier partnerships, our inadequate return of capital on our investments, legal and regulatory compliance risks, potential changes in laws and regulations and other issues that could cause us to fail to realize the anticipated benefits of our investments and

incur unanticipated liabilities. If we are not successful in executing on our operational and strategic plans or if we do not realize the expected benefits of our investments, our business, operating results and financial condition would be harmed.

In addition, we implemented a number of transformation initiatives and programs throughout 2022 and 2023 aimed at increasing the effectiveness of our sales and marketing organizations and rationalizing our cost structure and we may initiate more such plans from time to time in the future. While these initiatives are intended to improve our operations, we may not successfully realize the expected benefits of any such restructuring plans or initiatives that we may undertake, due to a number of factors, including, among others, higher than anticipated costs in implementing such restructuring plans, management distraction from ongoing business activities, damage to our reputation and brand image, including negative publicity, workforce attrition beyond planned reductions and risks and uncertainties described elsewhere in this Risk Factors section. Even if we do implement and administer these plans and initiatives in the manner contemplated, our estimated cost savings resulting from them are based on several assumptions that may prove to be inaccurate and, as a result, we cannot assure you that we will realize these cost savings.

Our self-insurance programs may expose us to significant and unexpected costs and losses.

To help control our overall long-term costs associated with employee health benefits, we began maintaining a substantial portion of our U.S. employee health insurance benefits on a self-insured basis effective January 1, 2023. To limit our exposure, we have third-party stop-loss insurance coverage which sets a limit on our liability for both individual and aggregate claim costs. We record a liability for our estimated cost of U.S. claims incurred but unpaid as of each balance sheet date. Our estimated liability is based on assumptions we believe to be reasonable under the current circumstances and will be adjusted as warranted based on changing circumstances. It is possible, however, that our actual liabilities may exceed our estimates of losses. We may also experience an unexpectedly large number of claims that result in costs or liabilities in excess of our projections, which could cause us to record additional expenses. Our self-insurance reserves could prove to be inadequate, resulting in liabilities in excess of our available insurance and self-insurance. If a successful claim is made against us and is not covered by our insurance or exceeds our policy limits, our business may be negatively and materially impacted. These fluctuations could have a material adverse effect on our business, operating results and financial condition.

Risks Related to Laws and Regulations

Changes and developments in the health insurance industry or system, including changes in laws and regulations, could harm our business, operating results and financial condition.

The success of our business depends upon the private sector of the U.S. health insurance system, including the Medicare program, which is subject to a changing regulatory environment at both the federal and state level. Changes and developments in the health insurance system and Medicare program in the United States could reduce demand for our services and harm our business. Ongoing health care reform efforts and measures may expand the role of government-sponsored coverage, including proposals for single payer or so called "Medicare-for-All" or other proposals that may have the effect of reducing or eliminating the market for our current range of health insurance products. This could have far-reaching implications for the health insurance industry if enacted. Some proposals would seek to eliminate the private marketplace while others would expand a government-sponsored option to a larger population or otherwise increase government oversight or competition in the sector or reduce the fees or commissions payable to brokers under the Medicare program. Alternatively, other proposals may increase the role of the private sector in health care but be implemented in ways that reduce eHealth's role in helping consumers select and enroll in insurance plans. We are unable to predict the full impact of health care reform initiatives or other regulatory changes on our operations in light of the uncertainty of whether initiatives will be successful and the uncertainty regarding the terms and timing of any provisions enacted and the impact of any of those provisions on various healthcare and insurance industry participants. In the event that laws, regulations or rules that eliminate or reduce private sources of health insurance or Medicare are adopted, or otherwise act to

reduce eHealth's role in connecting consumers with insurance plans, the demand for our products could be adversely impacted, and our business, operating results and financial condition would be harmed.

In recent years, the Medicare sector underwent a number of changes, including a gradual shift towards market consolidation and rationalization, with greater focuses on enrollment quality, profitability and longer-term member relationships. These changes were prompted in part by regulatory changes, higher cost of care and other industry developments such as STAR's methodology changes. For example, certain new CMS rules that were scheduled to become effective October 2024 ("CY 2025 Final Rules") were set to reduce agent and broker payment amounts and regulate contractual terms with Medicare Advantage and Medicare Part D prescription drug plans and dual eligible special needs plans enrollments. Lower-than-expected 2025 reimbursement rates from CMS have also put additional financial pressures on carriers, resulting in substantial changes to benefit packages, premiums, geographic coverage and other plan strategies. While CMS partially reversed the CY 2025 Final Rules in response to preliminary injunction orders in third-party lawsuits, the pending litigation challenging the CY 2025 Final Rules remains ongoing, and therefore significant uncertainty remains as to how the CY 2025 Final Rules may impact our operations and our business. During 2025 AEP, we were able to successfully mitigate these risks but we may not be able to do so in a cost-effective manner in the future.

We expect the Medicare market to remain fluid for the foreseeable future. The election of President Trump and Republican control of both houses of Congress may result in significant changes in, and have resulted in uncertainty with respect to, legislation, regulation, implementation and/or repeal of laws and rules related to government health programs, including Medicare, Medicaid and Affordable Care Act. For example, President Trump has issued various executive orders reversing several Biden administration healthcare policies, and additional executive orders may be forthcoming. Members of the U.S. House of Representatives have also began considering a series of legislative proposals targeting Medicaid, Medicare and other entitlement programs, and we expect there will be continued proposals targeting reimbursement methodologies and the number of individuals eligible for government healthcare programs. In addition, the staff of the Department of Government Efficiency (the "DOGE") have been provided access to key payment and contracting systems at CMS in connection with DOGE's efforts to identify opportunities for improving efficiency and identifying fraud and ineffective use of government resources. While we cannot predict the actions of the DOGE, there is a possibility that changes will be made to CMS spending, which could ultimately affect our financial condition and results of operation.

The marketing and sale of health insurance plans, including Medicare plans, are subject to numerous, complex and frequently changing laws, regulations and guidelines. Non-compliance with or changes in laws, regulations and guidelines, or changes in their interpretation or the manner in which they are enforced could harm our business, operating results and financial condition.

The U.S. healthcare industry is highly regulated and subject to numerous, complex, and frequently changing laws, regulations and guidelines at the federal and state level. Compliance with these evolving laws and regulations may involve significant costs, cause significant delays in our ability to go to market with new marketing and product initiatives and strategies or require us to change our business practices, which could have an adverse impact on our business, operating results and financial condition. Non-compliance could also harm our business, operating results and financial condition. It also may result in fines, damages, prohibitions on the conduct of our business, and damage to our reputation. In particular, the marketing and sale of Medicare Advantage and Medicare Part D prescription drug plans are principally regulated by CMS but are also subject to state laws. The marketing and sale of Medicare Supplement plans are principally regulated on a state-by-state basis by state departments of insurance. The laws and regulations applicable to the marketing and sale of Medicare Part D prescription drug plans. We have altered, and likely will have to continue to alter, our marketing and sales process to comply with these laws, regulations and guidelines.

Health insurance carriers whose Medicare plans we sell approve our websites, our advisor enrollment center call scripts and a large portion of our marketing materials. We must receive these approvals in order to market and sell Medicare plans to Medicare-eligible individuals as an insurance agent. We are also required to file many of these materials on a regular basis with CMS. In addition, certain aspects of our Medicare plan marketing partner relationships have been in the past, and will be in the future, subjected to CMS and health insurance carrier review. CMS, state departments of insurance or health insurance carriers may decide to object to or not to approve aspects of our online platforms, sales function or marketing materials and processes and may determine that certain

existing aspects of our Medicare-related business are not in compliance with legal requirements. CMS scrutinizes health insurance carriers whose Medicare plans we sell, and those health insurance carriers may be held responsible for actions that we, our agents and our partners take, including our marketing materials and actions that lead to complaints or disenrollment. Health insurance carriers are increasingly evaluating broker performance based on the quality of their enrollments, including complaints, retention rates, consumer satisfaction and volumes. As a result, health insurance carriers may terminate their relationships with us, or they may require us to take other corrective action if our Medicare product sales, marketing and operations are not in compliance or give rise to too many complaints. The termination of or change in our relationships with health insurance carriers could reduce the products we are able to offer, could result in the loss of commissions for past and future sales and could otherwise harm our business, operating results and financial condition. Changes to the laws, regulations and guidelines relating to the sale of health insurance plans and related products and services, their interpretation or the manner in which they are enforced could impact the manner in which we conduct our business, our ecommerce platforms or our sale of Medicare plans and other products, or we could be prevented from operating certain aspects of our revenue-generating activities altogether, which would harm our business, operating results and financial condition. We have received, and may in the future receive, inquiries from CMS or state departments of insurance regarding our marketing and business practices and compliance with laws and regulations. Inquiries from CMS or state departments of insurance regarding our marketing and business practices, result in litigation and otherwise harm our business, operating results and financial condition.

Each year, CMS releases new rules relating to Medicare plans, which can have a material effect on our operations, our business, operating results and financial condition. For example, CMS has proposed new rules scheduled to become effective in late 2025 ("CY 2026 Proposed Rules") which, among other things, would increase the scope and complexity for required reviews and filing of marketing and communications, and require brokers and agents to make additional statements or disclosures on calls that will increase the time required to assist beneficiaries and may limit the ability of eHealth to timely assist all beneficiaries. These additional requirements may impact the viability of partnerships that we use for marketing efforts, may increase the chance of related litigation, and could impede or otherwise harm our business, operating results and financial condition.

In addition, each state regulates its insurance market, including by regulating the ability of insurance companies to set premiums and prohibiting brokers and agents such as eHealth from competing in certain ways, such as offering price reductions and rebates or marketing in certain ways. The laws and regulations governing the offer, sale and purchase of health insurance are complex and subject to change, and future changes may be adverse to our business. For example, a long-standing provision in most applicable state laws that we believe is advantageous to our business is that once health insurance premiums are set by the carrier and approved by state regulators, they are fixed and not generally subject to negotiation or discounting by insurance companies or agents. Additionally, state regulations generally prohibit carriers, agents and brokers from providing financial incentives, such as rebates, to their members in connection with the sale of health insurance. As a result, we do not currently compete with carriers or other agents and brokers on the price of the health insurance plans offered on our website. Changes in, or enforcement of, or compliance with, these regulations could impact consumers' demand for our services or cause health insurance carriers to lower our commission rates, which could reduce our revenue. Our business, operating results and financial condition may be materially and adversely affected if we are unable to adapt to regulatory changes.

From time to time, we are subject to various legal proceedings, which could adversely affect our business, operating results and financial condition.

We are, and may in the future become, involved in various legal proceedings and governmental inquiries, including labor and employment-related claims, claims relating to our marketing or sale of health insurance, intellectual property claims and claims relating to our compliance with securities laws. For example, in January 2022, we received a subpoena from the U.S. Attorney's Office for the District of Massachusetts, seeking, among other things, information regarding our arrangements with insurance carriers, and we may receive similar inquiries in the future. Such inquiries and any other claims asserted against us, with or without merit, may be time-consuming, may be expensive to address and may divert management's attention and other resources. These claims also could subject us to significant liability for damages, jeopardize our licenses to operate and harm our reputation. Our insurance and indemnities may not cover all claims that may be asserted against us. If we are unsuccessful in our defense in these legal proceedings, we may be forced to pay damages or fines, enter into

consent decrees, stop offering our services or change our business practices, any of which would harm our business, operating results and financial condition.

We may be unable to operate our business if we fail to maintain our health insurance licenses and otherwise comply with the numerous laws and regulations applicable to the sale of health insurance.

We are required to maintain a valid license in each state in which we transact health insurance business and to adhere to sales, documentation and administration practices specific to that state. We must maintain our health insurance licenses to continue selling plans and to continue to receive commissions from health insurance carriers. In addition, each employee who transacts health insurance business on our behalf must maintain a valid license in one or more states. Because we maintain health insurance licenses to do business in all 50 states and the District of Columbia, compliance with health insurance-related laws, rules and regulations is difficult and imposes significant costs on our business. Each jurisdiction's insurance department typically has the power, among other things, to:

- grant, limit, suspend and revoke licenses to transact insurance business;
- conduct inquiries into the insurance-related activities and conduct of agents and agencies;
- require and regulate disclosure in connection with the sale and solicitation of health insurance;
- authorize how, by which personnel and under what circumstances insurance premiums can be quoted and published and an insurance policy sold;
- approve which entities can be paid commissions from carriers and the circumstances under which they may be paid;
- regulate the content of insurance-related advertisements, including web pages, and other marketing practices;
- approve policy forms, require specific benefits and benefit levels and regulate premium rates;
- impose fines and other penalties; and
- impose continuing education requirements.

Due to the complexity, periodic modification and differing interpretations of insurance laws and regulations, we may not have always been, and we may not always be, in compliance with them. New laws, regulations and guidelines also may not be compatible with the sale of health insurance over the Internet, with modern technologies such as artificial intelligence, or with various aspects of our platform or manner of marketing or selling health insurance plans. Failure to comply with insurance laws, regulations and guidelines or other laws and regulations applicable to our business could result in significant liability, additional department of insurance licensing requirements, required modification of our advertising and business practices, changes to our existing technology or platforms, the limitation, suspension and/or revocation of our licenses to sell health insurance, termination of our relationship with health insurance carriers and loss of commissions and/or our inability to sell health insurance plans, which would harm our business, operating results and financial condition. Moreover, an adverse regulatory action in one jurisdiction could result in penalties and adversely affect our license status, business or reputation in other jurisdictions due to the requirement that adverse regulatory actions in one jurisdiction be reported to other jurisdictions. Even if the allegations in any regulatory or other action against us are proven false, any surrounding negative publicity could harm consumer, marketing partner or health insurance carrier confidence in us, which could significantly damage our brand. In addition, as we expand our product base, we may be subject to additional laws and regulations.

Increasing regulatory focus on privacy and data security issues and expanding laws could impact our business and expose us to increased liability.

Our business is subject to emerging privacy laws being passed at the state and federal levels that create unique compliance challenges. Our services involve the collection and storage of confidential and personally identifiable information of consumers and the transmission of certain personal information to their chosen health insurance carriers and to the government. For example, we collect names, addresses, credit card and social security numbers and health information such as information regarding consumers' prescription drugs and providers. We also hold a significant amount of personal information relating to our current and former employees. As a result, we are subject to various state and federal laws and contractual requirements regarding the access, use and disclosure of personal information. Compliance with state and federal privacy-related laws, particularly state legislation such as the California Consumer Privacy Act and its recent amendments, and increasingly robust

industry standard security frameworks will result in cost increases due to an increased need for privacy compliance, oversight and monitoring, and the development of new processes to effectuate and demonstrate compliance. The effects of potential non-compliance by us or third-party service providers, and enforcement actions, may result in increased costs to our business and reputational harm. The privacy and cybersecurity legislative landscape is rapidly evolving on the state and federal level. Such changes create challenges for businesses to comply with the new legal obligations in a systematic fashion. These new legal requirements may change the way we conduct our business and may harm our business, operating results and financial condition.

Any perception that our practices, products or services violate individual privacy or data protection rights may subject us to public criticism, class action lawsuits, reputational harm, or investigations or claims by regulators, industry groups or other third parties, any of which could disrupt or adversely impact our business and expose us to increased liability. If additional data privacy or data security laws are implemented, or our health insurance carrier or other partners determine to impose requirements on us relating to data privacy security, we may not be able to timely comply with such requirements or such requirements may not be compatible with our current processes. Changing our processes could be time-consuming and expensive, and failure to timely implement required changes could result in our inability to sell health insurance plans in a particular jurisdiction or for a particular health insurance carrier or subject us to liability for non-compliance, any of which would damage our business, operating results and financial condition. Health insurance carriers that we work with may also require us to comply with additional privacy and data security standards to do business with us at all. Compliance with privacy and data security standards is regularly assessed, and we may not always be compliant with the standards. If we are not in compliance, we may not be able to accept information from consumers, and our relationship with health insurance carriers could be adversely impacted or terminated, which would harm our business, operating results and financial condition.

Our business could be harmed if we are unable to contact our consumers or market the availability of our products through specific channels.

We use email, telephone and SMS text, among other channels, to market our services to potential members and as the primary means of communicating with our existing members, and some of these communications may be subject to the TCPA and other telemarketing laws, including state laws, that restrict our ability to market using the telephone or SMS text in certain respects. The laws and regulations governing the use of email, telephone calls and SMS text for marketing purposes continue to evolve, and changes in technology, the marketplace or consumer preferences may lead to the adoption of additional laws or regulations or changes in interpretation of existing laws or regulations. If new laws or regulations are adopted, or existing laws and regulations are interpreted or enforced, to impose additional restrictions on our ability to send email, telephone calls or SMS text messages to our members or potential members, we may not be able to communicate with them in a cost-effective manner. While we have policies in place to comply with the TCPA and other telemarketing laws, we have been in the past, and may in the future become, subject to claims that we have violated the TCPA. If we were found to have violated the TCPA, our business, operating results and financial condition could be harmed. The TCPA and other laws and regulations relating to telemarketing are also subject to periodic updates and changes in enforcement and litigation risks.

In addition to legal restrictions on the use of email, Internet service providers, email service providers and others attempt to block the transmission of unsolicited email, commonly known as "spam." Many Internet and email service providers have relationships with organizations whose purpose is to detect and notify the Internet and email service providers of entities that the organization believes are sending unsolicited email. If an Internet or email service provider identifies email from us as "spam" as a result of reports from these organizations or otherwise, we can be placed on a restricted list that will block our email to members or potential members. Similarly, telephone carriers may block or put consumer warnings on calls or SMS text messages originating from call centers. Consumers increasingly screen their incoming emails, telephone calls and SMS text messages, including by using screening tools and warnings; therefore, our members or potential members may not reliably receive our messages, whether or not such messages constitute marketing. If we are unable to communicate effectively by email, telephone or SMS text with our members and potential members as a result of legislation, legal or regulatory actions, blockage, screening technologies or otherwise, our business, operating results and financial condition would be harmed.

Any legal liability, regulatory penalties, complaints or negative publicity related to us or our services could harm our business, operating results and financial condition.

We provide information on our website, through our advisor enrollment centers, in our marketing materials and in other ways regarding health insurance in general and the health insurance plans we market and sell, including information relating to insurance premiums, coverage, benefits, provider networks, exclusions, limitations, availability, plan comparisons and insurance company ratings. A significant amount of both automated and manual effort is required to maintain the considerable amount of health insurance plan information on our website. We also use the information provided on our website and otherwise collected by us to publish reports designed to educate consumers, facilitate public debate, and facilitate reform at the state and federal level. If the information we provide on our website, through our advisor enrollment centers, in our marketing materials or otherwise is not accurate or is construed as misleading, or if we do not properly assist individuals and businesses in purchasing health insurance, members, health insurance carriers and others could attempt to hold us liable for damages or require us to take corrective actions. In addition, our relationships with health insurance carriers could be terminated or impaired and regulators could attempt to subject us to penalties, force us to stop using our websites, marketing material or certain aspects of them, revoke our licenses to transact health insurance business in a particular jurisdiction, and/or compromise the status of our licenses to transact health insurance business in other jurisdictions. Any of these occurrences could result in our loss of our commission revenue and harm our business, operating results and financial condition.

In the ordinary course of operating our business, we and our health insurance carrier partners have received complaints that the information we provided was not accurate or was misleading. We have received, and may in the future receive, inquiries from health insurance carriers, CMS, state departments of insurance, regulators or other legislative bodies regarding our marketing and business practices and compliance with laws and regulations. We typically respond to these inquiries by explaining how we believe we are in compliance with relevant regulations, or we may modify our practices in connection with the inquiry. For example, in 2024 we received requests from the Committee on Finance of the United States Senate seeking information about our business practices related to lead generation, marketing and enrollment in Medicare Advantage health plans. These types of inquiries and associated claims can be time-consuming and expensive to address, can divert our management's attention and other resources, can impact our relationships with health insurance carriers and can cause a loss of confidence in our services. As a result, whether or not we are able to successfully resolve these claims, they could harm our business, operating results and financial condition.

Risks Related to Finance, Accounting and Tax Matters

Our commission revenue could be negatively impacted by changes in our estimated conversion rate of an approved member to a paying member, our forecast of average plan duration or our forecast of likely commission amounts.

Our commission revenue, which is primarily comprised of commissions from health insurance carriers, is computed using the estimated LTVs of commissions that we expect to receive. We re-compute LTVs for all outstanding cohorts on a quarterly basis. As a result, the rate at which consumers visiting our ecommerce platforms and advisor enrollment centers seeking to purchase health insurance are converted into approved members directly impacts our revenue. In addition, the rate at which consumers who are approved become paying members impacts the constrained LTV of our approved members, which impacts the revenue that we are able to recognize.

A number of factors have influenced, and could in the future influence, these conversion rates for any given period, some of which are outside of our control. These factors include, but are not limited to:

changes in consumer shopping behavior due to circumstances outside of our control, such as economic conditions, recession, inflation, public health crises or illnesses, consumers' ability or willingness to pay for health insurance, adverse events or perceptions affecting the U.S. or international financial systems, adverse weather conditions or natural disasters, unemployment rates, availability of unemployment benefits or proposed or enacted legislative or regulatory changes impacting our business, including health care reform;

- the quality of and changes to the consumer experience on our ecommerce platforms and/or with our advisor enrollment centers;
- regulatory requirements, including those that make the experience on our ecommerce platforms cumbersome or difficult to navigate or reduce the ability of consumers to purchase plans outside of enrollment periods;
- · the variety, competitiveness, quality and affordability of the health insurance plans that we offer;
- · system failures or interruptions in the operation of our ecommerce platform or advisor enrollment center operations;
- changes in the mix of consumers who are referred to us through our direct, marketing partner and strategic partner marketing member acquisition channels, including the quality of sales leads;
- health insurance carrier guidelines applicable to applications submitted by consumers, the degree to which our technology is integrated
 with health insurance carriers, the amount of time a carrier takes to make a decision on that application and the percentage of submitted
 applications approved by health insurance carriers;
- · the effectiveness of our benefit advisors in assisting consumers, including the tenure of the health insurance agent; and
- our ability to enroll subsidy-eligible individuals in qualified health plans through government-run health insurance exchanges and the efficacy of the process we are required to use to do so.

Our conversion rates can be impacted by changes in the mix of consumers referred to us through our member acquisition channels and whether they interact with a more seasoned health insurance agent. We have made and may in the future, make changes to our ecommerce platforms, telephonic operations, marketing material or enrollment process in response to regulatory or health insurance carrier requirements or undertake other initiatives in an attempt to improve consumer experience, increase retention, or for other reasons. These changes have had in the past, and may have in the future, the unintended consequence of adversely impacting our conversion rates. A decline in the percentage of consumers who submit health insurance applications on our ecommerce platforms or telephonically via our advisor enrollment centers and are converted into approved and paying members could cause an increase in our cost of acquiring members on a per member basis and impact our revenue in any given period. To the extent the rate at which we convert consumers visiting our ecommerce platforms or telephonically via our advisor enrollment centers into members suffers, our membership may decline, which would harm our business, operating results and financial condition.

Our operating results will be impacted by factors that impact our estimate of the constrained LTV of commissions per approved member.

We recognize revenue for plans approved during the period by applying the latest estimated constrained LTVs for that product. Constrained LTVs are estimates and are based on a number of assumptions, which include, but are not limited to, estimates of the conversion rates of approved members into paying members, forecasted average plan duration and forecasted commissions we expect to receive per approved member's plan. These assumptions are based on historical trends and require significant judgment by our management in interpreting those trends and in applying the constraints. Changes in our historical trends will result in changes to our constrained LTV estimates in future periods and therefore could adversely affect our revenue and financial results in those future periods. As a result, negative changes in the factors upon which we estimate constrained LTVs, such as reduced conversion of approved members to paying members, increased health insurance plan terminations or a reduction in the lifetime commission amounts we expect to receive for selling the plan to a member or other changes could harm our business, operating results and financial condition. Changes in LTV may result in an increase or a decrease in revenue and a corresponding increase or decrease in commissions receivable. In addition, if we ultimately receive commission payments that are less than the amount we estimated when we recognized commission revenue, we would need to write off the remaining commissions receivable balance, which would adversely impact our business, operating results and financial condition.

The rate at which approved members become paying members is a significant factor in our estimation of constrained LTVs. To the extent we experience a decline in the rate at which approved members turn into our paying members, our business, operating results and financial condition would be harmed.

The forecasted average plan duration is another important factor in our estimation of constrained LTV. When a plan is canceled, or if we otherwise do not remain the agent on the policy, we no longer receive the related

commission. Our forecasted average plan duration and health insurance plan termination rate are calculated based on our historical data by plan type. As a result, a reduction in our forecasted average plan duration or an inability to produce accurate forecasted average plan duration may adversely impact our business, operating results and financial condition.

Commission rates are also a significant factor in our estimation of constrained LTVs. The commission rates we receive are impacted by a variety of factors, including the particular health insurance plans chosen by our members, the carriers offering those plans, our members' states of residence, the laws and regulations in those jurisdictions, the average premiums of plans purchased through us and health care reform. Our commission revenue per member has in the past decreased, and could in the future decrease, as a result of reductions in contractual commission rates, a change in the mix of carriers whose products we sell during a given period and increased health insurance plan termination rates, all of which are beyond our control and may occur on short notice. To the extent these and other factors cause our commission revenue per member to decline, our revenue may decline, and our business, operating results and financial condition would be harmed. Given that Medicare-related and individual and family health insurance purchasing is concentrated during enrollment periods, we may experience a shift in the mix of Medicare-related and individual and family health insurance products selected by our members over a short period of time. Any reduction in our average commission revenue per member caused by such a shift or otherwise would harm our business, operating results and financial condition.

The determination of constraints is also a factor that requires significant management judgment. Constraints are applied to LTVs for revenue recognition purposes and help ensure that the total estimated lifetime commissions expected to be collected from an approved member's plan are recognized as revenue only to the extent that is probable that a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognized will not occur when the uncertainty associated with future commissions receivable from the plan is subsequently resolved. We determine the constraint for each product by comparing cash collection patterns to our assumptions and analyze the drivers for variations. We then apply judgment in assessing whether the difference between historical cash collections and LTV is representative of differences that can be expected in future periods. We also analyze whether circumstances have changed and consider any known or potential modifications to the inputs into LTV in light of the factors that can impact the amount of cash expected to be collected in future periods including but not limited to commission rates, carrier mix, plan duration, changes in laws and regulations and cancellations of insurance plans offered by health insurance carriers with which we have a relationship. We evaluate the appropriateness of our constraints on an annual basis, and we update our assumptions when we observe a sufficient amount of evidence that would suggest that the long-term expectation underlying the assumptions has changed. While we have recognized positive net adjustment revenue in the recent past, there can be no assurance that we will continue to recognize positive net adjustment revenue. If we underestimate the initial constraint applied to LTVs, we might be required to increase the constraint or record an impairment in a future period, which would harm our business, operating results and financial condition.

If commission reports we receive from carriers are inaccurate or not sent to us in a timely manner, our business and operating results could be harmed, and we may not recognize trends in our membership.

We rely on health insurance carriers to timely and accurately report the commissions earned by us, and we calculate our commission revenue, prepare our financial reports, projections and budgets and direct our marketing and other operating efforts based on the reports we receive from health insurance carriers. There have been instances where we have determined that plan cancellation data reported to us by a health insurance carrier has not been accurate. The extent to which health insurance carriers are inaccurate in their reporting of plan cancellations could cause us to change our cancellation estimates, which could adversely impact our revenue. We have designed controls to assess the completeness and accuracy of the data received, whereby we apply judgment and make estimates based on historical data and current trends to independently determine whether or not carriers are accurately reporting commissions due to us. We also operate procedures with carriers on an ongoing basis whereby potential under or over reporting is reconciled and discrepancies are resolved. For instance, when we reconcile information health insurance carriers provide to us, we may determine that we were not historically paid commissions owed to us, which would cause us to have underestimated our membership. Conversely, health insurance carriers may require us to return commissions paid in a prior period due to plan cancellations for members we previously estimated as being active. To the extent that health insurance carriers understate or fail to accurately report the commissions due to us in a timely manner or at all, our estimates of constrained LTV may be adversely impacted, which would harm our business, operating results and financial condition. In addition, any

inaccuracies in the reporting from and reconciliations with insurance carriers may also impact our estimates of constrained LTV or our estimates of commission revenue for future periods which is based on historical trends, including trends relating to contracted commission rates and expected health insurance plan cancellation.

We do not receive information about membership cancellations from our health insurance carriers directly, which makes it difficult for us to determine the impact of current conditions on our membership retention and to accurately estimate membership as of a specific date.

We depend on health insurance carriers and others for data related to our membership. For instance, with respect to health insurance plans, health insurance carriers do not directly report member cancellations to us. Other than small business health insurance, we infer cancellations from payment data that carriers provide by analyzing whether payments from members have ceased for a period of time, and we may not learn of a cancellation for several months. The majority of our members who terminate their plans do so by discontinuing their insurance premium payments to the carrier or notifying the carrier, and do not inform us of the cancellation. With respect to our small business membership, groups generally notify the carrier directly of policy cancellations and increases or decreases in group size. Our insurance carrier partners often do not communicate this information to us, and it often takes a significant amount of time for us to learn about small business group cancellations and changes in our membership within the group itself. We often are not made aware of policy cancellations until the time of the group's annual renewal.

Given the number of months required to observe non-payment of commissions in order to confirm cancellations, we estimate the number of members who are active on health insurance plans as of a specified date. After we have estimated membership for a period, we may receive information from health insurance carriers that would have impacted the estimate if we had received the information prior to the date of estimation. We may receive commission payments or other information that indicates that a member who was not included in our estimates for a prior period was in fact an active member at that time, or that a member who was included in our estimates was in fact not an active member. As a result of the Medicare annual enrollment and other open enrollment periods, we may not receive information from our carriers on as timely a basis due to the significant increase in health insurance transaction volume and for other reasons, which could impair the accuracy of our membership estimates. For these and other reasons, including if current trends in membership cancellation are inconsistent with past cancellation trends that we use to estimate our membership or if carriers subsequently report changes to the commission payments that they previously reported to us, our actual membership could be materially different from our estimates. If our actual membership is different from our estimates, the constrained LTV component of our revenue recognition could also be inaccurate, including as a result of an inaccurate estimate of the average amount of time our members maintain their health insurance plans. As a result of the delay that we experience in receiving information about our membership, it is difficult for us to determine with any certainty the impact of current conditions on our membership retention. Various circumstances, including market-related factors such as changes in timing of enrollment periods, the ability of enrollees to change their health plan outside of the Medicare annual enrollment period, the source of referrals, their enrollment experience and other factors specific to our business, could cause the assumptions and estimates that we make in connection with estimating our membership to be inaccurate, which would cause our membership estimates to be inaccurate.

Our agreements with our lender and our convertible preferred stock investor contain restrictions that impact our business and expose us to risks that could materially adversely affect our liquidity and financial condition.

On February 28, 2022, we entered into a term loan credit agreement with Blue Torch Finance LLC, as administrative agent and collateral agent, and other lenders party thereto, which was amended on August 16, 2022 and again on November 1, 2024 (as amended, the "Credit Agreement"). The Credit Agreement provides us with \$70 million in term loans.

The Credit Agreement contains certain mandatory prepayment triggers and imposes certain covenants and restrictions on our business and our ability to obtain additional financing. The Credit Agreement contains customary affirmative covenants, including covenants regarding the payment of taxes and other obligations, maintenance of insurance, reporting requirements and compliance with applicable laws and regulations. The Credit Agreement also contains restrictions that limit our ability to, among other things, incur debt, grant liens, make certain restricted payments, make fundamental changes, sell assets, transact with affiliates, enter into burdensome agreements,

prepay certain indebtedness or modify our organizational documents, in each case, subject to certain exceptions. Further, the Credit Agreement contains financial covenants requiring us to (x) maintain a minimum level of liquidity as of the end of each month and (y) maintain a ratio such that the outstanding amount of obligations under the Credit Agreement at the end of any month does not exceed 50% of the value of certain commissions receivable as of the end of such month. The events of default under the Credit Agreement include, among other things and subject to grace periods in certain instances, payment defaults, cross defaults with certain other material indebtedness, breaches of covenants or representations and warranties, changes in control of our company, certain bankruptcy and insolvency events with respect to us and our subsidiaries, a restriction on all or a material portion of our business and the indictment of us or any subsidiary (or any senior officer thereof), or criminal proceedings against the same, which could result in a forfeiture of a material portion of our subsidiaries properties.

If we experience a decline in cash flow due to any of the factors described in this Risk Factors section or otherwise, we could have difficulty paying interest and principal amounts due on our indebtedness and meeting the financial covenants set forth in our Credit Agreement. If we are unable to generate sufficient cash flow or otherwise obtain the funds necessary to make required payments under the Credit Agreement, or if we fail to comply with the requirements of our indebtedness, we could default under our Credit Agreement. Any default that is not waived by the lender could result in the acceleration of the obligations under the Credit Agreement and an increase in the applicable interest rate under the credit facility. It would also permit our lender to exercise rights and remedies with respect to all of the collateral that is securing the Credit Agreement, which includes substantially all of our assets. Any such default could materially adversely affect our liquidity and financial condition.

On February 17, 2021, we entered into an investment agreement with Echelon Health SPV, LP ("H.I.G."), pursuant to which H.I.G. purchased 2.25 million shares of Series A convertible preferred stock ("Series A Preferred Stock") for an aggregate price of \$225.0 million (the "H.I.G. Investment Agreement"). The H.I.G. Investment Agreement contains certain negative operating covenants that will remain in effect for so long as H.I.G. continues to own at least 30% of the shares of Series A Preferred Stock originally issued to it. The Company is required to maintain an Asset Coverage Ratio and a Minimum Liquidity Amount (in each case, as defined in the H.I.G. Investment Agreement). Failure to maintain the Minimum Asset Coverage Ratio or the Minimum Liquidity Amount as of the date or the time period required by the H.I.G. Investment Agreement, for as long as H.I.G. continues to own at least 30% of the Series A Preferred Stock originally issued to it in the private placement, entitles H.I.G., subject to conditions and restrictions specified therein, to additional rights, including the right to nominate one additional member to our Board of Directors, the right to approve our annual budget, the right to approve the hiring or termination of certain key executives and the right to approve the incurrence of certain indebtedness. We have not met the Minimum Asset Coverage Ratio since the September 30, 2023 measurement date and as of November 30, 2024, we were no longer in compliance with the Minimum Liquidity Amount. As of December 31, 2024, H.I.G. continued to own at least 30% of the shares.

These restrictions on the conduct of our business imposed by our lender or H.I.G. could materially adversely affect our business by, among other things, limiting our ability to take advantage of financings, mergers, acquisitions and other corporate opportunities that may be beneficial to the business and other stockholders. Even if the Credit Agreement were terminated, additional debt we could incur in the future may subject us to similar or additional covenants, which could place restrictions on the operation of our business. Similarly, our investment or financing arrangement with any future investors may subject us to similar or additional covenants.

Operating and growing our business is likely to require additional capital. If capital is not available to us, our business, operating results and financial condition may suffer.

Operating and growing our business is expected to require further investments in our business. We have generated negative cash from operating activities and may continue to generate negative cash from operating activities in the future. We may from time to time seek to raise additional capital through debt and/or equity financing to pursue strategic initiatives or make investments in our business. If we seek to raise funds through debt or equity financing, those funds may prove to be unavailable, may only be available on terms that are not acceptable to us or may result in significant dilution to our stockholders or higher levels of leverage.

Our term loan under the Credit Agreement matures in February 2026. Our ability to refinance our existing or future indebtedness will depend on the capital markets, including prevailing interest rates, and our financial condition and performance, which, among other things, is subject to economic, financial, competitive and other

factors beyond our control. In addition, our Credit Agreement and the H.I.G. Investment Agreement contain restrictions that limit our ability to incur additional indebtedness, issue certain types of equity securities with rights and preferences senior to or pari passu with our Series A Preferred Stock, make certain types of investments or obtain additional financing. Pursuant to the terms of the H.I.G. Investment Agreement, we are currently required to obtain the consent of H.I.G. in order to incur certain indebtedness, which could limit our ability to obtain additional financing. If we are unable to refinance our existing or future indebtedness, obtain adequate financing or obtain financing on terms satisfactory to us when we require it, we may default on our existing or future indebtedness, and our ability to continue to pursue our business objectives and to respond to business opportunities or challenges could be harmed, and our business, operating results and financial condition could be materially and adversely affected.

If we fail to maintain proper and effective internal controls, our ability to produce accurate financial statements could be impaired, which could adversely affect our operating results, our ability to operate our business and our stock price.

We have a complex business organization. Ensuring that we have adequate internal control over financial reporting and adequate accounting controls and procedures in place to help ensure that we can produce accurate financial statements on a timely basis is a costly and time-consuming effort that needs to be re-evaluated frequently. This process is complicated by the expansion of our business operations and changing accounting requirements. Our management, including our chief executive officer and chief financial officer, does not expect that our internal control over financial reporting will prevent all errors or all fraud. A control system, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the control system's objectives will be met. Further, the design of a control system must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints, and the benefits of controls must be considered relative to their costs. Controls can be circumvented by the individual acts of some persons, by collusion of two or more people, or by management override of the controls. Over time, controls may become inadequate because changes in conditions or deterioration in the degree of compliance with policies or procedures may occur. Because of the inherent limitations in a cost-effective control system, misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected. We cannot assure that significant deficiencies or material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting will not be identified in the future. Any failure to maintain or implement required new or improved controls, or any difficulties we encounter in their implementation, could result in significant deficiencies or material weaknesses, cause us to fail to timely meet our periodic reporting obligations or result in material misstatements in our financial statements. Any such failure could also adversely affect the results of periodic management evaluations and annual auditor attestation reports regarding disclosure controls and the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting required under Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and the rules promulgated thereunder. The existence of a material weakness could cause errors in our financial statements that could result in a restatement of financial statements, cause us to fail to timely meet our reporting obligations and cause investors to lose confidence in our reported financial information, leading to a decline in our stock price and potential lawsuits against us.

Changes in our provision for income taxes or adverse outcomes resulting from examination of our income or other tax returns or changes in tax legislation could adversely affect our results.

Our provision for income taxes is subject to volatility and could be adversely affected by earnings differing materially from our projections, changes in the valuation of our deferred tax assets and liabilities, tax effects of stock-based compensation, outcomes as a result of tax examinations or by changes in tax laws, regulations, accounting principles, including accounting for uncertain tax positions, or interpretations thereof. To the extent that our provision for income taxes is subject to volatility or adverse outcomes as a result of tax examinations, our operating results could be harmed. Significant judgment is required to determine the recognition and measurement attributes prescribed in U.S. generally accepted accounting principles relating to accounting for income taxes. In addition, we are subject to examinations of our income tax returns by the Internal Revenue Service and other tax authorities. We assess the likelihood of adverse outcomes resulting from these examinations to determine the adequacy of our provision for income taxes. There may be exposure that the outcomes from these examinations will have an adverse effect on our operating results and financial condition.

Our ability to use net operating losses to offset future taxable income may be subject to certain limitations.

We have net operating loss carryforwards for federal and state income tax purposes to offset future taxable income. Certain of our federal and state net operating loss carryforwards begin expiring in 2034 and 2025, respectively. A lack of future taxable income would adversely affect our ability to utilize these net operating loss carryforwards. In addition, utilization of the net operating loss carryforwards may be subject to a substantial annual limitation due to ownership changes that may have occurred or that could occur in the future, as required by Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code"), and similar state provisions. These ownership change limitations may limit the amount of net operating loss carryforwards and other tax attributes that can be utilized annually to offset future taxable income and tax, respectively. In general, an "ownership change" as defined by Section 382 of the Code results from a transaction or series of transactions over a three-year period resulting in an ownership change of more than 50 percentage points (by value) of the outstanding stock of a company by certain stockholders. Our ability to use the remaining net operating loss carryforwards may be further limited if we experience a Section 382 ownership change as a result of future changes in our stock ownership.

Risks Related to Our Technology

If we fail to properly maintain existing or implement new information systems, our business may be materially adversely affected.

The performance, reliability and availability of our ecommerce platform, cloud contact center and underlying network infrastructures are critical to our financial results, brand and relationship with members, marketing partners and health insurance carriers. Although we regularly attempt to enhance our platforms and system infrastructure, system failures and interruptions may occur if we are unable to accurately project the rate or timing of increases in our website or call center traffic or for other reasons, some of which are completely outside our control. We could experience significant failures and interruptions, which would harm our business, operating results and financial condition. If these failures or interruptions occurred during the Medicare annual enrollment period, the Medicare Advantage open enrollment period or during the open enrollment period under health care reform, the negative impact on us would be particularly pronounced.

We rely in part upon third-party vendors, including cloud infrastructure and bandwidth providers, to operate our ecommerce platform and advisor enrollment centers. Consumers using our website and accessing our services depend upon online, mobile and other service providers for access to our website and services. Our remote employees rely on third-party service providers to access our systems and other agent productivity tools. We cannot predict whether additional network capacity will be available from these vendors as we need it, and our network or our suppliers' networks might be unable to achieve or maintain a sufficiently high capacity of data transmission. Any significant interruption in access to our advisor enrollment centers or our website or increase in our website's response time as a result of these difficulties could impair our revenue-generating capabilities, damage our reputation and our relationship with insurance carriers, marketing partners and existing and potential members, and harm our business, operating results and financial condition. In addition, any loss of data could result in loss of customers and subject us to potential liability. Our business operations may also be disrupted if our employees are unable to work from home effectively as a result of technical difficulties experienced by these service providers. Many of these service providers have experienced significant outages, delays and other difficulties in the past and could experience them in the future. If these third parties experience difficulty providing the services we require or meeting our standards for those services, it could make it difficult for us to operate some aspects of our business. Our and our vendors' facilities, database and systems are vulnerable to damage or interruption from human error, fire, floods, earthquakes and other natural disasters, power loss, telecommunications failures, physical or electronic break-ins, computer viruses, cyberattacks, acts of terrorism, other attempts to harm our systems and si

In particular, our advisor enrollment center operations' success depends on maintenance of functioning information technology systems. CMS rules require that our health insurance agent employees utilize CMS-approved scripts in connection with the sale of Medicare plans and that we record and maintain the recording of telephonic interactions relating to the sale of Medicare plans. We rely on telephone, call recording, customer relationship management and other systems and technology in our advisor enrollment center operations, and we are dependent upon third parties for some of them, including our telephone and call recording systems. These

systems have failed temporarily in the past and may experience additional disruption due to systems upgrades, power outages, an increase in remote work or other events. The effectiveness and stability of our advisor enrollment center systems and technology are critical to our ability to sell health insurance plans, particularly during key times, such as the Medicare enrollment periods, and the failure or interruption of any of these systems and technology or any inability to handle increased volume would harm our business, operating results and financial condition.

Issues relating to the use of new and evolving technologies, such as AI, in our business operations could result in liability, reputational harm and an adverse impact on our operating results and financial condition.

As noted in the Business section, above, we plan to utilize our artificial intelligence ("AI") Center of Excellence to help guide and prioritize our AI and technology initiatives for 2025. However, social, ethical and operational issues relating to the use of AI in our business operations could result in liability, reputational harm and additional costs. If our AI implementation, deployment or governance is ineffective or inadequate, it could result in incidents that impair the public acceptance of AI use or cause harm to individuals, customers or society, or result in our operations not working as intended or producing unexpected outcomes. Also, use of third party models can pose security and privacy risks. Jurisdictions around the world are developing and passing new regulations that apply specifically to the use of AI. These regulations and the evolving AI regulatory environment could, among other impacts, result in inconsistencies among AI regulations and frameworks across jurisdictions, increase our compliance, governance and research and development costs and increase our exposure to claims related to our use of AI.

Our business is subject to security risks. If we experience a successful cyberattack or a security breach or are otherwise unable to safeguard the confidentiality and integrity of the data we hold, including sensitive personal information, our business will be harmed.

Maintaining the security of our products and services is critical for us, our consumers, and the health insurance carriers we work with. Despite our taking precautions, we cannot guarantee that our facilities and systems, and those of our third-party service providers, will be free of security breaches, cyberattacks, acts of vandalism, computer viruses, malware, misplaced or lost data, programming and/or human errors or other similar events. We may be required to expend significant resources to protect against security breaches or to mitigate and remediate problems caused by security breaches. Techniques used to obtain unauthorized access or to sabotage systems change frequently. For example, attackers have used artificial intelligence and machine learning to launch more automated, targeted and coordinated attacks against targets. As a result, we may be unable to anticipate emerging techniques or to implement adequate preventative measures preemptively. Additionally, our third-party service providers may cause security breaches for which we are responsible.

Any compromise or perceived compromise of our security or the security of one of our vendors could damage our reputation, cause the termination of relationships with government-run health insurance exchanges and our members, marketing partners and health insurance carriers, reduce demand for our services and subject us to significant liability and expense as well as regulatory action and lawsuits, any of which would harm our business, operating results and financial condition. The attack surface available to criminals is increasing as more companies and individuals work remotely and otherwise work online. Consequently, the risk of a cybersecurity incident has increased. We cannot assure that our preventative efforts, or those of our vendors or service providers, will be successful. These actual and potential breaches of our security measures and the accidental loss, inadvertent disclosure, or unauthorized dissemination of proprietary information or sensitive, personal, or confidential data about us, our employees, our customers, or their end users, including the potential loss or disclosure of such information or data as a result of hacking, fraud, trickery or other forms of deception, could expose us, our employees, our customers or the individuals affected to a risk of loss or misuse of this information. This may result in litigation and liability or fines, our compliance with costly and time-intensive notice requirements, governmental inquiry or oversight, or a loss of customer confidence, any of which could harm our business or damage our brand and reputation, thereby requiring time and resources to mitigate these impacts.

We may not be able to adequately protect our intellectual property, which could harm our business, operating results and financial condition.

Our intellectual property is an essential asset of our business, and we believe that our technology currently gives us a competitive advantage in the distribution of Medicare-related, individual, family and small business health insurance. We rely on a combination of patent, copyright, trademark and trade secret laws, confidentiality procedures and contractual provisions to establish and protect our intellectual property rights in the United States. Our efforts to protect our intellectual property may need to be revised or more effective, and our trademarks or patents may be held invalid or unenforceable. Moreover, the law relating to intellectual property is not as developed in China, and our intellectual property rights may not be as respected in China as they are in the United States. We may not be effective in policing unauthorized use of our intellectual property, trade secrets and other confidential information, and even if we do detect violations, litigation may be necessary to enforce our intellectual property rights. Any enforcement efforts we undertake, including litigation, could be time-consuming and expensive, could divert our management's attention and may result in a court determining that our intellectual property or other rights are unenforceable. If we are not successful in cost-effectively protecting our intellectual property rights, trade secrets and confidential information, our business, operating results and financial condition could be harmed.

Risks Related to Ownership of Our Common Stock

Our future operating results are likely to fluctuate and could fall short of our guidance and other expectations, which could negatively affect the value of our common stock.

Our operating results are likely to fluctuate as a result of a variety of factors, including the factors described elsewhere in this Risk Factors section, many of which are outside of our control. For example, and among these factors, the assumptions underlying our estimates of commission revenue as required by ASC 606 may vary significantly over time. As a result, comparing our operating results on a period-to-period basis may not be meaningful and you should not rely on our past results as an indication of our future performance, particularly in light of the fact that our business and industry are undergoing substantial change as a result of health care reform, competition, shifts in carrier and regulator priorities and initiatives we determine to pursue. The guidance that we release from time to time contains forward-looking statements and is based on projections prepared by our management. These projections are necessarily speculative in nature, and it can be expected that some or all of the assumptions underlying the guidance furnished by us will not materialize or will vary significantly from actual results. Our actual results have, and may in the future, vary from our guidance and the variations may be material. If our revenue or operating results differ from our guidance or fall below the expectations of investors or securities analysts, the price of our common stock could decline substantially. In the past, when our revenue and operating results differed from our guidance and the expectations of investors or securities analysts, the price of our common stock was impacted.

The price of our common stock has been and may continue to be volatile, and the value of your investment could decline.

The trading price of our common stock has been volatile and is likely to continue to fluctuate substantially. The trading price of our common stock depends on a number of factors, including those described in this Risk Factors section, many of which are beyond our control and may not be related to our operating performance. These fluctuations could cause you to lose all or part of your investment in our common stock since you might be unable to sell your shares at or above the price you paid. Factors that could cause fluctuations in the trading price of our common stock include the following:

- price and volume fluctuations in the overall stock market from time to time, including as a result of inflation, or political or geopolitical instability;
- volatility in the market prices and trading volumes of our competitors' shares, including high technology stocks, which have historically experienced high levels of volatility;
- any new debt and/or equity financing that we undertake to raise additional capital;
- any strategic transaction or partnership that we may enter into;

- new laws or regulations or new interpretations of existing laws or regulations applicable to our business, including developments
 relating to the health care industry and the marketing and sale of Medicare plans;
- actual or anticipated changes in our operating results or the growth rate of our business;
- changes in operating performance and stock market valuations of other technology or insurance brokerage companies generally and of our competitors;
- failure of securities analysts to maintain coverage of us, changes in financial estimates by any securities analysts who follow our company or our failure to meet these estimates or the expectations of investors;
- sales of shares of our common stock by us or our stockholders;
- announcements by us or our competitors of new products or services;
- the public reaction to our press releases, other public announcements and filings with the SEC;
- rumors and market speculation involving us or other companies in our industry;
- negative publicity about us, including accurate and inaccurate third-party commentary or reports regarding us;
- actual or anticipated developments in our business, our competitors' businesses or the competitive landscape generally;
- our ability to control costs, including our operating expenses;
- litigation involving us, our industry or both, or investigations by regulators into our operations or those of our competitors;
- developments or disputes concerning our intellectual property or other proprietary rights;
- announced or completed acquisitions of businesses or technologies by us or our competitors;
- changes in accounting standards, policies, guidelines, interpretations, or principles;
- any significant change in our management;
- adverse events or perceptions affecting the U.S. or international financial systems;
- the imposition of tariffs or other significant changes in relations between the United States and other countries in which we operate our business; and
- general economic conditions, political instability and slow or negative growth of our markets.

In addition, the stock market in general, and the market for technology companies in particular, have experienced extreme price and volume fluctuations that have often been unrelated or disproportionate to the operating performance of those companies. Broad market and industry factors may seriously affect the market price of our common stock, regardless of our actual operating performance. Additionally, as a public company, we face the risk of shareholder lawsuits, particularly if we experience declines in the price of our common stock. In the past, following periods of volatility in the overall market and the market prices of a particular company's securities, securities class action lawsuits have often been instituted against affected companies. We have been, and may in the future be, subject to such legal actions.

The value of our investments is subject to significant capital markets risk related to changes in interest rates and credit spreads as well as other investment risks. These factors may adversely affect our business, operating results and financial condition.

Our financial condition and operating results are affected by the performance of our investment portfolio. The value of our investments is exposed to capital markets risks, and our operating results, liquidity, financial condition or cash flows could be adversely affected by realized losses, impairments and changes in unrealized positions as a result of: significant market volatility, changes in interest rates, changes in credit spreads and defaults, a lack of pricing transparency, a reduction in market liquidity, declines in equity prices, changes in national, state/provincial or local laws and the strengthening or weakening of foreign currencies against the U.S. dollar. Levels of write-down or impairment are impacted by our assessment of the intent to sell securities that have declined in value as well as actual losses as a result of defaults or deterioration in estimates of cash flows. If we reposition or realign portions of the investment portfolio and sell securities in an unrealized loss position, we will incur an other-than-temporary impairment charge or realized losses. Any such charge may have a material adverse effect on our business, operating results and financial condition.

The issuance of shares of common stock underlying our convertible preferred stock would dilute the ownership and relative voting power of holders of our common stock and may adversely affect the market price of our common stock.

The Series A Preferred Stock is convertible at the option of the holders at any time into shares of common stock based on the thenapplicable conversion rate as determined in the certificate of designations for the Series A Preferred Stock. Such conversion would dilute the ownership interest of existing holders of our common stock. In addition, because holders of our Series A Preferred Stock are entitled to vote, on an as-converted basis (subject to certain voting limitations and conversion calculations set forth in the certificate of designations for the Series A Preferred Stock), together with holders of our common stock on all matters submitted to a vote of the holders of our common stock, the issuance of the Series A Preferred Stock effectively reduces the relative voting power of the holders of our common stock.

Any sales in the public market of the common stock issuable upon conversion of the Series A Preferred Stock could adversely affect prevailing market prices of our common stock. Pursuant to the H.I.G. Investment Agreement, holders of our Series A Preferred Stock have customary resale registration rights for common stock issued upon conversion of the Series A Preferred Stock upon closing. Any resale of our common stock would increase the number of shares of our common stock available for public trading. Resales of a substantial number of shares of our common stock in the public market, or the perception that such sales might occur, could have a material adverse effect on the price of our common stock.

Our convertible preferred stock investor has rights, preferences and privileges that are not held by, and are preferential to, the rights of our common stockholders and may exercise influence over us. This could adversely affect our liquidity and financial condition, result in the interests of our convertible preferred stock investor differing from those of our common stockholders and make an acquisition of us more difficult.

H.I.G., the initial purchaser and the current holder of our Series A Preferred Stock, has (i) a liquidation preference, (ii) rights to dividends, which are senior to all of our other equity securities, (iii) redemption rights beginning on April 30, 2027, (iv) the right to require us to repurchase any or all of their Series A Preferred Stock in connection with certain change of control events and (v) conversion price adjustments in connection with certain corporate transactions, each subject to the terms, conditions and exceptions contained in the certificate of designations for the Series A Preferred Stock. These dividend and share repurchase and redemption obligations could impact our liquidity and reduce the amount of cash flows available for working capital, capital expenditures, growth opportunities, acquisitions, and other general corporate purposes.

The H.I.G. Investment Agreement entitles H.I.G. to nominate one individual for election to our Board of Directors for so long as it continues to own at least 30% of the common stock issuable or issued upon conversion of the Series A Preferred Stock originally issued to it. The director designated by H.I.G. is also entitled to serve on committees of our Board of Directors, subject to applicable law and stock exchange rules. H.I.G. nominated Aaron C. Tolson to our Board of Directors. Mr. Tolson was appointed to our Board of Directors as a Class I director on August 30, 2021, and as of the date of this report serves as a member of the compensation committee, nominating and corporate governance committee and government and regulatory affairs committee of the Board of Directors.

In addition, failure to maintain the Minimum Asset Coverage Ratio or the Minimum Liquidity Amount as of the date or the time period required by the H.I.G. Investment Agreement, for as long as H.I.G. continues to own at least 30% of the Series A Preferred Stock originally issued to it in the private placement, entitles H.I.G., subject to conditions and restrictions specified therein, to additional rights, including the right to nominate one additional member to our Board of Directors. The interests of any director designated by H.I.G. may differ from the interests of our security holders as a whole or of our other directors.

If the additional rights are used by H.I.G., it could be distracting to our management and disruptive to our operations or hinder our ability to execute our operational and strategic plans. The terms of the H.I.G. Investment Agreement could also limit our ability to obtain additional financing or increase our borrowing costs, which could have an adverse effect on our financial condition. As of the date of this report, pursuant to the terms of the H.I.G. Investment Agreement, we must obtain the consent of H.I.G. in order to incur any indebtedness, which could limit our ability to obtain additional financing. The preferential rights could also result in divergent interests between

H.I.G. and holders of our common stock. Furthermore, a sale of our company, as a change of control event, may require us to repurchase Series A Preferred Stock, which could have the effect of making an acquisition of our company more expensive and potentially deterring proposed transactions that may otherwise be beneficial to our stockholders.

Anti-takeover provisions contained in our certificate of incorporation and bylaws, as well as provisions of Delaware law, could impair a takeover attempt.

Our certificate of incorporation, bylaws, and Delaware law contain provisions that could have the effect of rendering more difficult, delaying or preventing an acquisition deemed undesirable by our Board of Directors. Our corporate governance documents include provisions:

- creating a classified Board of Directors whose members serve staggered three-year terms;
- authorizing undesignated preferred stock, which could be issued by our Board of Directors without stockholder approval and may contain voting, liquidation, dividend, and other rights superior to our common stock;
- limiting the liability of, and providing indemnification to, our directors and officers;
- limiting the ability of our stockholders to call and bring business before special meetings;
- requiring advance notice of stockholder proposals for business to be conducted at meetings of our stockholders and for nominations of candidates for election to our Board of Directors;
- controlling the procedures for the conduct and scheduling of Board of Directors and stockholder meetings; and
- providing our Board of Directors with the express power to postpone previously scheduled annual meetings and to cancel previously scheduled special meetings.

These provisions, alone or together, could delay or prevent hostile takeovers and changes in control or changes in our management.

As a Delaware corporation, we are also subject to provisions of Delaware law, including Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation law, which prevents some stockholders holding more than 15% of our outstanding common stock from engaging in certain business combinations without approval of the holders of substantially all of our outstanding common stock.

Any provision of our certificate of incorporation, bylaws or Delaware law that has the effect of delaying or deterring a change in control could limit the opportunity for our stockholders to receive a premium for their shares of our common stock and could also affect the price that some investors are willing to pay for our common stock.

Our bylaws designate a state or federal court located within the State of Delaware as the exclusive forum for substantially all disputes between us and our stockholders and also provide that the federal district courts will be the exclusive forum for resolving any complaint asserting a cause of action arising under the Securities Act. These provisions could limit our stockholders' ability to choose the judicial forum for disputes with us or our directors, officers, stockholders or employees.

Our bylaws provide that, unless we consent in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, the sole and exclusive forum for (1) any derivative action or proceeding brought on our behalf, (2) any action asserting a claim of breach of a fiduciary duty owed by any of our directors, stockholders, officers or other employees to us or our stockholders, (3) any action arising pursuant to any provision of the Delaware General Corporation Law, our certificate of incorporation or our bylaws or (4) any other action asserting a claim that is governed by the internal affairs doctrine shall be the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware (or, if the Court of Chancery does not have jurisdiction, another State court in Delaware or the federal district court for the District of Delaware), except for any claim as to which such court determines that there is an indispensable party not subject to the jurisdiction of such court (and the indispensable party does not consent to the personal jurisdiction of such court within ten days following such determination), which is vested in the exclusive jurisdiction of a court or forum other than such court or for which such court does not have subject matter jurisdiction. This provision would not apply to any action brought to enforce a duty or liability created by the Exchange Act and the rules and regulations thereunder.

Section 22 of the Securities Act establishes concurrent jurisdiction for federal and state courts over Securities Act claims. Accordingly, both state and federal courts have jurisdiction to hear such claims. To prevent having to litigate claims in multiple jurisdictions and the threat of inconsistent or contrary rulings by different courts, among other considerations, our bylaws also provide that, unless we consent in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, the federal district courts of the United States will be the sole and exclusive forum for resolving any complaint asserting a cause of action arising under the Securities Act and against any person in connection with an offering of our securities.

Any person or entity purchasing or otherwise acquiring or holding or owning (or continuing to hold or own) any interest in any of our securities shall be deemed to have notice of and consented to the foregoing bylaw provisions. Although we believe these exclusive forum provisions benefit us by providing increased consistency in the application of Delaware law and federal securities laws in the types of lawsuits to which each applies, the exclusive forum provisions may limit a stockholder's ability to bring a claim in a judicial forum of its choosing for disputes with us or our current or former directors, officers, stockholders or other employees, which may discourage such lawsuits against us and our current and former directors, officers, stockholders and other employees. Our stockholders will not be deemed to have waived our compliance with the federal securities laws and the rules and regulations thereunder as a result of our exclusive forum provisions.

Further, the enforceability of similar exclusive forum provisions in other companies' organizational documents have been challenged in legal proceedings, and it is possible that a court of law could rule that these types of provisions are inapplicable or unenforceable if they are challenged in a proceeding or otherwise. If a court were to find either exclusive forum provision contained in our bylaws to be inapplicable or unenforceable in an action, we may incur significant additional costs associated with resolving such action in other jurisdictions, all of which could harm our business, operating results and financial condition.

Macroeconomic and Industry Risks

Our business, operating results and financial condition can be impacted by political events, political instability, trade and other international disputes, geopolitical tensions or natural disasters.

Political events, political instability, trade and other international disputes, geopolitical tensions, conflict, natural disasters, public health issues and other extreme events can have a material adverse effect on the Company and its customers, consumers and other channel partners.

For example, the United States has recently enacted and proposed to enact significant new tariffs. Additionally, President Trump has directed various federal agencies to further evaluate key aspects of U.S. trade policy and there has been ongoing discussion and commentary regarding potential significant changes to U.S. trade policies, treaties and tariffs. There continues to exist significant uncertainty about the future relationship between the U.S. and other countries with respect to such trade policies, treaties and tariffs. These developments, or the perception that any of them could occur, may have a material adverse effect on global economic conditions and the stability of global financial markets, and may significantly reduce global trade and, in particular, trade between the impacted nations and the U.S. As discussed elsewhere in this Risk Factors section, our subsidiary in China provides supports for certain aspects of our operations and face risk related to trade and other international disputes and geopolitical tensions. Any new or changes in restrictions can be announced with little or no advance notice, which can create uncertainty, Any of these factors could depress economic activity and restrict our access to our operations in China, and have a material adverse effect on our business, operating results and financial condition.

Adverse economic conditions including slow growth, recession, high unemployment, inflation, financial and credit market disruptions, could materially adversely affect our business, operating results and financial condition.

Customer and consumer demand for our health insurance plan offerings may be impacted by adverse macroeconomic conditions, including slow growth or recession, high unemployment, inflation, market volatility or other negative economic factors. Weak economic condition can adversely impact consumer confidence and spending and materially adversely affect demand for our products and services. In addition, consumer confidence

and spending can be materially adversely affected in response to changes in fiscal and monetary policy, financial market volatility, declines in income or asset values, and other economic factors.

In addition, limited liquidity, defaults, non-performance or other adverse developments affecting financial institutions, or perceptions regarding these or similar risks, have in the past and may in the future lead to market-wide liquidity problems. Such adverse developments may impact parties with which we do business and their liquidity. These macroeconomic factors could materially and adversely affect our business, operating results and financial condition. Any disruptions in financial institutions, credit markets and/or the broader financial services industry may lead to market-wide liquidity shortages, may limit our access to preferred sources of liquidity when needed or on terms we find acceptable, and our borrowing costs could increase. An economic or credit crisis could occur and impair credit availability and our ability to raise capital when needed.

Large-scale health issues, including pandemics (such as COVID-19), have also had and could in the future have a material adverse effect on our business, operating results and financial condition. For example, we had to adjust our operations in response to the COVID-19 pandemic and resulting disruptions in public and private infrastructure.

Changing our business practices in accordance with new or changed restrictions and challenges could be expensive, time-consuming and disruptive to the Company's operations, and the Company may not be able to effectively mitigate all adverse impacts from such events.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.

ITEM 1C. CYBERSECURITY

Risk Management and Strategy

At eHealth, information security is everyone's responsibility, and we value the trust consumers and business partners place in us to protect their sensitive information. We have established policies and processes for assessing, identifying, and managing risk from cybersecurity threats, and have integrated these processes into our overall risk management systems and processes.

We are subject to various federal and state privacy and security laws, regulations, and requirements. These laws govern the collection, use, disclosure, protection, and maintenance of the individually identifiable information that we collect from consumers. We regularly assess our compliance with privacy and security requirements and conduct periodic risk assessments to identify cybersecurity threats, as well as assessments in the event of a material change in our business practices that may affect information systems that are vulnerable to such cybersecurity threats.

Early on, we identified information security as a salient risk as described in Part I, Item 1A, *Risk Factors*, of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. We maintain data privacy and security through a robust program of safeguards, including responsible management, appropriate use, and protection that is designed to address applicable legal and regulatory requirements. Furthermore, all employees are required to complete annual privacy and security training.

Our security policies and procedures are reviewed and updated regularly to address regulatory, industry, and contractual requirements and recommendations and address new and emerging security threats. We also conduct regular scans of our technical infrastructure and regular penetration audits to check for vulnerabilities and meet our governance and compliance requirements. Training our employees and contractors is crucial to eHealth's governance and compliance requirements. All employees and contractors with access to an eHealth IT system are required to complete security awareness training during onboarding and annually thereafter. Due to the increased inherent risk associated with these roles, developers and privileged users are subject to additional security training requirements.

Every person with access to eHealth IT systems is required to undergo periodic phishing simulations and receives personalized tools to improve their security behavior. Performance is measured both individually and by functional groups to manage the maturity and improvement of eHealth's overall security posture. Employees must also acknowledge receipt and understanding of their responsibility to comply with eHealth's Code of Business Conduct, including the eHealth Information Security and Acceptable Use Policies, during onboarding and annually thereafter.

Despite our rigorous efforts, incidents may occur, and we are prepared to deal with them through our formal Incident Response Plan. Events such as human errors, computer viruses or other malicious code, unauthorized access, cyber-attacks, or phishing attempts concern all organizations. Our Incident Response Team is trained to contain incidents, mitigate impacts, resolve or remediate issues, and notify affected parties as appropriate. The team is made up of key security, privacy, and legal professionals who work with eHealth Technology and Business Teams and our managed security services.

Additionally, eHealth has engaged a guided cyber crisis response platform and conducted a mock cyber-attack exercise to build crisis management experience for our senior leadership and cybersecurity teams. We believe this voluntary skill building exercise put our teams in a better position to manage a potential cybersecurity crisis.

Our comprehensive data security strategy includes:

- · Regular critical security assessments such as advanced attack simulations and vulnerability scans.
- A Software Development Life Cycle (SDLC) framework to assess applications and related infrastructure before implementation to ensure our security standards are met.
- Use of a Role Based Access Control (RBAC) methodology, which defines the access a user receives to eHealth's information systems based on job function.
- Requirements that third-party vendors that host, transmit, or have access to eHealth data comply with our policies and undergo reviews.
- Monitoring of security event data and the security industry to flag anomalies and be aware of potential threats.
- Dedicated domestic and international liaisons who help ensure that business and functional area employees have easy access to experts for guidance and assistance in mitigating privacy and information protection risks.
- Encryption of consumer data both in transit and at rest.
- A broad spectrum of technical controls, including data loss prevention, role-based access, application/desktop logging, and data encryption as well as multi-factor authentication and enhanced web application firewall controls.

We, like any technology company, have experienced cybersecurity incidents in the past. However, as of the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, we have not experienced any cybersecurity incidents that have been determined to be material. For additional information regarding whether any risks from cybersecurity threats, including as a result of any previous cybersecurity incidents, have materially affected or are reasonably likely to materially affect our company, including our business, operating results and financial condition, please refer to Part I, Item 1A, *Risk Factors*, of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Governance

eHealth's Board of Directors oversees our enterprise risk management process, including cybersecurity, information security, governance, risk management, and compliance programs and strategies. The Board is responsible for monitoring and assessing strategic risk exposure, and our senior leadership team is responsible for the day-to-day management of the risks that we face. The Board administers its cybersecurity risk oversight both directly and through its Audit Committee. The Audit Committee is regularly briefed on eHealth's risk profile issues. These briefings are designed to provide visibility about identifying, assessing, and managing critical risks, audit findings, and management's risk mitigation strategies. Management briefs the Audit Committee periodically about eHealth's protection programs, focusing on current trends in the environment, incident preparedness, business continuity management, program governance, and program components, including updates on security processes, external testing, and employee training and awareness initiatives.

eHealth's Head of Information Security reports to our Chief Digital Officer ("CDO") and, with respect to cybersecurity risks, to the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors. Our Head of Information Security focuses on information and systems technology, corporate governance, and behaviors to drive security best practices and safeguard information from unauthorized or inappropriate access, use, or disclosure. eHealth also has a Privacy Officer who advises the company on privacy-related laws and regulations, provides guidance on privacy compliance, drives privacy policy, and creates and oversees the privacy program.

Our Head of Information Security is informed about and monitors prevention, detection, mitigation, and remediation efforts through regular communication and reporting from professionals in our information security team and through the use of technological tools and software and results from third-party audits. Our Head of Information Security and CDO have extensive experience assessing and managing cybersecurity programs and risks. Our Head of Information Security has served in that position since 2024 and, before eHealth, was the interim Chief Information Security Officer at Castlight Health where he led the company's overall security program. Before that, our Head of Information Security was Senior Manager of Cyber Security at Secureworks. His security experience also includes a 12-year career at Banc of America Securities and subsequently at Merrill Lynch on their information security teams as Senior Consultant, Systems Engineering & Architecture. Our CDO joined eHealth in 2023 and was previously Chief Product Officer at M1 Finance, responsible for defining the company's product vision, strategy and roadmap to drive growth and profitability, Prior to M1 Finance, our CDO was the Chief Product Officer at Roofstock, Head of Product at LifeLock (acquired by Symantec) and Sr. Director and Head of Product, D3 Incubation Unit at Capital One. Our Head of Information Security reports directly to the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors on our cybersecurity program and efforts to prevent, detect, mitigate, and remediate issues at least once annually or more frequently as determined to be necessary or advisable. In addition, we have an escalation process in place to inform senior management and the Board of Directors when it is appropriate to do so under the circumstances.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Our corporate headquarters are located in Austin, Texas, where we lease 26,878 square feet of office space. In addition to our corporate headquarters, we currently lease several other office spaces around the country. During 2022, we announced a remote first workplace model in the United States, meaning that, except for those employees whose job responsibilities require in-office work, none of our employees are required to work at the office. As a result, we have closed certain spaces at our leased facilities. We also occupy 40,294 square feet of leased office space in Xiamen, China which supports our technology and content, customer care and enrollment, marketing and advertising and general and administrative operations.

We believe that our facilities are adequate to meet our needs for the immediate future, and that should we need additional physical office space, suitable additional space will be available in the future.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

In the ordinary course of our business, we have received and may continue to receive inquiries from state and federal regulators relating to various matters. We have become, and may in the future become, involved in litigation in the ordinary course of our business. If we are found to have violated laws or regulations in any jurisdiction, we could be subject to various fines and penalties, including revocation of our license to sell insurance in those states, and our business, operating results, and financial condition would be harmed. Revocation of any of our licenses or penalties in one jurisdiction could cause our license to be revoked or for us to face penalties in other jurisdictions. In addition, without a health insurance license in a jurisdiction, carriers would not pay us commissions for the products we sold in that jurisdiction, and we would not be able to sell new health insurance products in that jurisdiction. We could also be harmed to the extent that related publicity damages our reputation as a trusted source of objective information relating to health insurance and its affordability. It could also be costly to defend ourselves regardless of the outcome. Our material legal proceedings are described in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K in our *Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements* in *Note 8 – Commitments and Contingencies*.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not applicable.

PART II

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Our common stock is traded on the Nasdaq Global Market under the symbol EHTH. As of February 21, 2025, there were 21 stockholders of record of our common stock (which does not include the number of stockholders holding shares of our common stock in "street name").

Dividend Policy

We have never declared or paid any cash dividend on our common stock. We currently do not expect to pay any dividends on our common stock in the foreseeable future.

Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities

There were no unregistered sales of equity securities which have not been previously disclosed in a quarterly report on Form 10-Q or a current report on Form 8-K during the period covered by this report.

ITEM 6. [RESERVED]

ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Please read the following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations together with our consolidated financial statements and related notes included under Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. This discussion and analysis contains forward-looking statements, which involve risks and uncertainties. As a result of many factors, such as those described under "Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements," "Risk Factors" and elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, our actual results may differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements.

Overview

We are a leading private health insurance marketplace with a technology and service platform that provides consumer engagement, education, and health insurance enrollment solutions. Our mission is to expertly guide consumers through their health insurance enrollment and related options, when, where, and how they prefer. Our platform leverages technology to solve a critical problem in a large and growing market by aiding consumers in what has traditionally been a complex, confusing and opaque health insurance purchasing process. Our omnichannel consumer engagement platform differentiates our offering from competitors and enables consumers to use our services online, by telephone with a licensed insurance agent, or benefit advisor, or through a hybrid online assisted interaction that includes live agent chat and co-browsing capabilities. We have created a consumer-centric marketplace that offers consumers a broad choice of insurance products that includes thousands of Medicare Advantage, Medicare Supplement, Medicare Part D prescription drug, individual, family, small business and other ancillary health insurance products from over 180 health insurance carriers nationwide. Our plan recommendation tool curates this broad plan selection by analyzing consumer health-related information against plan data for insurance coverage fit. This tool is supported by a unified data platform and is available to our ecommerce consumers and our benefit advisors. We strive to be the most trusted, unbiased, transparent partner to consumers in their journeys through the health insurance market.

Business Update

In 2024, Medicare Advantage offerings experienced unprecedented disruption as there were plan benefit and premium changes, plan cancellations and market exits due to carriers facing higher medical costs as well as regulatory pressures. This resulted in elevated consumer demand during the fourth quarter Annual Enrollment Period ("AEP") relative to prior years. In 2024, we made a strategic decision to take advantage of this increased consumer demand and invest in significant Medicare enrollment and revenue growth. We were able to accelerate the growth of our Medicare business while also improving profitability due to significant operational improvements we achieved through our multi-year transformation plan, which was completed in 2023.

In 2024, the Company also benefited from the rebrand we launched in October of 2023, which was designed to communicate our differentiated value proposition as a trusted and transparent advisor. We further evolved our brand in 2024 complementing it with audience targeting strategies, expansion of our marketing channel mix and a redesign of our omnichannel platform for a seamless user experience. We believe these initiatives resulted in a significant increase in our brand awareness and in a strong performance of our direct marketing channels, including direct television, mail and paid search. As a result, we significantly improved our lead quality and drove greater telephonic and online conversion rates in 2024. We also invested in further personalizing the consumer experience on our platform including a tailored online experience for returning visitors. Combined with the scaling of our digital marketing channels, this led to a significant increase in our online unassisted Medicare applications compared to 2023.

We continued to focus on our benefit advisors by enhancing their onboarding and training programs, shifting the mix of our telesales capacity towards full-time internal benefit advisors and away from a seasonal advisor staffing model. We also expanded our benefit advisor headcount to take advantage of increased inbound demand. In addition to having a greater number of tenured benefit advisors compared to a year ago, we narrowed the gap between the effectiveness of our new and tenured benefit advisors. We continue to empower our benefit advisors with innovative tools that enhance their productivity and differentiate their services. As part of our

enhanced retention program, which was especially important this past AEP, our benefit advisors reached out to members whose plans we identified would be impacted by plan cancellations or significant benefit or premium changes. These efforts were supported by proprietary online tools such as MatchMonitor™, where members could better understand the expected changes to their coverage against their needs and resulted in a strong pipeline of appointments as we entered this past AEP.

During 2024, our business evolved to include our core agency ("Agency") and carrier-dedicated ("Amplify") models. Our Agency model consists of arrangements where we are the broker of record, while our Amplify model consists of both broker of record arrangements as well as non-broker of record arrangements where we provide business process outsourcing services ("BPO"). Broker of record arrangements generate commission revenue and while we recognize constrained lifetime value ("LTV") of commissions for approved members as revenue at the time applications are approved, our collection of the cash commissions resulting from approved applications generally occurs over a number of years. Our fee-based BPO arrangements generate fee-based revenue, which is recorded in other revenue, and cash is collected in advance or in close proximity to when revenue is recognized.

During the second quarter of 2024, a portion of our Amplify broker of record arrangements converted to fee-based BPO arrangements, which resulted in a reduction in our Medicare approved members and a decrease in the corresponding commission revenue. In contrast, our fee-based BPO arrangements increased, contributing to substantial growth in our other revenue. Even with this shift, during the year ended December 31, 2024, we observed a 21% increase in approved members, which only reflect our broker of record arrangements. Our total Medicare submissions, inclusive of our broker of record and fee-based BPO arrangements, increased 29% for the year ended December 31, 2024 compared to the same period in 2023. Submissions describe applications that are submitted by individuals online through our eHealth platform or completed with the assistance of our benefit advisors, where the individual provides authorization to the benefit advisor to submit the application to the insurance carrier partner. The individual may have additional actions to take before the application will be reviewed by the insurance carrier and not all submissions ultimately become approved members.

Going forward, we plan to remain in a strong competitive position in the market and expect to continue building scaled differentiation within our Medicare Advantage Agency while also pursuing targeted revenue diversification. We plan to continue investing in enrollment quality, member retention, and in our Employer and Individual ("E&I") segment to grow existing products and offerings. We also expect to grow our Medicare Supplement, Individual Health Reimbursement Arrangement ("ICHRA") and ancillary product offerings, as well as our Amplify offerings.

Change in Expense Allocation Methodology

Beginning in the first quarter of 2024, primarily as a result of vacating excess office space, we modified our methodology used in allocating our facilities-related expenses to marketing and advertising, customer care and enrollment and technology and content. As a result, these costs are now reported within the "General and administrative" line in our Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss). We have recast the Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss) for the prior periods presented to conform to our current methodology. This resulted in a classification change of expenses from marketing and advertising, customer care and enrollment and technology and content into general and administrative. There was no impact to total operating costs and expenses, loss from operations, net loss or net loss per share attributable to common stockholders on our Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss).

Summary of Selected Metrics

We rely upon certain metrics to estimate and recognize commission revenue, evaluate our business performance and facilitate strategic planning. Our commission revenue is influenced by a number of factors including but not limited to:

• the number of individuals on applications for Medicare-related, individual and family, small business and ancillary health insurance plans that are approved by the relevant health insurance carriers;

- the number of approved members for Medicare-related, individual and family, small business and ancillary health insurance plans from whom we have received an initial commission payment; and
- the constrained lifetime value ("LTV") of approved members for Medicare-related, individual and family and ancillary health insurance plans we sell, as well as the estimated annual value of approved members for small business plans we sell.

Approved Members

Approved members represent the number of individuals on submitted applications, or submissions, which were approved by the relevant insurance carrier for the identified product during the current period. The applications may be submitted in either the current period or prior periods. Not all approved members ultimately become paying members.

The following table shows approved members by product for the years presented:

	Year Ended Dec	Year Ended December 31,			
	2024	2023	% Change		
Medicare					
Medicare Advantage	366,160	290,712	26 %		
Medicare Supplement	13,822	17,386	(20)%		
Medicare Part D	27,896	29,378	(5)%		
Total Medicare	407,878	337,476	21 %		
Individual and Family	20,671	27,318	(24)%		
Ancillary	51,556	56,789	(9)%		
Small Business	5,351	7,613	(30)%		
Total Approved Members	485,456	429,196	13 %		

2024 compared to 2023 - Total approved members grew 13% in 2024 compared to 2023, driven by:

- a 21% increase in Medicare approved members driven by:
 - a 26% increase in Medicare Advantage approved members, due to a 31% increase in Medicare Advantage broker of record submissions primarily as a result of increased consumer demand due to market disruptions during 2024, the strength of our Company rebrand, increased variable marketing spend and an increased number of benefit advisors with improved telesales conversion rates year-over-year,
 - partially offset by a 20% and 5% decline in Medicare Supplement and Medicare Part D approved members, respectively, primarily caused by the shift of some Medicare Supplement broker of record arrangements to fee-based arrangements within our Amplify platform and a shift away from standalone Medicare Part D plans.
- a 24% and 30% decline in individual and family plan and small business health insurance plan approved members, respectively, primarily due to a decrease in volume as we focused on implementing operational enhancements in our E&I segment; and
- a 9% decline in ancillary approved members primarily due to declines in dental and short-term approved members.

Estimated Constrained Lifetime Value of Commissions Per Approved Member

The following table shows our estimated constrained LTV of commissions per approved member by product for the years presented below:

	Year Ended December 31,					
		2024	2023	% Change		
Medicare (1)(2)	•					
Medicare Advantage	\$	1,088	\$ 1,049	4 %		
Medicare Supplement		1,090	891	22 %		
Medicare Part D		172	220	(22)%		
Individual and Family (1)						
Non-Qualified Health Plans		377	380	(1)%		
Qualified Health Plans		378	370	2 %		
Ancillary (1)						
Short-term Short-term		156	167	(7)%		
Dental		127	109	17 %		
Vision		83	73	14 %		
Small Business (1)		235	230	2 %		

⁽¹⁾ Constrained LTV of commissions per approved member for Medicare, individual and family and ancillary plans represents commissions estimated to be collected over the estimated life of an approved member's plan after applying constraints in accordance with our revenue recognition policy. Constrained LTV of commissions per approved member for small business represents the estimated commissions we expect to collect from the plan over the following twelve months. The estimate is driven by multiple factors, including but not limited to, contracted commission rates, carrier mix, estimated average plan duration, the regulatory environment, cancellations of insurance plans offered by health insurance carriers with which we have a relationship, and applied constraints. The constraints are applied to help ensure that commissions estimated to be collected over the estimated life of an approved member's plan are recognized as revenue only to the extent that it is probable that a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognized will not occur when the uncertainty associated with future commissions receivable from the plan is subsequently resolved. These factors may result in varying values from period to period. For additional information on constrained LTV, see "Critical Accounting Estimates" below.

2024 compared to 2023 – The changes in constrained LTV of commissions per approved member consisted of:

- a 4% increase in Medicare Advantage plans, primarily driven by a decrease in constraint due to a decline in volatility and the
 observed increase in LTV trends as well as an improved ratio of approved members who became paying members, partially
 offset by less favorable retention trends for 2024 cohorts compared to 2023 cohorts;
- a 22% increase in Medicare Supplement plans, primarily due to favorable carrier and contract mix as well as favorable retention;
- a 22% decrease in Medicare Part D plans, primarily driven by unfavorable carrier and contract mix, partially offset by improved retention:
- a 1% decrease in non-qualified health plans primarily driven by unfavorable retention trends;
- a 2% increase in qualified health plans primarily due to favorable carrier and contract mix;
- a 7% decrease in short-term health plans primarily due to unfavorable retention as a result of the regulatory change that decreased term limits for short-term health plans; and
- a 17%, 14% and 2% increase in dental, vision and small business plans, respectively, primarily driven by favorable carrier and contract mix.

The constraints applied to the total estimated lifetime commissions we expect to receive for selling the plan after the carrier approves an application in order to derive the constrained LTV of commissions for approved members recognized for Medicare Advantage, Medicare Supplement and Medicare Part D were 5.5%, 9% and 7%, respectively, for the year ended December 31, 2024 and 7%, 9% and 7%, respectively, for the year ended December 31, 2023.

Estimated Membership

Estimated membership represents the estimated number of members active as of the date indicated based on the number of members for whom we have received or applied a commission payment during the period of estimation as well as the number of approved members during the period of estimation from whom we expect to receive commission payments. There is generally up to a few months lag between newly approved plans and the receipt of commission payments from the health insurance carrier and is most pronounced in the fourth and first quarters of our fiscal year due to the annual and open enrollment periods. A member who purchases and is active on multiple standalone insurance plans will be counted as a member more than once. For example, a member who is active on both an individual and family health insurance plan and a standalone dental plan will be counted as two continuing members.

Health insurance carriers bill and collect insurance premiums paid by our members. The carriers do not report to us the number of members that we have as of a given date. The majority of our members who terminate their policies do so by discontinuing their premium payments to the carrier or notifying the carrier directly and do not inform us of the cancellation. Also, some of our members pay their premiums less frequently than monthly. Given the number of months required to observe non-payment of commissions in order to confirm cancellations, we estimate the number of members who are active on insurance policies as of a specified date.

After we have estimated membership as of a specified date, we may receive information from health insurance carriers that would have impacted the estimate if we had received the information prior to the date of estimation. We may receive commission payments or other information that indicates that a member who was not included in our estimates for a prior period was in fact an active member at that time, or that a member who was included in our estimates was in fact not an active member of ours. For instance, we reconcile information carriers provide to us and may determine that we were not historically paid commissions owed to us, which would cause us to have underestimated membership. Conversely, carriers may require us to return commission payments paid in a prior period due to policy cancellations for members we previously estimated as being active. We do not update our estimated membership numbers reported in previous periods. Instead, we reflect updated information regarding our historical membership in the membership estimate for the current period. If we experience a significant variance in historical membership as compared to our initial estimates, while we keep the prior period data consistent with previously reported amounts, we may provide the updated information in other communications or disclosures. As a result of the delay in our receipt of information from insurance carriers, actual trends in our membership are most discernible over periods longer than from one quarter to the next, making it difficult for us to determine with any certainty the impact of current conditions on our membership retention. Various circumstances could cause the assumptions and estimates that we make in connection with estimating our membership to be inaccurate, which would cause our membership estimates to be inaccurate.

The following table shows estimated membership by product as of the periods presented below:

	As of Decem		
	2024	2023	% Change
Medicare (1)			
Medicare Advantage	690,874	622,896	11 %
Medicare Supplement	96,894	110,826	(13)%
Medicare Part D	210,917	210,876	— %
Total Medicare	998,685	944,598	6 %
Individual and Family (1)	78,452	86,452	(9)%
Ancillary (1)	173,760	180,741	(4)%
Small Business (2)	42,899	46,225	(7)%
Total Estimated Membership	1,293,796	1,258,016	3 %

⁽¹⁾ To estimate the number of members on Medicare-related, individual and family, and ancillary health insurance plans, we take the respective sum of (i) the number of members for whom we have received or applied a commission payment for a month that may be up to three months prior to the date of estimation (after reducing that number using historical experience for assumed member cancellations over the period being estimated); and (ii) the number of approved members over that period (after reducing that number using historical experience for an assumed number of members who do not accept their approved policy and for estimated member cancellations). To the extent we determine through confirmations from a health insurance carrier that a commission payment is delayed

or is inaccurate as of the date of estimation, we adjust the estimated membership to also reflect the number of members for whom we expect to receive or to refund a commission payment. Further, to the extent we have received substantially all of the commission payments related to a given month during the period being estimated, we will take the number of members for whom we have received or applied a commission payment during the month of estimation. For ancillary health insurance plans, the one-to-three-month period varies by insurance product and is largely dependent upon the timeliness of commission payment and related reporting from the related carriers.

(2) To estimate the number of members on small business health insurance plans, we use the number of initial members at the time the group was approved, and we update this number for changes in membership if such changes are reported to us by the group or carrier. However, groups generally notify the carrier directly of policy cancellations and increases or decreases in group size without informing us. Health insurance carriers often do not communicate policy cancellation information or group size changes to us. We often are made aware of policy cancellations and group size changes at the time of annual renewal and update our membership statistics accordingly in the period they are reported.

2024 compared to 2023 - Total estimated membership increased 3% as of December 31, 2024 compared to December 31, 2023 due

to:

- a 6% increase in Medicare estimated membership year over year, driven by:
 - an 11% increase in Medicare Advantage plans, primarily due to an increase in Medicare Advantage approved applications,
 - partially offset by a 13% decrease in Medicare Supplement plans, driven by a decrease in approved members primarily due to the shift of some broker of record arrangements to fee-based arrangement within our Amplify platform, which are not included in estimated membership;
- a 9% decline in individual and family plan estimated membership year over year due to a decrease in non-qualified health plan approved applications;
- a 4% decline in overall ancillary plan estimated membership year over year, primarily due to a decline in approved applications
 across several ancillary products; and
- a 7% decline in small business plan estimated membership year over year, primarily due to a decrease in approved applications.

Member Acquisition

Marketing initiatives are an important component of our strategy to increase revenue and are primarily designed to encourage consumers to complete an application for health insurance. We calculate and evaluate the customer care and enrollment ("CC&E") expense per approved member and the variable marketing cost per approved member. We incur CC&E expenses in assisting applicants during the enrollment process. Variable marketing costs represent costs incurred in member acquisition from our direct marketing and marketing partner channels. Variable marketing costs exclude fixed overhead costs, such as personnel related costs, consulting expenses, and other operating costs allocated to the marketing and advertising department.

The numerator used to calculate each member acquisition metric discussed above is the portion of the respective operating expenses for CC&E and marketing and advertising that is directly related to member acquisition for our sale of Medicare Advantage, Medicare Supplement and Medicare Part D prescription drug plans (collectively, "Medicare Plans") and for all individual and family major medical plans and short-term health insurance plans (collectively, "IFP Plans"), respectively, for which we are the broker of record. The denominator used to calculate each metric is based on a derived metric that represents the relative value of the new members acquired. For Medicare Plans, we call this derived metric Medicare Advantage ("MA")-equivalent approved members, and for IFP Plans, we call this derived metric IFP-equivalent approved members. The calculations for MA-equivalent approved members and for IFP-equivalent approved members are based on the weighted number of approved members for Medicare Plans and IFP Plans during the period, with the number of approved members adjusted based on the relative LTV of the product they are purchasing. Since the LTV for any product fluctuates from period to period, the weight given to each product was determined based on their relative LTVs at the time of our adoption of ASC 606.

The following table shows the CC&E cost per approved member and variable marketing cost per approved member metrics for the periods presented below:

		· 31,			
	2	:024		2023	% Change
Medicare Plans:					
CC&E cost per MA-equivalent approved member (1)	\$	349	\$	443	(21)%
Variable marketing cost per MA-equivalent approved member (1)		406		449	(10)%
Total acquisition cost per MA-equivalent approved member	\$	755	\$	892	(15)%
IFP Plans:					
CC&E cost per IFP-equivalent approved member (2)	\$	256	\$	179	43 %
Variable marketing cost per IFP-equivalent approved member (2)		110		61	80 %
Total acquisition cost per IFP-equivalent approved member	\$	366	\$	240	53 %

⁽¹⁾ We calculate the number of MA-equivalent approved members by adding the total number of approved Medicare Advantage and Medicare Supplement members and 25% of the total number of approved Medicare Part D members during the periods presented.

Medicare Plans

2024 compared to 2023 - Total acquisition cost per MA-equivalent approved member decreased \$137, or 15% driven by:

- a \$94, or 21%, decrease in CC&E cost per MA-equivalent approved member driven by enhanced lead quality and improved conversions due to:
 - efficiencies resulting from a benefit advisor mix that is more tenured when compared to the same period in 2023, and
 - continued optimization of our sales force operations driven by enhanced training protocols and new agent-facing sales tools.
- a \$43, or 10%, decrease in variable marketing cost per MA-equivalent approved member, primarily due to continued efficiencies within our marketing operations.

IFP Plans

2024 compared to 2023 - Total acquisition cost per IFP-equivalent approved member increased \$126, or 53% driven by:

- a \$77, or 43%, increase in CC&E cost per IFP-equivalent due to the overall decline in individual and family plan and short-term
 plan approved members as well as a higher number of benefit advisors than in the same period last year, and
- a \$49, or 80%, increase in variable marketing cost per IFP-equivalent approved member, primarily due to unfavorable channel mix

⁽²⁾ We calculate the number of IFP-equivalent approved members by adding the total number of approved qualified and non-qualified health plan members and 33% of the total number of short-term approved members during the periods presented.

Results of Operations

The following table sets forth our operating results and related percentage of total revenue for the years presented below (dollars in thousands):

	Year Ended December 31,						
		2024		2023			
Revenue:							
Commission	\$	461,647	87 %	\$ 403,924	89 %		
Other		70,763	13 %	48,947	11 %		
Total revenue		532,410	100 %	452,871	100 %		
Operating costs and expenses (1)							
Cost of revenue		1,794	— %	1,771	— %		
Marketing and advertising		190,837	36 %	172,640	38 %		
Customer care and enrollment		163,448	31 %	149,562	33 %		
Technology and content		53,520	10 %	58,609	13 %		
General and administrative		89,765	17 %	99,363	22 %		
Impairment, restructuring and other charges		9,475	2 %		— %		
Total operating costs and expenses		508,839	96 %	481,945	106 %		
Income (loss) from operations		23,571	4 %	(29,074)	(6)%		
Interest expense		(11,159)	(2)%	(10,974)	(2)%		
Other income, net		6,900	1 %	9,453	2 %		
Income (loss) before income taxes		19,312	4 %	(30,595)	(7)%		
Benefit from (provision for) income taxes		9,255	2 %	(2,381)	(1)%		
Net income (loss)	\$	10,057	2 %	\$ (28,214)	(6)%		

⁽¹⁾ Operating costs and expenses include the following amounts of stock-based compensation expense (in thousands):

	 Year Ended December 31,				
	 2024		2023		
Marketing and advertising	\$ 2,413	\$	2,201		
Customer care and enrollment	1,845		2,287		
Technology and content	3,331		4,498		
General and administrative	 12,292		14,227		
Total stock-based compensation expense	\$ 19,881	\$	23,213		

Revenue

Our commission revenue, other revenue and total revenue are summarized as follows (dollars in thousands):

				Chan	ge
2024		2023		\$	%
\$ 461,647	\$	403,924	\$	57,723	14 %
87 %		89 %			
70,763		48,947		21,816	45 %
13 %		11 %			
\$ 532,410	\$	452,871	\$	79,539	18 %
\$	\$ 461,647 87 % 70,763 13 %	\$ 461,647 \$ 87 % 70,763 13 %	\$ 461,647 \$ 403,924 87 % 89 % 70,763 48,947 13 % 11 %	\$ 461,647 \$ 403,924 \$ 87 % 89 % 70,763 48,947 11 %	2024 2023 \$ \$ 461,647 \$ 403,924 \$ 57,723 87 % 89 % 70,763 48,947 21,816 13 % 11 %

2024 compared to 2023 - Commission revenue increased \$57.7 million, or 14%, in 2024 compared to 2023 due to:

- a \$71.9 million, or 20%, increase in commission revenue from the Medicare segment driven by:
 - a 26% increase in Medicare Advantage plan approved members,
 - improved constrained LTV of commissions per approved member for Medicare Advantage and Medicare Supplement plans,
 - partially offset by lower net adjustment revenue from prior period enrollments, which was \$18.7 million in 2024 compared to \$33.5 million in 2023, and
 - decreases in approved membership for both Medicare Supplement and Medicare Part D plans.
- a \$14.2 million, or 32%, decrease in commission revenue from the E&I segment primarily driven by:
 - lower net adjustment revenue from prior period enrollments, which was \$4.1 million in 2024 compared to \$14.5 million in 2023,
 - a 24%, 9% and 30% decrease in individual and family plan, ancillary product and small business approved members, respectively.
 - partially offset by a 17% and 14% improvement in constrained LTV of commissions per approved member for dental and vision plans, respectively.

Other revenue increased \$21.8 million, or 45%, in 2024 compared to 2023. This increase was driven by the expansion of our fee-based BPO arrangements, as well as an increase in sponsorship revenue.

Net adjustment revenue consists of increases in revenue for certain prior period cohorts as well as reductions in revenue for certain prior period cohorts. We recognize positive adjustments to revenue to the extent that it is probable that a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognized will not occur.

See Segment Information below and Note 2 – Revenue in our Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for more information on commission revenue.

Cost of Revenue

Cost of revenue consists of payments related to health insurance plans sold to members who were referred to our website by marketing partners with whom we have revenue-sharing arrangements. In order to enter into a revenue-sharing arrangement, marketing partners must be licensed to sell health insurance in the state where the policy is sold. Costs related to revenue-sharing arrangements are expensed as the related revenue is recognized.

Our cost of revenue is summarized as follows (dollars in thousands):

				Olla	ange
	2024		2023	 \$	%
Cost of revenue	\$ 1,794	\$	1,771	\$ 23	1 %
% of total revenue	<u> </u>	, 0	— %		

2024 compared to 2023 - Cost of revenue remained relatively flat in 2024 compared to 2023.

Marketing and Advertising

Marketing and advertising expenses consist primarily of member acquisition expenses associated with our direct marketing and marketing partner member acquisition channels, in addition to compensation and other expenses related to marketing, business development, partner management, public relations and carrier relations personnel who support our offerings. We recognize expenses in our direct marketing acquisition channel in the period in which they are incurred, including in the period in which the consumer clicks on the advertisement for

direct online channels. We generally compensate our marketing partners for referrals based on the consumer submitting a health insurance application on our platform, regardless of whether the consumer's application is approved by the health insurance carrier, or for the referral of a Medicare-related lead to us by the marketing partner.

Some of our marketing partners have tiered arrangements where the amount we pay the marketing partner per submitted application increases as the volume of submitted applications we receive from the marketing partner increases. We recognize these expenditures in the period when a marketing partner's referral results in the submission of a health insurance application. Increases in submitted applications resulting from marketing partner referrals or visitors to our website from our direct marketing channel has in the past, and could in the future, result in marketing and advertising expenses significantly higher than our expectations.

Our marketing and advertising expenses are summarized as follows (dollars in thousands):

			One	ilige
	2024	2023	\$	%
Marketing and advertising	\$ 190,837	\$ 172,640	\$ 18,197	11 %
% of total revenue	36 %	38 %		

Change

2024 compared to 2023 – Marketing and advertising expenses increased by \$18.2 million, or 11%, in 2024, compared to 2023, primarily driven by a \$16.7 million increase in variable advertising costs and a \$2.5 million increase in personnel related costs, partially offset by a decrease of \$1.1 million in costs related to our Company rebrand, which was primarily completed in 2023. The increase in variable advertising expenses was due to an increased investment in our direct marketing during this past AEP, partially offset by a decrease in affiliate partner channels as we emphasized our highest performing marketing channels.

Customer Care and Enrollment

Customer care and enrollment expenses primarily consist of compensation, benefits, and licensing costs for personnel engaged in assistance to applicants who call our advisor enrollment center and for benefit advisors who assist applicants during the enrollment process.

Our customer care and enrollment expenses are summarized as follows (dollars in thousands):

					Cha	inge
	2024		2023		\$	%
Customer care and enrollment	\$ 163,448	\$	149,562	\$	13,886	9 %
% of total revenue	31 %	D	33 %)		

2024 compared to 2023 – Customer care and enrollment expenses increased by \$13.9 million, or 9%, in 2024 compared to 2023. This increase was primarily due to a \$19.2 million increase in personnel costs associated with a higher number of benefit advisors, partially offset by a decrease of \$4.9 million in consulting expenses.

Technology and Content

Technology and content expenses consist primarily of compensation and benefits costs for personnel associated with developing and enhancing our website technology as well as maintaining our website. A portion of our technology and content group is located at our wholly owned subsidiary in China, where technology development costs are generally lower than in the United States.

Our technology and content expenses are summarized as follows (dollars in thousands):

					Cila	nge
	 2024	_	2023		\$	%
Technology and content	\$ 53,520	\$	58,609	\$	(5,089)	(9)%
% of total revenue	10 %	D	13 %)		

2024 compared to 2023 – Technology and content expenses decreased \$5.1 million, or 9%, in 2024 compared to 2023, primarily due to decreases of \$3.0 million in amortization of internally developed software, \$1.2 million in personnel related costs and \$1.2 million in stock-based compensation expense.

General and Administrative

General and administrative expenses include compensation and benefits costs for personnel working in our executive, finance, investor relations, government affairs, legal, compliance, human resources, facilities and internal information technology departments. These expenses also include fees paid for outside professional services, including audit, tax, legal, government affairs, and information technology fees.

Our general and administrative expenses are summarized as follows (dollars in thousands):

				Cna	inge
	2024		2023	\$	%
General and administrative	\$ 89,765	\$	99,363	\$ (9,598)	(10)%
% of total revenue	17 %)	22 %		

2024 compared to 2023 – General and administrative expenses decreased by \$9.6 million, or 10%, in 2024 compared to 2023, primarily due to decreases of \$3.3 million in facilities and other operating costs, \$2.4 million in personnel related costs due to lower headcount, \$2.1 million in professional fees, and \$1.9 million in stock-based compensation expense.

Impairment, Restructuring and Other Charges

Our impairment, restructuring and other charges consist primarily of severance, transition and other related costs and goodwill and intangible asset impairment charges. Our impairment, restructuring and other charges are summarized as follows (dollars in thousands):

				 Char	nge	
	 2024	_	2023	\$	%	
Impairment, restructuring and other charges	\$ 9,475	\$	_	\$ 9,475		*
% of total revenue	2 %	,)	— %			

^{*} Percentage calculated is not meaningful.

2024 compared to 2023 – We incurred \$9.5 million in impairment, restructuring and other charges for the year ended December 31, 2024 compared to no impairment, restructuring and other charges for the same period in 2023. The charges consisted of \$7.5 million of impairment related to several of our leased office spaces, which included \$7.0 million of operating lease right-of-use asset impairments and \$0.5 million of property and equipment impairments. We also incurred \$2.0 million of restructuring charges which primarily related to employee termination benefits as a result of our continued cost-reduction efforts during the first half of fiscal 2024.

Interest Expense

Interest expense primarily consists of interest expense and amortization of debt issuance costs related to our Credit Agreement. See *Note 12 – Debt* in our *Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements* in Part II, Item 8 of this Form 10-K for more information. Our interest expense is summarized as follows (dollars in thousands):

				nge	
	 2024	 2023		\$	%
Interest expense	\$ (11,159)	\$ (10,974)	\$	(185)	(2)%
% of total revenue	(2)%	(2)%			

2024 compared to 2023 – Interest expense increased by \$0.2 million, or 2%, primarily driven by higher debt issuance cost amortization as a result of entering into a second amendment of our Credit Agreement and a slight increase in debt interest expense as a result of higher interest rates as compared to 2023.

Other Income, Net

Other income, net, primarily consisted of interest income and margin earned on commissions received from Medicare plan members transferred to us in 2010 through 2012 by a broker partner. Our other income, net is summarized as follows (dollars in thousands):

				Cha	inge
	2024		2023	\$	%
Other income, net	\$ 6,900	\$	9,453	\$ (2,553)	(27)%
% of total revenue	1 %	, D	2 %		

2024 compared to 2023 – Other income, net was \$6.9 million in 2024 compared to other income, net of \$9.5 million in 2023. The change was primarily driven by \$1.3 million of third-party fees in 2024 as a result of entering into a second amendment of our Credit Agreement and a decrease of \$1.2 million in interest income as a result of less favorable short-term investment rates.

Provision for (Benefit from) Income Taxes

Our provision for (benefit from) income taxes is summarized as follows (dollars in thousands):

					ange	
	 2024	_	2023		\$	%
Provision for (benefit from) income taxes	\$ 9,255	\$	(2,381)	\$	11,636	(489)%
Effective tax rate	47.9 %	,	78%			

Year Ended December 31, 2024 – For the year ended December 31, 2024, we recorded a provision for income taxes of \$9.3 million representing an effective tax rate of 47.9%. In 2024, the effective tax rate was higher than the statutory tax rate due to stock-based compensation adjustments and state tax, offset by research and development tax credits.

Year Ended December 31, 2023 – For the year ended December 31, 2023, we recorded a benefit from income taxes of \$2.4 million representing an effective tax rate of 7.8%. In 2023, the effective tax rate was lower than the statutory tax rate due to stock-based compensation adjustments and changes to the valuation allowance, offset by state tax and research and development tax credits.

Segment Information

We report segment information based on how our chief executive officer, who is our chief operating decision maker ("CODM"), regularly reviews our operating results, allocates resources, and makes decisions regarding our business operations in the annual budget and forecasting process along with evaluation of actual performance. Our CODM considers budget-to-actual variances on a monthly basis for our segment performance measures when making decisions about allocating capital and personnel to our segments. These performance measures include total segment revenue and segment gross profit (loss). Prior to the fourth quarter of 2024, we reported our measure of segment profitability as segment profit (loss). Accordingly, prior period amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current period presentation, in all material respects.

Our business structure is comprised of two operating segments:

- Medicare: and
- Employer and Individual.

Our CODM does not separately evaluate assets by segment, with the exception of commissions receivable, and therefore assets by segment are not presented.

The Medicare segment consists primarily of commissions earned as the broker of record from our sale of Medicare-related health insurance plans, including Medicare Advantage, Medicare Supplement and Medicare Part D prescription drug plans, and to a lesser extent, ancillary products sold to our Medicare-eligible beneficiaries, including but not limited to, dental and vision plans. Our commissions may include certain bonus payments, which are generally based on attaining predetermined target sales levels or other objectives, as determined by the health insurance carriers. The Medicare segment consists of amounts earned in connection with our advertising programs that allow Medicare-related carriers to purchase advertising on a separate website developed, hosted and maintained by us or pursuant to which we perform other services as marketing and our delivery and sale to third parties of Medicare-related health insurance leads generated by our ecommerce platforms and our marketing activities. The Medicare segment also generates revenue from our fee-based BPO services where we are not the broker of record and cash is collected in advance or in close proximity to when revenue is recognized.

The E&I segment consists primarily of commissions earned from our sale of individual and family plans, including both qualified and non-qualified, small business health insurance plans and ancillary products sold to our non-Medicare-eligible consumers, including but not limited to, dental, vision and short-term insurance. To a lesser extent, the E&I segment includes amounts earned from our online sponsorship program that allows carriers to purchase advertising space in specific markets on our website as well as our technology licensing activities.

Segment gross profit (loss) is calculated as total revenue for the applicable segment less variable marketing and advertising, segment CC&E and cost of revenue for the applicable segment. Variable marketing and advertising expenses represent costs incurred in member acquisition from our direct marketing and marketing partner channels and exclude fixed overhead costs, such as personnel related costs, consulting expenses and other operating costs allocated to the marketing and advertising department. Segment CC&E expenses include expenses we incur in assisting applicants during the enrollment process and exclude operating costs allocated to the CC&E department.

Our operating segment revenue and segment gross profit (loss) are summarized as follows (in thousands):

			Change		
	2024		2023	\$	%
Medicare:					
Total revenue	\$ 500,638	\$	406,467	\$ 94,171	23 %
Variable marketing and advertising	(157,121)		(141,487)	(15,634)	(11)%
Medicare CC&E	(150,613)		(137,910)	(12,703)	(9)%
Cost of revenue	 (1,396)		(1,312)	(84)	(6)%
Medicare segment gross profit	\$ 191,508	\$	125,758	\$ 65,750	52 %
Employer and Individual:					
Total revenue	\$ 31,772	\$	46,404	\$ (14,632)	(32)%
Variable marketing and advertising	(4,321)		(3,304)	(1,017)	(31)%
E&I CC&E	(10,103)		(9,214)	(889)	(10)%
Cost of revenue	 (398)		(459)	61	13 %
E&I segment gross profit	\$ 16,950	\$	33,427	\$ (16,477)	(49)%
Consolidated:					
Total revenue	\$ 532,410	\$	452,871	\$ 79,539	18 %
Variable marketing and advertising	(161,442)		(144,791)	(16,651)	(12)%
Segment CC&E	(160,716)		(147,124)	(13,592)	(9)%
Cost of revenue	(1,794)		(1,771)	(23)	(1)%
Total segment gross profit	\$ 208,458	\$	159,185	\$ 49,273	31 %

Change

A reconciliation of our segment gross profit (loss) to the Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss) for the periods presented is as follows (in thousands):

	 Year Ended December 31,				
	2024		2023		
Total segment gross profit	\$ 208,458	\$	159,185		
Other marketing and advertising (1)	(29,395)		(27,849)		
Other CC&E (2)	(2,732)		(2,438)		
Technology and content	(53,520)		(58,609)		
General and administrative	(89,765)		(99,363)		
Impairment, restructuring and other charges	(9,475)		_		
Interest expense	(11,159)		(10,974)		
Other income, net	 6,900		9,453		
Income (loss) before income taxes	\$ 19,312	\$	(30,595)		

Other marketing and advertising costs consist of fixed marketing and advertising, previously capitalized labor, depreciation and share-based compensation costs.

⁽²⁾ Other CC&E costs consist of previously capitalized labor, depreciation and share-based compensation costs.

Medicare Segment

2024 compared to 2023 – Revenue from our Medicare segment increased \$94.2 million, or 23%, in 2024 compared to 2023, primarily driven by:

- a \$71.9 million increase in Medicare segment commission revenue due to:
 - a \$59.1 million increase in Medicare Advantage plan commission revenue, driven by 26% growth in Medicare Advantage plan approved members and improved constrained LTV of commissions per approved Medicare Advantage member.
 - partially offset by lower net adjustment revenue which was \$18.7 million in 2024 compared to \$33.5 million in 2023.
- a \$19.8 million increase in Medicare segment fee-based revenue driven by growth in our fee-based BPO arrangements.

Our Medicare segment gross profit was \$191.5 million in 2024, an increase of \$65.8 million or 52%, compared to 2023 segment gross profit of \$125.8 million driven by:

- a \$94.2 million increase in Medicare segment revenue,
- partially offset by increases of \$15.6 million in variable marketing and advertising expenses and \$12.7 million in segment CC&E expenses primarily due to the continued execution on our initiatives to attract and retain beneficiaries in 2024, including having a larger group of benefit advisors compared to 2023.

Employer and Individual Segment

2024 compared to 2023 – Revenue from our E&I segment decreased \$14.6 million, or 32%, in 2024 compared to 2023, primarily driven by a \$14.2 million decrease in commission revenue as a result of:

- lower net adjustment revenue year-over-year, which was \$4.1 million in 2024 compared to \$14.5 million in 2023; and
- a 24%, 9% and 30% decline in individual and family plan, ancillary plan and small business plan approved members, respectively, compared to the same period in 2023.

Our E&I segment gross profit was \$17.0 million in 2024, a decrease of \$16.5 million, or 49%, compared to 2023 primarily driven by:

- · a \$14.6 million decrease in E&I segment revenue; and
- increases of \$1.0 million in variable marketing and advertising and \$0.9 million in segment CC&E expenses mostly attributable to investments in our operational enhancements for our E&I segment that are underway.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

As of December 31, 2024, we had cash, cash equivalents and short-term marketable securities of \$82.2 million. During the year ended December 31, 2024, our operating cash outflow was \$18.4 million, as summarized below. We have historically financed our operations primarily through cash generated from our operations, equity issuances and debt financing. Our principal uses of cash in recent periods have been funding working capital, purchases of short-term investments, the satisfaction of tax withholding obligations in connection with the settlement of restricted stock units, making payments on our operating lease obligations and service and licensing obligations and complying with our debt servicing requirements and preferred stock dividend payment obligations.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Our cash, cash equivalents, and short-term marketable securities are summarized as follows (in thousands):

	December 31, 2024			December 31, 2023		
Cash and cash equivalents	\$	39,197	\$	115,722		
Short-term marketable securities		43,043		5,930		
Total cash, cash equivalents, and short-term marketable securities	\$	82,240	\$	121,652		

Cash equivalents, which are comprised of financial instruments with an original maturity of 90 days or less from the date of purchase, primarily consist of commercial paper, money market funds and agency bonds. We also maintained \$3.1 million in restricted cash as of December 31, 2024 and 2023.

Material Cash Requirements

Our material cash requirements include our operating leases and service and licensing obligations. See *Note 10 – Leases* in our *Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements* for details of our operating lease obligations. We have entered into service and licensing agreements with third-party vendors to provide various services, including network access, equipment maintenance and software licensing. The terms of these services and licensing agreements are generally up to three years. We record the related service and licensing expenses on a straight-line basis, although actual cash payment obligations under certain of these agreements fluctuate over the terms of the agreements. See *Note 8 – Commitments and Contingencies* in our *Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements*.

Short-term obligations were \$9.2 million for leases and \$8.2 million for service and licensing as of December 31, 2024. Long-term obligations were \$22.8 million for leases and \$4.8 million for service and licensing as of December 31, 2024. We expect to fund these obligations through our existing cash and cash equivalents and cash generated from operations.

Convertible Preferred Stock

Pursuant to an investment agreement dated February 17, 2021 with Echelon Health SPV, LP ("H.I.G.") (the "H.I.G. Investment Agreement"), we issued and sold 2,250,000 shares of Series A convertible preferred stock ("Series A Preferred Stock") at an aggregate purchase price of \$225.0 million to H.I.G. in a private placement and received \$214.0 million net proceeds on April 30, 2021. During the year ended December 31, 2024, we paid cash dividends in the aggregate amount of \$5.6 million. The H.I.G. Investment Agreement also provides certain redemption rights on or after April 2027. In addition, the Company is required to maintain an Asset Coverage Ratio (as defined in the H.I.G. Investment Agreement) of at least 2.5x (the "Minimum Asset Coverage Ratio") and a Minimum Liquidity Amount (as defined in the H.I.G. Investment Agreement). Failure to maintain the Minimum Asset Coverage Ratio or the Minimum Liquidity Amount as of the date or the time period required by the H.I.G. Investment Agreement, for as long as H.I.G. continues to own at least 30% of the Series A Preferred Stock originally issued to it in the private placement, entitles H.I.G., subject to the conditions and restrictions specified therein, to additional rights, including the right to nominate one additional member to the Company's Board of Directors, the right to approve the Company's annual budget, the right to approve hiring or termination of certain key executives and the right to approve the incurrence of certain indebtedness. See *Note 6 – Convertible Preferred Stock* in our *Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements* for more information.

As of September 30, 2023, we failed to maintain the Minimum Asset Coverage Ratio, which entitles H.I.G. to the additional rights set forth above. On March 13, 2024, the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee of our Board of Directors approved the appointment of a board observer designated by H.I.G. As of November 30, 2024, we were no longer in compliance with the Minimum Liquidity Amount. The non-compliance with the Minimum Asset Coverage Ratio or the Minimum Liquidity Amount does not entitle H.I.G. to accelerate the redemption of the

Series A Preferred Stock nor is it expected to materially impact our ability to generate and obtain adequate amounts of cash to meet our short-term or long-term requirements.

Term Loan Credit Agreement

On February 28, 2022, we entered into a term loan credit agreement providing for a \$70.0 million secured term loan credit facility with Blue Torch Finance LLC, as administrative agent and collateral agent, and other lenders party thereto (the "Original Credit Agreement), which agreement was subsequently amended on August 16, 2022 (the "First Amendment") to update our borrowing benchmark from LIBOR to SOFR (as amended by the First Amendment, the "First Amended Credit Agreement"). On November 1, 2024, we entered into a second amendment (the "Second Amendment") to the First Amended Credit Agreement (as amended by the Second Amendment, the "Credit Agreement") which extends the maturity date of the Credit Agreement from February 2025 to February 2026 and, among other things, reduces the overall interest rate of the term loan beginning on the effective date of the Second Amendment. The outstanding obligations under the Credit Agreement are payable in full on the maturity date. As part of the Credit Agreement, we incur a \$0.3 million fee per annum, payable annually. The loans under the Credit Agreement bear interest, at our option, at either a rate based on the Adjusted Term SOFR or a base rate, in each case plus a margin. The base rate is the highest of the prime rate, the federal funds rate plus 0.50% and the three-month Adjusted Term SOFR plus 1.00%. The Second Amendment reduced the margin from 7.50% to 7.00% for Adjusted Term SOFR loans and from 6.50% to 6.00% for base rate loans. As of December 31, 2024, the interest rate was 11.78%. For the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, we incurred interest expense of \$9.2 million and \$9.1 million, respectively. As of December 31, 2024, the carrying value of the loan under the Credit Agreement was \$68.5 million and we were in compliance with our loan covenants. See *Note 12 – Debt* in our *Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements* for additional information regarding the Credit Agreement.

Availability and Use of Cash

We believe our current cash, cash equivalents and short-term marketable securities, including the proceeds from the equity financing we obtained on April 30, 2021 under the H.I.G. Investment Agreement and the term loan we obtained on February 28, 2022 under the Credit Agreement, and expected cash collections will be sufficient to fund our operations for at least 12 months after the filing date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Our future capital requirements will depend on many factors, including our enrollment volume, membership, retention rates, telesales conversion rates, and our level of investment in technology and content, marketing and advertising, customer care and enrollment, and other initiatives. In addition, our cash position could be impacted by the level of investments we make to pursue our strategy. To the extent that available funds are insufficient to fund our future activities or to execute our financial strategy, we may raise additional capital through bank debt, or public or private capital financing to the extent such funding sources are available. In the event that additional financing is required from outside sources, we may not be able to raise it on terms acceptable to us or at all.

Cash Activities

Our cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 are summarized as follows (in thousands):

	Year Ended December 31,					
	 2024		2023			
Net cash used in operating activities	\$ (18,366)	\$	(6,692)			
Net cash used in investing activities	(48,421)		(15,893)			
Net cash used in financing activities	(9 674)		(6 224)			

Operating Activities

Net cash used in operating activities primarily consists of net income (loss), adjusted for certain non-cash items, including deferred income taxes, stock-based compensation expense, depreciation and amortization, amortization of intangible assets and internally developed software, other non-cash items, and the effect of changes in working capital and other activities.

Collection of commissions receivable depends upon the timing of our receipt of commission payments and associated commission reports from health insurance carriers. If we were to experience a delay in receiving a commission payment from a significant health insurance carrier within a quarter, our operating cash flows for that quarter could be adversely impacted.

While we recognize constrained LTV as revenue at the time applications are approved, our collection of the cash commissions resulting from approved applications generally occurs over a number of years. The expense associated with approved applications, however, is generally incurred at the time of enrollment. As a result, the net cash flow resulting from approved applications is generally negative in the period of revenue recognition and becomes positive over the lifetime of the member. In periods of membership growth, cash receipts associated with new and continuing members may be less than the cash outlays to acquire new members.

Our fee-based BPO arrangements generate fee-based revenue, which is recorded in other revenue, and cash is collected in advance or in close proximity to when revenue is recognized.

Year Ended December 31, 2024 – Net cash used in operating activities of \$18.4 million during 2024 was primarily driven by changes in net operating assets and liabilities of \$81.7 million, partially offset by adjustments for non-cash items of \$53.3 million and net income of \$10.1 million. Cash used from changes in net operating assets and liabilities during 2024 primarily consisted of increases of \$81.9 million in contract assets – commissions receivable, \$12.8 million in accounts receivable and \$4.2 million in prepaid expenses, partially offset by a decrease of \$16.2 million in accounts payable. Adjustments for non-cash items primarily consisted of \$19.9 million of stock-based compensation expense, \$14.4 million of amortization of internally developed software, \$9.2 million in deferred income taxes, \$7.5 million of impairment charges and \$2.0 million in depreciation and amortization expense.

Year Ended December 31, 2023 – Net cash used in operating activities of \$6.7 million during 2023 was, primarily driven by a net loss of \$28.2 million and changes in net operating assets and liabilities of \$19.6 million, partially offset by adjustments for non-cash items of \$41.2 million. Cash used from changes in net operating assets and liabilities during 2023 primarily consisted of increases of \$33.6 million in contract assets – commissions receivable and \$1.9 million in prepaid expenses as well as a decrease of \$3.4 million in accrued marketing expenses, partially offset by increases of \$20.1 million in accrued compensation and benefits. Adjustments for non-cash items primarily consisted of \$23.2 million of stock-based compensation expense and \$17.4 million of amortization of internally developed software and \$2.5 million in depreciation and amortization expense, partially offset by \$2.7 million in deferred income taxes.

Investing Activities

Our investing activities primarily consist of purchases and redemption of marketable securities, purchases of computer hardware and software to enhance our website and advisor enrollment center operations, capitalized internal-use software and security deposit payments.

Year Ended December 31, 2024 – Net cash used in investing activities of \$48.4 million during 2024 mainly consisted of \$97.0 million used to purchase marketable securities and \$10.8 million of capitalized internal-use software and website development costs, partially offset by \$61.4 million of proceeds from redemption and maturities of marketable securities.

Year Ended December 31, 2023 – Net cash used in investing activities of \$15.9 million during 2023 mainly consisted of \$54.5 million used to purchase marketable securities and \$8.7 million of capitalized internal-use software and website development costs, partially offset by \$49.4 million of proceeds from redemption and maturities of marketable securities.

Financing Activities

Year Ended December 31, 2024 – Net cash used in financing activities of \$9.7 million during 2024 was primarily attributable to \$5.6 million of preferred stock cash dividends, \$3.4 million of cash used for share repurchases to satisfy employee tax withholding obligations and \$1.1 million for payment of debt issuance costs.

Year Ended December 31, 2023 – Net cash used in financing activities of \$6.2 million during 2023 was primarily attributable to \$3.5 million of preferred stock cash dividends and \$3.3 million of cash used for share repurchases to satisfy employee tax withholding obligations.

See Note 6 – Convertible Preferred Stock in our Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for information regarding our preferred stock transaction in 2021. We also had \$3.1 million and \$3.1 million in restricted cash as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, we had a total of 13.4 million and 12.8 million shares held in treasury stock, respectively. This included 2.7 million and 2.1 million shares, respectively, as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 that were repurchased to satisfy tax withholding obligations and 10.7 million shares previously repurchased as of December 31, 2024 and 2023.

Seasonality

See Item 1, Business – Seasonality, for information regarding seasonal impacts on our business and financial condition and results of operations.

Critical Accounting Estimates

The preparation of financial statements and related disclosures in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles ("U.S. GAAP") requires us to make judgments, assumptions and estimates that affect the amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements and the accompanying notes. These estimates and assumptions are based on current facts, historical experience and various other factors that we believe are reasonable under the circumstances to determine reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses that are not readily apparent from other sources. To the extent there are material differences between our estimates and the actual results, our future consolidated results of comprehensive loss may be affected.

Among our significant accounting policies, which are described in *Note 1 – Summary of Business and Significant Accounting Policies* in our *Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements*, the following accounting policies and specific estimates involve a greater degree of judgments and complexity:

- · Revenue recognition and contract assets commissions receivable;
- · Stock-based compensation; and
- Accounting for income taxes.

During the year ended December 31, 2024, there were no significant changes to our critical accounting policies and estimates.

Revenue Recognition and Contract Assets - Commissions Receivable

Commission Revenue – Our commission revenue results from approval of a submitted application from health insurance carriers, which we define as our customers under ASC 606. Our commission revenue is primarily comprised of commissions from health insurance carriers which is computed using the estimated constrained lifetime value ("LTV") of commission payments that we expect to receive after the health insurance carrier approves the application, net of an estimated constraint. We estimate commission revenue for each insurance product by

using a portfolio approach to a group of approved members by plan type and the effective month of the relevant plan, which we refer to as "cohorts".

We estimate the commissions we expect to collect by evaluating various factors, including but not limited to estimating conversion of an approved member to a paying member, forecasting average plan duration and forecasting the commission amounts likely to be received per member. These assumptions are based on our analysis of historical trends for the different cohorts and incorporate management's judgment in interpreting those trends to apply the constraints discussed below. The estimated average plan duration used to calculate Medicare health insurance plan LTVs historically has been approximately 2 to 5 years, while the estimated average plan duration used to calculate the LTV for major medical individual and family health insurance plans historically has been approximately 1.5 to 2 years. We provide annual services in selling and renewing small business health insurance plans; therefore, we recognize small business health insurance plan commission revenue at the time the plan is approved by the carrier, and when it renews each year thereafter, equal to the estimated commissions we expect to collect from the plan over the following 12 months.

We determine the constraint for each product by comparing cash collection patterns to our assumptions and analyze the drivers for variations. We then apply judgment in assessing whether the difference between historical cash collections and LTV is representative of differences that can be expected in future periods. We also analyze whether circumstances have changed and consider any known or potential modifications to the inputs into LTV in light of the factors that can impact the amount of cash expected to be collected in future periods including but not limited to commission rates, carrier mix, plan duration, changes in laws and regulations and cancellations of insurance plans offered by health insurance carriers with which we have a relationship. We evaluate the appropriateness of our constraints on an annual basis, and we update our assumptions when we observe a sufficient amount of evidence that would suggest that the long-term expectation underlying the assumptions has changed. To the extent we make changes to the assumptions we use to calculate constrained LTVs, we recognize any material impact of the changes to commission revenue in the reporting period in which the change is made, including revisions of estimated lifetime commissions either below or in excess of previously estimated constrained LTV recognized as revenue.

We recognize revenue for members approved during the period by applying the latest estimated constrained LTV for that product. We recognize adjustment revenue for members approved in prior periods when our cash collections are different from the estimated constrained LTVs. Adjustment revenue is a result of a change in estimate of expected cash collections when actual cash collections have indicated a trend that is different from the estimated constrained LTV for the revenue recognized at the time of approval. Adjustment revenue can be positive or negative and we recognize adjustment revenue when we do not believe there is a probable reversal. We assess the risk of reversal based on statistical analysis given historical information and consideration of the constraints used at the time of approval. Adjustment revenue can have a significant favorable or unfavorable impact on our revenue and we seek to enhance our LTV estimation models to improve the accuracy and to reduce the fluctuations of our LTV estimates. Contract assets - commissions receivable represent the variable consideration for policies that have not renewed yet and therefore are subject to the same assumptions, judgements and estimates used when recognizing revenue as noted above.

Stock-Based Compensation

We recognize stock-based compensation expense in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss) ratably based on the fair value of our stock-based awards over their respective requisite service periods, typically the vesting period, which is generally three to four years for service-based awards for employees and one year for outside directors or the one-year anniversary of achieving performance criteria for performance-based awards. Stock-based compensation expense is recognized net of estimated forfeitures. We estimate a forfeiture rate to calculate the stock-based compensation for all of our awards. We evaluate the appropriateness of the forfeiture rate based on historical forfeiture, analysis of employee turnover, and other factors. Forfeitures are estimated at the time of grant and revised, if necessary, in subsequent periods if actual forfeitures differ from those estimates.

The estimated attainment of performance-based awards and related expense is based on the achievement of certain financial targets over a predetermined performance period, subject to the discretion of the Company's

compensation committee. The estimated grant date fair value of market-based performance awards is determined using the Monte-Carlo simulation model and requires the input of subjective assumptions. The estimated fair value for non-market-based performance stock units is estimated on the date of grant based on the current market price of our common shares. The estimated grant date fair value of our stock options is determined using the Black-Scholes-Merton pricing model and a single option award approach. The weighted-average expected term for stock options granted is calculated using historical option exercise behavior. The dividend yield is determined by dividing the expected per share dividend during the coming year by the grant date stock price. Through December 31, 2024, we had not declared or paid any cash dividends to common stockholders, and we do not expect to pay any in the foreseeable future. We base the risk-free interest rate on the implied yield currently available on U.S. Treasury zero-coupon issues with a remaining term equal to the expected term of our stock options. Expected volatility is determined using a combination of the implied volatility of publicly traded options in our stock and historical volatility of our stock price. The assumptions used in calculating the fair value of stock-based payment awards and expected attainment of performance-based awards represent our best estimates, but these estimates involve inherent uncertainties and the application of management judgment. We will continue to use judgment in evaluating the expected term and volatility related to our own stock-based awards on a prospective basis and incorporating these factors into the model. Changes in key assumptions could significantly impact the valuation of such instruments.

Accounting for Income Taxes

We account for income taxes using the liability method. Deferred income taxes are determined based on the differences between the financial reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities, using enacted statutory tax rates in effect for the year in which the differences are expected to reverse.

Since tax laws and financial accounting standards differ in their recognition and measurement of assets, liabilities, equity, revenue, expenses, gains and losses, differences arise between the amount of taxable income and pretax financial income for a year and between the tax bases of assets or liabilities and their reported amounts in our financial statements. Because we assume that the reported amounts of assets and liabilities will be recovered and settled, respectively, a difference between the tax basis of an asset or a liability and its reported amount in the balance sheet will result in a taxable or a deductible amount in some future years when the related liabilities are settled or the reported amounts of the assets are recovered, which gives rise to a deferred tax asset or liability. We must then assess the likelihood that our deferred tax assets will be recovered from future taxable income and to the extent we believe that recovery does not meet the more likely than not criteria, we must establish a valuation allowance. Management judgment is required in determining any valuation allowance recorded against our net deferred tax assets.

As part of the process of preparing our consolidated financial statements, we are required to estimate our income taxes. This process involves estimating our actual current tax expense together with assessing temporary differences that may result in deferred tax assets.

Assessing the realizability of our deferred tax assets is dependent upon several factors, including the likelihood and amount, if any, of future taxable income in relevant jurisdictions during the periods in which those temporary differences become deductible. We forecast taxable income by considering all available positive and negative evidence, including our history of operating income and losses and our financial plans and estimates that we use to manage the business. These assumptions require significant judgment about future taxable income. As a result, the amount of deferred tax assets considered realizable is subject to adjustment in future periods if estimates of future taxable income change.

Future changes in various factors, such as the amount of stock-based compensation we record during the period and the related tax benefit we realize upon the exercise of employee stock options, potential limitations on the use of our federal and state net operating loss credit carry forwards, pending or future tax law changes including rate changes and the tax benefit from or limitations on our ability to utilize research and development credits, the amount of non-deductible lobbying and acquisition-related costs, changes in our valuation allowance and state and foreign taxes, would impact our estimates. As a result, this could affect our effective tax rate and the amount of income tax expense we record, and pay, in future periods.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

See Note 1 – Summary of Business and Significant Accounting Policies in our Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for the recently issued accounting standards that could have an effect on us.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

As a "smaller reporting company," as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act, we are not required to provide the information called for by this Item.

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

Index to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm (PCAOB ID: 42)	73
Consolidated Balance Sheets	75
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss)	76
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity	77
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows	78
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements	79

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Stockholders and the Board of Directors of eHealth, Inc.

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of eHealth, Inc. (the Company) as of December 31, 2024, and 2023, the related consolidated statements of comprehensive income (loss), stockholders' equity and cash flows for each of the two years in the period ended December 31, 2024, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the "consolidated financial statements"). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company at December 31, 2024 and 2023, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the two years in the period ended December 31, 2024, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2024, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 framework), and our report dated February 27, 2025 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company's financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Critical Audit Matter

The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current period audit of the financial statements that was communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relates to accounts or disclosures that are material to the financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, subjective or complex judgments. The communication of the critical audit matter does not alter in any way our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below, providing a separate opinion on the critical audit matter or on the accounts or disclosures to which it relates.

Revenue recognition: Estimated constrained lifetime value of commission revenue

Description of the Matter

The Company recognized commission revenue of approximately \$461.6 million in 2024 and related commissions receivable were approximately \$1,000 million at December 31, 2024. As described in Notes 1 and 2 to its consolidated financial statements, the Company's commission revenue is recognized as the amount of the total estimated lifetime value ("LTV") of the commissions expected to be received when a member obtains a plan through the Company and is approved by a carrier.

Auditing management's determination of the LTV of commission revenue was especially complex and highly judgmental due to the complexity of the models used and the subjectivity required by the Company to estimate the amount and timing of future cash flows, calculate the amount of commission revenue that is probable of not being reversed, and determine the timing and amount of any adjustment revenue that results from changes in the estimates of previously recorded LTV. The Company utilizes statistical tools and methodologies to estimate member attrition, which is a key driver when estimating the amount and timing of future cash flows and can be particularly volatile during the first several years. To determine the initial constraint to be applied to LTV, the Company evaluates the difference between prior estimates of LTV and actual cash received and applies judgment to determine the constraint to apply. For the ongoing evaluation of the constraint, the Company also analyzes whether circumstances have changed and considers any known or potential modifications to the inputs into LTV and the factors that can impact the amount of cash expected to be collected in future periods such as commission rates, carrier mix, estimated average plan duration, changes in laws and regulations, and cancellations of insurance plans offered by health insurance carriers with which the Company has a relationship. The Company also compares actual versus expected cash collections of previously recorded LTV and assesses qualitative and quantitative factors to determine whether adjustment revenue should be recognized and, if so, the amount and timing of such.

How We Addressed the Matter in Our Audit We obtained an understanding, evaluated the design, and tested the operating effectiveness of controls over the Company's process to estimate the amount and timing of future cash flows and LTV. These processes and controls include those covering the models and methods used to calculate LTV, the use of management judgment to determine the constraint applied to LTV, management's evaluation of any required adjustments to previously recorded LTV estimates, and the completeness and accuracy of the data used in such estimates and calculations.

Our audit procedures also included, among others, evaluating the methodologies used and significant assumptions discussed above, and testing the completeness and accuracy of the underlying data used by the Company. We involved our valuation specialists to assist in our testing of the estimated average plan duration, which includes member attrition assumptions, including performing certain corroborative calculations. We inspected and compared the results of the Company's retrospective review analysis of historical estimates for certain plan effective years to historical cash collection experience, including reperforming the calculations and validating the completeness and accuracy of the underlying data used. In addition, we performed inquiries of key personnel regarding their evaluation of changes to LTV, the adjustments made to the constraint for current and expected future economic conditions, and any decisions on the timing and amount of adjustment revenue recognized. We also reviewed analyst reports, press releases, and other relevant third-party and/or industry trends data for contrary evidence including competitor data.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

We have served as the Company's auditor since 2000.

San Francisco, California February 27, 2025

EHEALTH, INC. CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(In thousands, except per share amounts)

	December 31, 2024			December 31, 2023			
Assets							
Current assets:	•	00.40=		445 700			
Cash and cash equivalents	\$	39,197	\$	115,722			
Short-term marketable securities		43,043		5,930			
Accounts receivable		16,807		3,993			
Contract assets – commissions receivable – current		242,467		244,663			
Prepaid expenses and other current assets		12,961		12,044			
Total current assets		354,475		382,352			
Contract assets – commissions receivable – non-current		757,523		673,514			
Property and equipment, net		4,437		4,864			
Operating lease right-of-use assets		12,081		22,767			
Restricted cash		3,090		3,090			
Other assets		23,819		26,758			
Total assets	\$	1,155,425	\$	1,113,345			
Liabilities, convertible preferred stock and stockholders' equity							
Current liabilities:							
Accounts payable	\$	23,448	\$	7,197			
Accrued compensation and benefits	Ψ	43,888	Ψ	40,800			
Accrued marketing expenses		16.612		20.340			
Lease liabilities – current		7.732		7.070			
Other current liabilities		4,331		3,131			
Total current liabilities		96,011		78,538			
Long-term debt		68,458		67,754			
Deferred income taxes – non-current		38.870		29,687			
Lease liabilities – non-current		20,731		28,333			
Other non-current liabilities				•			
		5,418		4,949			
Total liabilities		229,488		209,261			
Commitments and contingencies (Note 8)							
Convertible preferred stock, par value \$0.001 per share; 2,250 issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2024 and 2023		337,509		298,053			
Stockholders' equity:							
Preferred stock, par value \$0.001 per share, other than convertible preferred stock; 7,750 authorized; none issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2024 and 2023		_		_			
Common stock, par value \$0.001 per share; 100,000 authorized; 43,225 and 41,457 issued as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively; 29,846 and 28,629 outstanding as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively		43		41			
Additional paid-in capital		773,371		798,786			
Treasury stock, at cost: 13,379 and 12,828 shares as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively		(199,998)		(199,998)			
Retained earnings		15,246		7,284			
Accumulated other comprehensive loss		(234)		(82)			
Total stockholders' equity		588.428		606.031			
	•	, -	•	,			
Total liabilities, convertible preferred stock and stockholders' equity	\$	1,155,425	\$	1,113,345			

EHEALTH, INC. CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

(In thousands, except per share amounts)

	Year Ended December 31,				
	 2024		2023		
Revenue					
Commission	\$ 461,647	\$	403,924		
Other	70,763		48,947		
Total revenue	532,410		452,871		
Operating costs and expenses					
Cost of revenue	1,794		1,771		
Marketing and advertising	190,837		172,640		
Customer care and enrollment	163,448		149,562		
Technology and content	53,520		58,609		
General and administrative	89,765		99,363		
Impairment, restructuring and other charges	 9,475				
Total operating costs and expenses	 508,839		481,945		
Income (loss) from operations	23,571		(29,074)		
Interest expense	(11,159)		(10,974)		
Other income, net	6,900		9,453		
Income (loss) before income taxes	19,312		(30,595)		
Provision for (benefit from) income taxes	 9,255		(2,381)		
Net income (loss)	10,057		(28,214)		
Preferred stock dividends	(22,249)		(20,965)		
Change in preferred stock redemption value	 (22,768)		(17,336)		
Net loss attributable to common stockholders	\$ (34,960)	\$	(66,515)		
Net loss per share attributable to common stockholders:					
Basic and diluted	\$ (1.19)	\$	(2.37)		
Weighted-average number of shares used in per share amounts:					
Basic and diluted	29,335		28,016		
Comprehensive income (loss):					
Net income (loss)	\$ 10,057	\$	(28,214)		
Unrealized holding gain on available for sale debt securities, net of tax	55		10		
Foreign currency translation adjustments	 (207)		(19)		
Comprehensive income (loss)	\$ 9,905	\$	(28,223)		

EHEALTH, INC. CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

(In thousands)

	Commo	on Stock	Additional	Treasu	ury Stock		Accumulated Other	Total
	Shares	Amount	Paid-in Capital	Shares	Amount	Retained Earnings	Comprehensive Loss	Stockholders' Equity
Balance as of December 31, 2022	39,977	\$ 40	\$777,187	12,415	\$ (199,998)	\$ 73,799	\$ (73)	\$ 650,955
Issuance of common stock in connection with equity incentive plans	1,338	1	_	_	_	_	_	1
Repurchase of shares to satisfy employee tax withholding obligations	_	_	(3,331)	413	_	_	_	(3,331)
Dividends and accretion related to convertible preferred stock	_	_	_	_	_	(38,301)	_	(38,301)
Issuance of common stock for employee stock purchase program	142	_	677	_	_	_	_	677
Stock-based compensation	_	_	24,253	_	_	_	_	24,253
Other comprehensive loss, net of tax	_	_	_	_	_	_	(9)	(9)
Net loss	_	_	_	_	_	(28,214)	_	(28,214)
Balance as of December 31, 2023	41,457	\$ 41	\$798,786	12,828	\$ (199,998)	\$ 7,284	\$ (82)	\$ 606,031
Issuance of common stock in connection with equity incentive plans	1,687	2	_	_	_	_	_	2
Repurchase of shares to satisfy employee tax withholding obligations	_	_	(3,415)	551	_	_	_	(3,415)
Dividends and accretion related to convertible preferred stock	_	_	(42,922)	_	_	(2,095)	_	(45,017)
Issuance of common stock for employee stock purchase program	81	_	354	_	_	_	_	354
Stock-based compensation	_	_	20,568	_	_	_	_	20,568
Other comprehensive loss, net of tax	_	_	_	_	_	_	(152)	(152)
Net income						10,057		10,057
Balance as of December 31, 2024	43,225	\$ 43	\$ 773,371	13,379	\$ (199,998)	\$ 15,246	\$ (234)	\$ 588,428

EHEALTH, INC. CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(In thousands)

	Year Ended December 31,							
		2024		2023				
Operating activities:								
Net income (loss)	\$	10,057	\$	(28,214)				
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by operating activities:								
Depreciation and amortization		1,983		2,540				
Amortization of internally developed software		14,355		17,376				
Stock-based compensation expense		19,881		23,213				
Deferred income taxes		9,183		(2,672)				
Impairment charges		7,479		_				
Other non-cash items		429		701				
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:								
Accounts receivable		(12,814)		(1,361)				
Contract assets – commissions receivable		(81,917)		(33,594)				
Prepaid expenses and other assets		(4,206)		(1,948)				
Accounts payable		16,173		487				
Accrued compensation and benefits		3,087		20,110				
Accrued marketing expenses		(3,728)		(3,430)				
Deferred revenue		1,411		1,278				
Accrued expenses and other liabilities		261		(1,178)				
Net cash used in operating activities		(18,366)		(6,692)				
Investing activities:								
Capitalized internal-use software and website development costs		(10,762)		(8,693)				
Purchases of property and equipment and other assets		(2,094)		(2,086)				
Purchases of marketable securities		(96,985)		(54,514)				
Proceeds from redemption and maturities of marketable securities		61,420		49,400				
Net cash used in investing activities		(48,421)		(15,893)				
Financing activities:								
Payment of debt issuance costs		(1,050)		_				
Net proceeds from exercise of common stock options and employee stock purchases		354		677				
Repurchase of shares to satisfy employee tax withholding obligations		(3,413)		(3,330)				
Principal payments in connection with leases		(4)		(38)				
Payments of preferred stock dividends		(5,561)		(3,533)				
Net cash used in financing activities	·	(9,674)		(6,224)				
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash		(64)	-	(19)				
Net decrease in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash		(76,525)		(28,828)				
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at beginning of period		118,812		147,640				
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at end of period	\$	42,287	\$	118,812				
Supplemental disclosure of cash flows	*	,		,				
Cash paid for interest	\$	9,232	\$	9,054				
Cash payments for income taxes, net	\$	(441)	\$	(327)				
	*	()	7	(321)				

Note 1 - Summary of Business and Significant Accounting Policies

Description of Business – eHealth, Inc., a Delaware corporation, and its consolidated subsidiaries (collectively, "eHealth") is a leading private health insurance marketplace with a technology and service platform that provides consumer engagement, education and health insurance enrollment solutions. Our mission is to expertly guide consumers through their health insurance enrollment and related options, when, where and how they prefer. Our platform leverages technology to solve a critical problem in a large and growing market by aiding consumers in what has traditionally been a complex, confusing, and opaque health insurance purchasing process. Our omnichannel consumer engagement platform differentiates our offering from competitors and enables consumers to use our services online, by telephone with a licensed insurance agent, or benefit advisor, or through a hybrid online assisted interaction that includes live agent chat and co-browsing capabilities. We have created a consumer-centric marketplace that offers consumers a broad choice of insurance products that includes thousands of Medicare Advantage, Medicare Supplement, Medicare Part D prescription drug, individual, family, small business and other ancillary health insurance products from over 180 health insurance carriers nationwide. Our plan recommendation tool curates this broad plan selection by analyzing consumer health-related information against plan data for insurance coverage fit. This tool is supported by a unified data platform and is available to our ecommerce consumers and our benefit advisors. We strive to be the most trusted, unbiased, transparent partner to consumers in their journeys through the health insurance market.

Unless otherwise specified or required by the context, references in this Annual Report on Form 10-K to "eHealth," "the Company," "we," "us" or "our" mean eHealth, Inc. and its consolidated direct and indirect wholly owned subsidiaries.

Basis of Presentation – Our consolidated financial statements include the accounts of eHealth, Inc. and its wholly owned subsidiaries. All intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles ("U.S. GAAP"). Certain prior period amounts have been reclassified to conform with our current period presentation.

Beginning in the first quarter of 2024, primarily as a result of vacating excess office space, we modified our methodology used in allocating our facilities-related expenses to marketing and advertising, customer care and enrollment and technology and content. As a result, these costs are now reported within the "General and administrative" line in our Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss). We have recast the Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss) for the prior periods presented to conform to our current methodology. This resulted in a classification change of expenses from marketing and advertising, customer care and enrollment and technology and content into general and administrative. There was no impact to total operating costs and expenses, income (loss) from operations, net income (loss) or net loss per share attributable to common stockholders on our Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss).

Estimates and Judgments – The preparation of consolidated financial statements and related disclosures in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates, judgments and assumptions that affect the amounts reported and disclosed in the consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes. On an ongoing basis, we evaluate our estimates, including those related to, but not limited to, the fair value of investments, the commissions we expect to collect for each approved member cohort, valuation allowance for deferred income taxes, uncertain tax positions and the assumptions used in determining stock-based compensation. We base our estimates of the carrying value of certain assets and liabilities on historical experience and on various other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Cash and Cash Equivalents – Our cash and cash equivalents were held in cash depository accounts with major financial institutions or invested in high quality, short-term liquid investments having original maturities of 90 days or less from the date of purchase. Cash and cash equivalents are stated at fair value.

Our restricted cash balances are not material and are primarily used to collateralize letters of credit related to certain lease commitments.

Property and Equipment – Property and equipment are stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation and amortization. Finance lease amortization expenses are included in depreciation expense in our Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss). Maintenance and minor replacements are expensed as incurred. Depreciation and amortization expenses are computed using the straight-line method based on estimated useful lives as follows:

Computer equipment and software	3 to 5 years
Office equipment and furniture	5 years
Leasehold improvements*	5 to 10 years

Lesser of useful life or related lease term

See Note 3 - Supplemental Financial Statement Information for additional information regarding our property and equipment.

Leases – We account for leases in accordance with Accounting Standards Codification ("ASC") 842, *Leases*. We determine if an arrangement is a lease at inception. Our lease portfolio is primarily composed of operating leases for corporate offices and are included in operating lease right-of-use ("ROU") assets and lease liabilities on our Consolidated Balance Sheets. ROU assets represent our right to use an underlying asset for the lease term and lease liabilities represent our obligation to make lease payments arising from the lease.

Operating lease ROU assets and lease liabilities are recognized at commencement date based on the present value of lease payments over the lease term. The operating lease ROU asset also includes any lease payments made to the lessor at or before the commencement date and initial direct costs incurred by us and excludes lease incentives received from the lessor. Our lease terms may include options to extend or terminate the lease when it is reasonably certain that we will exercise that option. As the Company's leases generally do not provide an implicit rate, we use our incremental borrowing rate based on the information available at commencement date. In determining the present value of lease payments, we utilize the assistance of third-party specialists to assist us in determining our yield curve based upon our credit rating, lease term and adjustment for security.

Intangible Assets – Intangible assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate a potential reduction in their fair values below their respective carrying amounts. We must make subjective judgments regarding the remaining useful lives of assets with finite useful lives. When we determine that the useful life of an asset is shorter than we had originally estimated, we accelerate the rate of amortization over the assets' new, remaining useful life. Intangible assets with finite useful lives, which include purchased technology, pharmacy and customer relationships, trade names, and certain trademarks, are amortized over their estimated useful lives. See Note 3 – Supplemental Financial Statement Information for additional information regarding our intangible assets.

Other Long-Lived Assets – We evaluate other long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. If such assets are considered to be impaired, the impairment to be recognized is measured by the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its fair value.

Revenue Recognition – We account for revenue under ASC 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers. Our revenue consists of commission revenue and other revenue. The core principle of ASC 606 is to recognize revenue upon the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration the entity expects to be entitled to in exchange for those goods or services. Accordingly, we recognize revenue for our services through the application of the following steps:

- Identification of the contract, or contracts, with a customer.
- Identification of the performance obligations in the contract.

- Determination of the transaction price.
- Allocation of the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract.
- Recognition of revenue when, or as, we satisfy a performance obligation.

Commission Revenue. Our commission revenue results from approval of a submitted application from health insurance carriers, which we define as our customers under ASC 606. Our commission revenue is primarily comprised of commission payments from health insurance carriers and is computed using the estimated constrained lifetime value ("LTV") of commission payments that we expect to receive. We estimate commission revenue for each insurance product by using a portfolio approach to a group of approved members by plan type and the effective month of the relevant plan, which we refer to as "cohorts." We recognize revenue for plans approved during the period by applying the latest estimated constrained LTV for that product. We recognize adjustment revenue for plans approved in prior periods when changes in assumptions for constrained LTV calculations are made and when there is sufficient evidence demonstrating a trend that is different from the estimated constrained LTV at the time of approval resulting in a change in estimate to expected cash collections. Net adjustment revenue consists of increases in revenue for certain prior period cohorts as well as reductions in revenue for certain prior period cohorts. We recognize positive adjustments to revenue to the extent that it is probable that a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognized will not occur. We assess the risk of significant revenue reversal based on statistical and qualitative analysis given historical information and current market conditions.

Our commission revenue for each product line is based on a number of assumptions, which include, but are not limited to, estimating conversion of an approved member to a paying member, forecasting average plan duration and forecasting the commission amounts likely to be received per member. These assumptions are based on our analysis of historical trends for the different cohorts and incorporate management's judgment in interpreting those trends and applying the constraints discussed below. For our Medicare commission revenue, which represented 93% and 89% of our total commission revenue for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively, the estimated average plan duration, which is the average length of time paying members are active on their plans, used to calculate Medicare health insurance plan LTVs has been approximately 2 to 3 years for Medicare Advantage plans and approximately 4 to 5 years for both Medicare Supplement and Medicare Part D prescription drug plans. While the average plan duration has been approximately 2 to 3 years for Medicare Advantage plans, certain members can have a duration of up to approximately 15 years. The estimated average plan duration used to calculate the LTV for major medical individual and family health insurance plans has been approximately 1.5 to 2 years. For short term health insurance plan LTVs, the estimated average plan duration has been approximately six months. For all other ancillary health insurance plan LTVs, the estimated average plan duration has historically varied from 1 to 6 years.

Constraints are applied to LTV for revenue recognition purposes to help ensure that the total estimated lifetime commissions expected to be collected for an approved member's plan are recognized as revenue only to the extent that it is probable that a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognized will not occur when the uncertainty associated with future commissions receivable is subsequently resolved. Significant judgment can be involved in determining the constraint. To determine the constraints to be applied to LTV, we compare cash collection patterns to our assumptions and analyze the drivers for variations. We then apply judgment in assessing whether the variation between historical cash collections and LTV is representative of variations that can be expected in future periods. We also analyze whether circumstances have changed and consider any known or potential modifications to the inputs into LTV in light of the factors that can impact the amount of cash expected to be collected in future periods, including but not limited to contracted commission rates, carrier mix, plan duration, cancellations of insurance plans offered by health insurance carriers with which we have a relationship, changes in laws and regulations, and changes in the economic environment. We evaluate the appropriateness of our constraints on an annual basis, at least, and update our assumptions when we observe a sufficient amount of evidence that would suggest that the long-term expectation underlying the assumptions has changed.

We re-compute LTVs for all outstanding cohorts on a quarterly basis. We continually review and monitor changes in the data used to estimate LTV and compare the cash received for each cohort to our original estimates at the time of approval. The fluctuations of cash received for each cohort as compared to our estimates and the fluctuations in LTV can be significant and may or may not be indicative of the need to adjust revenue for prior period

cohorts. We analyze these fluctuations and, to the extent we see changes in our estimates of the cash commission collections that we believe are indicative of an increase or decrease to prior period LTVs, we adjust revenue for the affected cohorts at the time such determination is made and when it is probable that a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognized will not occur. As we accumulate more historical data, we continue to enhance our LTV estimation models using statistical tools to increase the accuracy of LTV estimates with an emphasis on improving member attrition forecasting. The enhancements to the LTV estimation model provide greater statistical certainty on expected cash collections, particularly for earlier period cohorts where there is more historical data available. Changes in LTV may result in an increase or a decrease to revenue and a corresponding increase or decrease to contract assets – commissions receivable.

In the first effective plan year of a Medicare Advantage and Medicare Part D prescription drug plan, for which we are the broker of record, we receive a fixed, annual commission payment from health insurance carriers generally after the plan is approved by the carrier and becomes effective. We also receive a fixed commission that is prorated for the remaining number of months in the calendar year, if applicable. Additionally, if the plan is the first Medicare Advantage or Medicare Part D prescription drug plan issued to the member, either because the beneficiary just became eligible or has previously been covered through Original Medicare, we may receive a higher commission rate that covers a full 12-month period, regardless of the plan's effective month. Beginning with the second plan year and for as long as the member remains on that plan, we typically receive fixed, monthly commissions for Medicare Advantage and Medicare Part D prescription drug plans, continuing until either the plan is cancelled or we are no longer the broker of record.

For individual and family, Medicare Supplement, small business and ancillary plans, our commissions generally represent a flat amount per member per month or a percentage of the premium amount collected by the carrier while the member maintains coverage. Premium-based commissions are reported to us after the health insurance carrier collects premiums, generally every month. We continue to receive commissions from the relevant health insurance carrier until the health insurance plan is cancelled or we are no longer the broker of record. We provide annual services in selling and renewing small business health insurance plans; therefore, we recognize small business health insurance plan commission revenue at the time the plan is approved by the carrier, and when it renews each year thereafter, equal to the estimated commissions we expect to collect from the plan over the following 12 months.

For our Medicare segment, our commissions may also include certain bonus payments, which are generally based on attaining predetermined target sales levels or other objectives set by the health insurance carriers.

See Note 2 – Revenue for additional information regarding our commission revenue.

Other Revenue. Our non-Medicare plan related sponsorship and advertising program allows carriers to purchase advertising space in specific markets in a sponsorship area on our website. In return, we are typically paid a fee, which is recognized over the period that advertising is displayed, and often a performance fee based on metrics such as submitted health insurance applications, which is recognized when the service has been performed. We also offer our Medicare advertising program, where we may engage in other activities including marketing. In these instances, we are typically paid a fixed, up-front fee, which we recognize as revenue ratably over the service period as service is performed.

In our non-broker of record arrangements, we facilitate beneficiary enrollment in Medicare-related health insurance plans with health insurance carriers without becoming the broker of record. Under these arrangements, we receive one-time fees determined by contract terms. Our services are complete once the submitted application is approved by the relevant health insurance carrier. Accordingly, we recognize fee income based upon the fee we expect to receive for selling the plan after the carrier approves an application.

In certain arrangements where we work as captive agents for specific health insurance carriers, we recognize revenue for customer care and enrollment ("CC&E") and marketing fees paid to us by the health insurance carriers in the period the services are performed.

We also generate revenue from agreements with carriers to perform post enrollment services for members in Medicare-related health insurance plans. We typically are paid a fixed fee upon completion of the specific service and the revenue is recognized in the period the service was completed.

We may generate revenue from our commercial technology licensing, which allows carriers the use of our ecommerce platform to offer their own health insurance policies on their websites and agents to utilize our technology to power their online quoting, content and application submission processes. Typically, we are paid a one-time implementation fee, which we recognize on a straight-line basis until the implementation is complete, and a performance fee based on metrics such as submitted health insurance applications. The performance fees are based on performance criteria. In instances where the performance criteria data is tracked by us, we recognize revenue in the period of performance and when all other revenue recognition criteria has been met. In instances where the performance criteria data is tracked by the third party, we recognize revenue when reversal of such amounts is probable to not occur.

Incremental Costs to Obtain a Contract. Our sales compensation plans, which are directed at converting leads into approved members, represent fulfillment costs and not costs to obtain a contract with a customer. Additionally, we reviewed compensation plans related to personnel responsible for identifying new health insurance carriers and entering into contracts with new health insurance carriers and concluded that no incremental costs are incurred to obtain such contracts. Therefore, costs related these compensation plans are expensed as incurred.

Deferred Revenue – Deferred revenue includes deferred fees and amounts collected from advertising, sponsorship or technology licensing customers in advance of our performing our service for such customers. It also includes the amount by which both unbilled and billed services provided under our technology licensing arrangements exceed the revenue recognized to date.

Cost of Revenue – Included in cost of revenue are payments related to health insurance plans sold to members who were referred to our website by marketing partners with whom we have revenue-sharing arrangements. In order to enter into a revenue-sharing arrangement, marketing partners must be licensed to sell health insurance in the state where the policy is sold. Costs related to revenue-sharing arrangements are expensed as the related revenue is recognized.

Marketing and Advertising Expenses – Marketing and advertising expenses consist primarily of member acquisition expenses associated with our direct marketing and marketing partner channels, in addition to compensation and other expenses related to marketing, business development, partner management, public relations and carrier relations personnel who support our offerings. Our direct channel expenses may consist of costs for direct mail, email marketing, paid keyword search advertising on search engines and paid social platforms, search engine optimization and television and radio advertising. We recognize direct marketing expenses in our direct member acquisition channel in the period in which they are incurred, including in the period in which the consumer clicks on the advertisement for direct online channels. Our marketing partner channel expenses primarily consist of fees paid to marketing partners with which we have a relationship. Advertising costs for our marketing partner channel are expensed as incurred. Advertising costs incurred in the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 totaled \$164.2 million and \$148.7 million, respectively.

Research and Development Expenses – Research and development expenses consist primarily of compensation and related expenses incurred for employees on our engineering and technical teams, which are expensed as incurred. Research and development costs, which totaled \$12.4 million and \$13.7 million for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively, are primarily included in the "Technology and content" line in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss).

Internal-Use Software and Website Development Costs – We capitalize costs of materials, consultants and compensation and benefits costs of employees who devote time to the development of internal-use software and websites during the application development stage. The amortization expenses of these assets are recorded in the "Technology and content" line in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss). Our judgment is required in determining the point at which various projects enter the phases where costs may be capitalized, in assessing the ongoing value of the capitalized costs and in determining the estimated useful lives

over which the costs are amortized, which is generally 3 years. For the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, we capitalized internal-use software and website development costs of \$11.5 million and \$9.7 million, respectively, and recorded amortization expense of \$14.4 million and \$17.4 million, respectively. Capitalized internal-use software and website development costs are included in other assets on our Consolidated Balance Sheets and were \$20.7 million and \$23.6 million as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. See *Note 5 - Equity* for the amount of stock-based compensation capitalized for internal-use software.

Stock-Based Compensation – We grant stock-based awards to officers, certain other employees of the Company and outside directors. The stock-based awards have consisted of stock options, restricted stock units and performance-based stock units. We treat service-based awards with graded vesting as a single award. We recognize stock-based compensation expense ratably based on the fair value of our stock-based awards over their respective requisite service periods, typically the vesting period, which is generally three to four years for service-based awards for employees and one year for outside directors or the one-year anniversary of achieving performance criteria for performance-based awards. Stock-based compensation expense is recognized net of estimated forfeitures.

Stock Options. Our stock options have consisted of service, performance and market-based awards and have exercise prices equal to the market price of the underlying common shares on the date of grant and a term of seven years. The estimated grant date fair value of our stock options is estimated using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model and a single option award approach. The weighted-average expected term for stock options granted is calculated using historical option exercise behavior. The dividend yield is determined by dividing the expected per share dividend during the coming year by the grant date stock price. Through December 31, 2024, we had not declared or paid any cash dividends to common stockholders. We base the risk-free interest rate on the implied yield currently available on U.S. Treasury zero-coupon issues with a remaining term equal to the expected term of our stock options. Expected volatility is determined using a combination of the implied volatility of publicly traded options in our stock and historical volatility of our stock price.

Restricted and Performance-Based Stock Units. Our restricted stock units consist of service-based award. Our performance-based stock units are subject to certain performance metrics, which may be market-based or non-market-based financial metrics. Our market-based performance stock units are contingent upon the attainment of certain stock prices generally over a four-year performance period. Our non-market-based performance metrics are contingent upon attainment of certain financial performance metrics generally over a one or two-year performance period. Performance-based stock units vest on the one-year anniversary of the date of achievement, subject to the employee's continued service through the vesting date. Each restricted and performance-based stock unit represents a contingent right to receive a share of our common stock upon predetermined criteria.

The fair value for restricted and non-market-based performance stock units is estimated on the date of grant based on the current market price of our common shares. The grant date fair value of market-based performance stock awards is determined using the Monte-Carlo simulation model and requires the input of subjective assumptions. The weighted-average expected term is based on the likelihood of achievement using historical behavior. The dividend yield is based on our dividend payment history and expectation of future dividend payments. Through December 31, 2024, we had not declared or paid any cash dividends to common stockholders. We base the risk-free interest rate on the implied yield currently available on U.S. Treasury zero-coupon issues with a remaining term equal to the length of the remaining performance period. Expected volatility is determined using a combination of the implied volatility of publicly traded options in our stock and historical volatility of our stock price.

Based on the extent to which metrics are achieved, vested units may range from zero and 200% of the target number of performance-based stock units. For performance-based stock units that do not contain a market condition, the total amount of compensation expense recognized reflects management's assessment of the probability that performance goals will be achieved. A cumulative adjustment is recognized to compensation expense in the current period to reflect any changes in the probability of achievement of performance goals. The estimated attainment of performance-based awards is also subject to continued service through the vesting date and ultimately are subject to the discretion of the Company's compensation committee. The assumptions used in calculating the fair value of stock-based payment awards and expected attainment of performance-based awards represent our best estimates, but these estimates involve inherent uncertainties and the application of management

judgment. We will continue to use judgment in evaluating the expected term and volatility related to our own stock-based awards on a prospective basis and incorporating these factors into the model. Changes in key assumptions could significantly impact the valuation of such instruments.

Forfeiture Rate. We estimate a forfeiture rate to calculate the stock-based compensation for all of our awards. We evaluate the appropriateness of the forfeiture rate based on historical forfeiture, analysis of employee turnover, and other factors. Forfeitures are estimated at the time of grant and revised, if necessary, in subsequent periods if actual forfeitures differ from those estimates.

Earnings (Loss) Per Share – Our Series A Preferred Stock is considered a participating security which requires the use of the two-class method for the computation of basic and diluted per share amounts. Under the two-class method, earnings available to common stockholders for the period are allocated between common stockholders and participating securities according to dividends accumulated and participation rights in undistributed earnings. Net loss attributable to common stockholders is not allocated to the convertible preferred stock as the holder of the Series A Preferred Stock does not have a contractual obligation to share in losses. Basic net loss attributable to common stockholders per share is computed by dividing net loss available to common stockholders by the weighted-average number of shares of common stock outstanding for the period. Diluted net loss attributable to common stockholders per share is computed by dividing the net loss available to common stockholders for the period by the weighted average number of common and common equivalent shares outstanding during the period. Diluted net loss attributable to common stockholders per share reflects all potential dilutive common stock equivalent shares, including conversion of preferred stock, stock options, restricted stock units and shares to be issued under our employee stock purchase program.

401(k) Plan – Our Board of Directors adopted a defined contribution retirement plan ("401(k) Plan") in 1998, which qualifies under Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986. Participation in the 401(k) Plan is available to substantially all employees in the United States. Employees may contribute up to 85% of their salary, subject to applicable annual Internal Revenue Code limits and are permitted to make both pre-tax and after-tax contributions. Employee contributions are fully vested when contributed. We contribute a maximum of 100% of the first 3% of compensation a participant contributes to the 401(k) Plan, which vests immediately. Our matching contributions to the 401(k) Plan are discretionary and are expensed as incurred. We recognized expense of \$4.2 million and \$3.6 million for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively, related to 401(k) matching contributions.

Income Taxes – We account for income taxes using the liability method. Deferred income taxes are determined based on the differences between the financial reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities, using enacted statutory tax rates in effect for the year in which the differences are expected to reverse.

We utilize a two-step approach for evaluating uncertain tax positions. Step one, *Recognition*, requires a company to determine if the weight of available evidence indicates that a tax position is more likely than not to be sustained upon audit, including resolution of related appeals or litigation processes, if any. Step two, *Measurement*, is based on the largest amount of benefit, which is more likely than not to be realized on ultimate settlement. We record interest and penalties related to uncertain tax positions as income tax expense in the consolidated financial statements.

Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements

Segment Reporting (Topic 280) — In November 2023, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued Accounting Standards Update ("ASU") 2023-07, Segment Reporting (Topic 280): Improvements to Reportable Segment Disclosures. This ASU updates reportable segment disclosure requirements by requiring disclosures of significant reportable segment expenses that are regularly provided to the chief operating decision maker ("CODM") and included within each reported measure of a segment's profit or loss. ASU 2023-07 does not change how a public entity identifies its operating segments, aggregates those operating segments or applies the quantitative thresholds to determine its reportable segments. The ASU is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2023 and interim periods beginning after December 15, 2024 and adoption of the ASU should be applied retrospectively to all prior periods presented in the financial statements with early adoption permitted. We have adopted ASU 2023-07 retrospectively in our consolidated financial statements and related disclosures. See Note 9 - Segment and Geographic Information for additional information.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements Not Yet Adopted

Income Taxes (Topic 740) — In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-09, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures, which will require public entities, on an annual basis, to provide disclosure of specific categories in the rate reconciliation, as well as additional disclosure on income taxes paid. The ASU is effective on a prospective basis for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2024 for public entities and early adoption is permitted. We are currently evaluating the impact of adopting of this ASU on our consolidated financial statements and related disclosures.

Income Statement – Reporting Comprehensive Income – Expense Disaggregation Disclosures (Subtopic 220-40) — In November 2024, the FASB issued ASU 2024-03, Income Statement – Reporting Comprehensive Income – Expense Disaggregation Disclosures (Subtopic 220-40): Disaggregation of Income Statement Expenses. This ASU will require more detailed information about specified categories of expenses (purchases of inventory, employee compensation, depreciation, intangible asset amortization and depletion) included in certain expense captions presented on the face of the income statement. The ASU is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2026 and for interim periods beginning after December 15, 2027. The ASU may be applied either prospectively to financial statements issued for reporting periods after the effective date of this ASU or retrospectively to all prior periods presented in the financial statements and early adoption is permitted. We are currently evaluating the impact of adopting this ASU on our consolidated financial statements and related disclosures.

Note 2 - Revenue

Disaggregation of Revenue – The table below depicts the disaggregation of revenue by product and is consistent with how we evaluate our financial performance (in thousands):

	Year Ended December 31,							
	 2024		2023					
Medicare								
Medicare Advantage	\$ 394,942	\$	335,849					
Medicare Supplement	19,634		13,825					
Medicare Part D	 12,773		11,180					
Total Medicare	427,349		360,854					
Individual and Family ⁽¹⁾								
Non-Qualified Health Plans	3,640		10,640					
Qualified Health Plans	 4,762		6,020					
Total Individual and Family	8,402		16,660					
Ancillary								
Short-term	2,317		3,319					
Dental	3,514		3,151					
Vision	2,062		1,627					
Other	 2,894		2,657					
Total Ancillary	10,787		10,754					
Small Business	11,545		17,669					
Commission Bonus and Other	 3,564		(2,013)					
Total Commission Revenue	 461,647		403,924					
Other Revenue								
Sponsorship and Advertising Revenue	45,481		38,743					
Fee-based and Other Revenue	 25,282		10,204					
Total Other Revenue	70,763		48,947					
Total Revenue	\$ 532,410	\$	452,871					

We define our individual and family plan offerings as major medical individual and family health insurance plans, which do not include Medicare-related, small business or ancillary plans. Individual and family health insurance plans include both qualified and non-qualified plans. Qualified health plans meet the requirements of the Affordable Care Act and are offered through the government-run health insurance exchange in the relevant jurisdiction. Non-qualified health plans do not meet the requirements of the Affordable Care Act and are not offered through the government-run health insurance exchange in the relevant jurisdiction. Individuals that purchase non-qualified health plans cannot receive a subsidy in connection with the purchase of non-qualified plans.

Commission Revenue

Since the adoption of ASC 606, we have evaluated changes in estimated cash collections and compare these to the initial estimates of LTV at the time of approval. We record adjustment revenue in the period when the risk of significant reversal is not probable and continue to enhance our LTV estimation models to improve the accuracy and to reduce the fluctuations of our LTV estimates.

Commission revenue by segment is presented in the table below (in thousands):

	Year Ended December 31,					
		2024		2023		
Medicare						
Commission revenue from members approved during the period	\$	412,887	\$	326,087		
Net commission revenue from members approved in prior periods (1)		18,678		33,544		
Total Medicare segment commission revenue	\$	431,565	\$	359,631		
Employer and Individual						
Commission revenue from members approved during the period	\$	16,463	\$	19,789		
Commission revenue from renewals of small business members during the period		9,562		9,973		
Net commission revenue from members approved in prior periods (1)		4,057		14,531		
Total Employer and Individual segment commission revenue	\$	30,082	\$	44,293		
Total commission revenue from members approved during the period	\$	429,350	\$	345,876		
Commission revenue from renewals of small business members during the period		9,562		9,973		
Total net commission revenue from members approved in prior periods (1)(2)		22,735		48,075		
Total commission revenue	\$	461,647	\$	403,924		

⁽¹⁾ These amounts reflect our revised estimates of cash collections for certain members approved prior to the relevant reporting period that are recognized as adjustments to revenue within the relevant reporting period. The net commission revenue from members approved in prior periods, or the net adjustment revenue includes both increases as well as reductions in revenue for certain prior period cohorts.

LTV Estimation Model

During 2024, we observed increases in new paying members, stronger constraint release and commission rate increases for our Medicare segment. Based on our evaluation of the updated LTV models and improved retention and commission rate trends, we recorded \$18.7 million of net adjustment revenue for the year ended December 31, 2024. In addition, we continued to observe stronger constraint release and commission retention rate increases in our LTV assessments for the majority of the earlier period cohorts of certain products in our E&I segment and as a result, we recognized \$4.1 million of net adjustment revenue for the year ended December 31, 2024. We will continue to monitor our member retention rates as compared to our forecasts and other market factors and evaluate whether any addition or reduction of adjustment revenue shall be recorded as we continue to assess our LTV models in future periods.

During 2023, we observed stronger member retention rates and commission rate increases for our Medicare segment. Based on our evaluation of the updated LTV models and retention and commission rate trends, we recorded \$33.5 million of net adjustment revenue for the year ended December 31, 2023. In addition, we continued to observe stronger member retention rates in our LTV assessments for the majority of the earlier period cohorts of certain products in our E&I segment and as a result, we recognized \$14.5 million of net adjustment revenue for the year ended December 31, 2023. We will continue to monitor our member retention rates as compared to our forecasts and other market factors and evaluate whether any addition or reduction of adjustment revenue shall be recorded as we continue to assess our LTV models in future periods.

⁽²⁾ The after-tax impact of total net commission revenue from members approved in prior periods for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 was \$0.59 and \$1.30 per basic and diluted share, respectively. The total reductions to revenue from members approved in prior periods were \$5.3 million and \$4.3 million for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. These reductions to revenue primarily relate to the Medicare segment.

Note 3 - Supplemental Financial Statement Information

Cash, Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash

Our cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash balances are summarized as follows (in thousands):

	Dece	mber 31, 2024	Dece	ember 31, 2023
Cash	\$	10,927	\$	7,114
Cash equivalents		28,270		108,608
Cash and cash equivalents		39,197		115,722
Restricted cash		3,090		3,090
Total cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash	\$	42,287	\$	118,812

As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, we had \$3.1 million of restricted cash which was classified as a non-current asset on our Consolidated Balance Sheets. This amount collateralizes letters of credit related to certain lease commitments.

Contract Assets and Accounts Receivable

We do not require collateral or other security for our contract assets and accounts receivable. We believe the potential for collection issues with any of our customers was minimal as of December 31, 2024.

We estimate an allowance for credit losses using relevant available information from internal and external sources, related to past events, current conditions, and reasonable and supportable forecasts. Specifically, for the purpose of measuring the probability of default parameters, we utilize Capital IQ's, Standard & Poor's and Moody's analytics. Our estimates of loss given default are determined by using our historical collections data as well as historical information obtained through our research and review of other insurance related companies. Our estimated exposure at default is determined by applying these internal and external data sources to our commissions receivable balances. As such, we apply an immediate reversion method and revert to historical loss information when computing our credit loss exposure. Credit loss expenses are assessed quarterly and included in the "General and administrative" line in our Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss). There were no write-offs during the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023.

The change in the allowance for credit losses is summarized as follows (in thousands):

	Dece	mber 31, 2024	Dece	ember 31, 2023
Beginning balance	\$	2,118	\$	2,398
Change in allowance		104		(280)
Ending balance	\$	2,222	\$	2,118

Our contract assets - commissions receivable activities, net of credit loss allowances, are summarized as follows (in thousands):

	Year Ended December 31, 2024							
		Medicare Segment	E8	l Segment		Total		
Beginning balance	\$	847,332	\$	70,845	\$	918,177		
Commission revenue from members approved during the period		412,887		16,463		429,350		
Commission revenue from renewals of small business members during the period		_		9,562		9,562		
Net commission revenue from members approved in prior periods		18,678		4,057		22,735		
Cash receipts		(341,860)		(37,870)		(379,730)		
Net change in credit loss allowance		(97)		(7)		(104)		
Ending balance	\$	936,940	\$	63,050	\$	999,990		

	Year Ended December 31, 2023							
		Medicare Segment		E&I Segment		Total		
Beginning balance	\$	817,043	\$	67,261	\$	884,304		
Commission revenue from members approved during the period		326,087		19,789		345,876		
Commission revenue from renewals of small business members during the period		_		9,973		9,973		
Net commission revenue from members approved in prior periods		33,544		14,531		48,075		
Cash receipts		(329,600)		(40,731)		(370,331)		
Net change in credit loss allowance		258		22		280		
Ending balance	\$	847,332	\$	70,845	\$	918,177		

Credit Risk

Our financial instruments that are exposed to concentrations of credit risk principally consist of cash, cash equivalents, marketable securities, contract assets – commissions receivable and accounts receivable. We invest our cash and cash equivalents with major banks and financial institutions and, at times, such investments are in excess of federally insured limits. We also have deposits with major banks in China that are denominated in both U.S. dollars and Chinese Yuan Renminbi and are not insured by the U.S. federal government. The deposits in China were \$5.0 million as of December 31, 2024. See *Note 4 – Fair Value Measurements* for additional information regarding our marketable securities.

We do not require collateral or other security for either our contract assets or accounts receivable. Carriers that represented 10% or more of our total contract assets – commissions receivable and accounts receivable balances are summarized as follows:

	December 31, 2024	December 31, 2023
Humana	28 %	27 %
UnitedHealthcare (1)	27 %	26 %
Aetna (1)	17 %	16 %

⁽¹⁾ Percentages include the carriers' subsidiaries.

Prepaid Expenses and Other Current Assets – Our prepaid expenses and other current assets are summarized as follows (in thousands):

	Dece	mber 31, 2024	Decer	nber 31, 2023
Prepaid software and maintenance contracts	\$	5,582	\$	5,328
Prepaid expenses		2,405		1,808
Prepaid licenses		2,358		2,739
Prepaid insurance		1,296		1,436
Other current assets		1,320		733
Prepaid expenses and other current assets	\$	12,961	\$	12,044

Property and Equipment, net - Our property and equipment, net are summarized as follows (in thousands):

	Decen	nber 31, 2024	Decer	mber 31, 2023
Computer equipment and software	\$	9,183	\$	9,008
Office equipment and furniture		928		2,875
Leasehold improvements		3,403		4,124
Property and equipment, gross		13,514		16,007
Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization		(9,077)		(11,143)
Property and equipment, net	\$	4,437	\$	4,864

Depreciation and amortization expense related to property and equipment for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 was \$2.0 million and \$2.5 million, respectively. During 2024, we recognized \$0.5 million of property and equipment impairment as a result of impairment charges on certain leased office spaces in the "Impairment, restructuring and other charges" line in our Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss). See *Note 11 – Impairment, Restructuring and Other Charges* for further discussion on our impairment charge in 2024.

Intangible Assets – As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, our intangible assets subject to amortization had a gross carrying value of \$17.2 million and life-to-date accumulated amortization and impairment charges of \$17.2 million. As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, our indefinite-lived intangible assets had a gross carrying value of \$5.1 million and life-to-date impairment charges of \$3.2 million. We had no amortization expense related to intangible assets for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023.

Note 4 - Fair Value Measurements

We define fair value as the price that would be received for an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in the principal or most advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants on the measurement date. Valuation techniques we use to measure fair value maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs. We classify the inputs used to measure fair value into the following hierarchy:

Level 1	Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
Level 2	Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for similar assets or liabilities; unadjusted quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in markets that are not active; inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability.
Level 3	Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

Our financial assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis are summarized below by their classification within the fair value hierarchy as follows (in thousands):

	December 31, 2024										
	Carrying Value Level 1		Level 2		Level 3			Total			
Assets											
Cash equivalents											
Money market funds	\$	15,090	\$	15,090	\$	_	\$	_	\$	15,090	
Commercial paper		10,562		_		10,562		_		10,562	
Government securities		2,618		_		2,618		_		2,618	
Short-term marketable securities											
Commercial paper		17,799		_		17,799		_		17,799	
Government securities		25,244		_		25,244		_		25,244	
Total assets measured at fair value	\$	71,313	\$	15,090	\$	56,223	\$	_	\$	71,313	

December 31, 2023									
Carrying Value Level 1		Level 2		Level 3		Total			
							_		
\$	11,576	\$	11,576	\$	_	\$	_	\$	11,576
	86,090		_		86,090		_		86,090
	10,942		_		10,942		_		10,942
	5,930		_		5,930				5,930
\$	114,538	\$	11,576	\$	102,962	\$		\$	114,538
		\$ 11,576 86,090 10,942 5,930	\$ 11,576 \$ 86,090 10,942 5,930	\$ 11,576 \$ 11,576 86,090 — 10,942 —	\$ 11,576 \$ 11,576 \$ 86,090 — 10,942 — 5,930 —	Carrying Value Level 1 Level 2 \$ 11,576 \$ 11,576 \$ — 86,090 — 86,090 10,942 — 10,942 5,930 — 5,930	Carrying Value Level 1 Level 2 \$ 11,576 \$ 11,576 \$ — \$ 86,090 — 86,090 10,942 — 10,942 5,930 — 5,930	Carrying Value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 \$ 11,576 \$ 11,576 \$ — \$ — 86,090 — 86,090 — 10,942 — 10,942 — 5,930 — 5,930 —	Carrying Value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 \$ 11,576 \$ 11,576 \$ — \$ — \$ 86,090 — 86,090 — 10,942 — 10,942 — 5,930 — 5,930 —

We endeavor to utilize the best available information in measuring fair value. Our money market funds are measured at fair value based on quoted prices in active markets and are classified as Level 1 within the fair value hierarchy. Our available for sale marketable securities, which include commercial paper and government securities with maturities of less than one year, are measured at fair value using quoted market prices to the extent available or alternative pricing sources and models utilizing market observable inputs and are classified as Level 2 within the fair value hierarchy. There were no transfers between the hierarchy levels during either of the years ended December 31, 2024 or 2023.

The following table summarizes our cash equivalents and available-for-sale debt securities by contractual maturity (in thousands):

	As of Dece	mber	· 31, 2024		31, 2023			
	Amortized Cost		Fair Value	Amortized Cost			Fair Value	
Due in 1 year	\$ 71,297	\$	71,313	\$	114,577	\$	114,538	

Unrealized gains and losses on available-for-sale debt securities that are not credit related are included in accumulated other comprehensive loss and summarized as follows (in thousands):

	December 31, 2024									
	Amortized Cost		Unrealized Gains		Unrealized Losses			Fair Value		
Cash equivalents										
Money market funds	\$	15,090	\$	_	\$	_	\$	15,090		
Commercial paper		10,565		_		(3)		10,562		
Government securities		2,618		_		_		2,618		
Short-term marketable securities										
Commercial paper		17,792		7		_		17,799		
Government securities		25,232		12		_		25,244		
Total	\$	71,297	\$	19	\$	(3)	\$	71,313		

	December 31, 2023									
	Amortized Cost		Unrea	lized Gains	Unrealized Losses			Fair Value		
Cash equivalents			'							
Money market funds	\$	11,576	\$	_	\$	_	\$	11,576		
Commercial paper		86,132		_	(42)		86,090		
Government securities		10,940		2		_		10,942		
Short-term marketable securities										
Government securities		5,929		1		_		5,930		
Total	\$	114,577	\$	3	\$ (42)	\$	114,538		

As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, we had 11 and 20 securities, respectively, in a net unrealized loss position that were immaterial individually and in aggregate. We did not record any credit losses regarding our available-for-sale debt securities during the year ended December 31, 2024 or 2023. We do not intend to sell these securities and it is more likely than not that we will not be required to sell these securities before the recovery of their amortized cost basis. We recognized interest income of \$7.2 million and \$8.4 million for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

Note 5 - Equity

Common Stock – On all matters submitted to our stockholders for vote, our common stockholders are entitled to one vote per share, voting together as a single class, and do not have cumulative voting rights. Accordingly, the holders of a majority of the shares of common stock entitled to vote in any election of directors can elect all of the directors standing for election, if they so choose. Subject to preferences that may apply to any shares of preferred stock outstanding, the holders of common stock are entitled to share equally in any dividends, when and if declared by our Board of Directors. Upon the occurrence of a liquidation, dissolution or winding-up, the holders of common stock are entitled to share equally in all assets remaining after the payment of any liabilities and the liquidation preferences on any outstanding preferred stock. Holders of common stock have no preemptive or conversion rights or other subscription rights and there are no redemption or sinking funds provisions applicable to the common stock.

Stock Repurchase Programs – We had no stock repurchase activity during the years ending December 31, 2024 or 2023. As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, we had a total of 13.4 million and 12.8 million shares, respectively, held in treasury. As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, we had 2.7 million and 2.1 million shares, respectively, in treasury that were previously surrendered by employees to satisfy tax withholding due in connection with the vesting of certain restricted stock units as well as 10.7 million shares previously repurchased under our past repurchase programs.

For accounting purposes, common stock repurchased under our stock repurchase programs is recorded based upon the settlement date of the applicable trade. Such repurchased shares are held in treasury and are presented using the cost method.

2020 Employee Share Purchase Plan – On June 12, 2024, upon approval at our annual meeting of stockholders, we adopted an amendment to the eHealth, Inc. 2020 Employee Stock Purchase Plan ("ESPP") to increase the maximum number of shares that may be issued under the ESPP by 0.5 million shares to a total of 1.0 million shares. Employees purchased 0.1 million shares of common stock under our ESPP during the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023. There were 0.5 million shares remaining for purchase under our ESPP as of December 31, 2024, there was \$0.1 million of unrecognized compensation cost related to our employee stock purchase program, expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 0.4 years.

Equity Plans – As of December 31, 2024, we can award share-based compensation grants under the Amended and Restated 2021 Inducement Plan (the "A&R 2021 Inducement Plan") and the 2024 Equity Incentive Plan (the "2024 Equity Plan") (together, the "Equity Plans"). On June 12, 2024, upon approval at our annual meeting of stockholders, we adopted the 2024 Equity Plan which replaced the Amended and Restated 2014 Equity Incentive Plan (the "2014 Equity Plan"). Subject to applicable laws, we are permitted to grant awards of stock options, restricted stock units, stock appreciation rights, performance units and performance shares to eligible employees, directors and consultants of ours or any parent or subsidiary corporation of ours under the 2024 Equity Plan. We have reserved for issuance under the 2024 Equity Plan a number of shares equal to the sum of (i) 1,350,000 shares, plus (ii) up to an additional 300,000 shares reserved for issuance under the 2014 Equity Plan that (A) were reserved but not issued or (B) are subject to equity awards that later expire or otherwise terminate without having been exercised or issued in full or are forfeited to or repurchased by the Company due to failure to vest. The 2024 Equity Plan does not include an evergreen provision to automatically increase the number of shares available under the plan, and any increase in the number of shares authorized for issuance under the 2024 Equity Plan requires stockholder approval. Additionally, while shares subject to awards granted under our 2024 Equity Plan which expire or become unexercisable or are forfeited to or repurchased by us due to failure to vest will return to the 2024 Equity Plan share reserve, the following shares will not return to the share reserve for future issuance: (i) shares used in connection with the exercise of an option and/or stock appreciation right to pay the exercise price or purchase price of such award or satisfy applicable tax withholding obligations; and (ii) the gross number of shares subject to stock appreciation

We generally issue previously unissued common stock upon the exercise of stock options and the vesting of restricted and performance-based stock units. However, we may reissue previously acquired treasury shares to satisfy these future issuances. As of December 31, 2024, there were 5.8 million shares reserved for issuance and 2.1 million shares available for grant under the Equity Plans.

Stock-Based Compensation Expense – The following table summarizes stock-based compensation expense recognized for the years presented below (in thousands):

	Year Ended December 31,					
	 2024		2023			
Restricted stock units	\$ 16,081	\$	19,151			
Performance-based stock units	2,397		2,422			
Common stock options	1,283		1,254			
Employee stock purchase program	120		386			
Total stock-based compensation expense	\$ 19,881	\$	23,213			
Related tax benefit recognized	\$ 4,748	\$	5,488			

The following table summarizes stock-based compensation expense by operating function for the years presented below (in thousands):

	Year Ended December 31,					
		2024		2023		
Marketing and advertising	\$	2,413	\$	2,201		
Customer care and enrollment		1,845		2,287		
Technology and content		3,331		4,498		
General and administrative		12,292		14,227		
Total stock-based compensation expense		19,881		23,213		
Amount capitalized for internal-use software		687		1,040		
Total stock-based compensation	\$	20,568	\$	24,253		

For the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, there was a total of \$0.7 million and \$1.0 million, respectively, of stock-based compensation expense capitalized in the internal-use software and website development costs classified under Other assets, which represents a noncash investing activity.

Stock Options – The following table summarizes stock option activity (in thousands, except weighted-average exercise price and weighted-average remaining contractual life data):

	Number of Stock Options	Е	Weighted Average Exercise Price	Weighted- Average Remaining Contractual Life (years)	ggregate sic Value ⁽²⁾
Outstanding as of December 31, 2023	218	\$	39.65	4.5	\$ _
Granted	_	\$	_		
Exercised	_	\$	_		
Forfeited	(5)	\$	18.75		
Outstanding balance as of December 31, 2024	213	\$	40.15	3.6	\$ _
Exercisable as of December 31, 2024	94	\$	39.04	3.3	\$ _

⁽¹⁾ Includes certain stock options with service, performance-based or market-based vesting criteria.

⁽²⁾ The aggregate intrinsic value is calculated as the product between eHealth's closing stock price as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 and the exercise price of in-the-money options as of those dates.

There were no options granted or exercised during the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023.

As of December 31, 2024, there was \$0.4 million of total unamortized compensation cost, net of estimated forfeitures, related to stock options, expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 0.4 years.

Restricted Stock Units – The following table summarizes restricted stock unit activity (in thousands, except weighted-average grant date fair value and weighted-average remaining service period data):

Mainless al

	Number of Restricted Stock Units	Weighted- Average Gran Date Fair Valu		Aggregate Intrinsic Value ⁽¹⁾
Outstanding as of December 31, 2023	3,105	\$ 11.3	1 1.3	\$ 27,083
Granted	1,921	\$ 5.2	8	
Vested	(1,384)	\$ 13.1	2	
Forfeited	(531)	\$ 7.6	8	
Outstanding as of December 31, 2024	3,111	\$ 7.4	1 1.1	\$ 29,247

⁽¹⁾ The aggregate intrinsic value is calculated as the difference of the grant date price and our closing stock price as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 multiplied by the number of restricted stock units outstanding as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

As of December 31, 2024, there was \$16.4 million of total unamortized compensation cost, net of estimated forfeitures, related to restricted stock units, expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 2.0 years. The total fair value of restricted stock units vested during the year ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 was \$7.7 million and \$10.0 million, respectively.

Performance-based Stock Units – The following table summarizes performance-based stock unit activity (in thousands, except weighted-average grant date fair value and weighted-average remaining service period data):

	Number of Performance- based Stock Units	Αv	Weighted- verage Grant te Fair Value	Weighted- Average Remaining Service Period (years)	ggregate sic Value ⁽¹⁾
Outstanding as of December 31, 2023	400	\$	14.32	0.6	\$ 3,486
Granted	365	\$	5.17		
Vested	(303)	\$	7.38		
Forfeited	(77)	\$	14.75		
Outstanding as of December 31, 2024	385	\$	11.03	2.0	\$ 3,617

⁽¹⁾ The aggregate intrinsic value is calculated as the difference of the grant date price and our closing stock price as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 multiplied by the number of performance stock units outstanding as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

As of December 31, 2023, there was \$1.7 million of total unamortized compensation cost, net of estimated forfeitures, related to performance-based stock units, expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 2.0 years. The total fair value of performance-based stock units vested during the year ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 was \$2.5 million and \$0.7 million, respectively.

The weighted-average fair value of the market-based performance-based stock units was determined using the Monte Carlo simulation model using the following weighted average assumptions:

	Year Ended	December 31,
	2024	2023
Expected term (years)	n/a	1.1
Expected volatility	n/a	76.3%
Expected dividend yield	n/a	—%
Risk-free interest rate	n/a	4.0%
Weighted-average grant date fair value	n/a	\$4.79

Note 6 - Convertible Preferred Stock

Pursuant to an investment agreement dated February 17, 2021 with Echelon Health SPV, LP ("H.I.G."), an investment vehicle of H.I.G. Capital (the "H.I.G. Investment Agreement"), we issued and sold to H.I.G., in a private placement, 2,250,000 shares of Series A convertible preferred stock (the "Series A Preferred Stock"), par value \$0.001 per share, at an aggregate purchase price of \$225.0 million on April 30, 2021 (the "Closing Date"). We received \$214.0 million in net proceeds from the private placement with H.I.G., net of sales commissions and certain transaction fees totaling \$11.0 million. Our Series A Preferred Stock is considered temporary equity in our Consolidated Balance Sheets and we have determined there are no material embedded features that require recognition as a derivative asset or liability. The Series A Preferred Stock ranks senior to all other equity securities of the Company with respect to dividend rights and rights on the distribution of assets on any voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the affairs of the Company.

Voting Rights — The Series A Preferred Stock votes together with the common stock as a single class on all matters submitted to a vote of the holders of the common stock in accordance with the Certificate of Designations of Series A Preferred Stock, as filed with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware on April 30, 2021 (the "Certificate of Designations").

Dividends — The Series A Preferred Stock participates, on an as-converted basis, in all dividends paid to the holders of our common stock. From April 30, 2021 through June 30, 2023, dividends accrued at 8% per annum on the stated value of \$100 per share, payable in kind ("PIK"). Subsequent to June 30, 2023, dividends accrue at 8% per annum, with 6% PIK and 2% payable in cash in arrears. Dividends compound semiannually and are PIK and payable in cash in arrears, as applicable, on June 30 and December 31 of each year. During the year ended December 31, 2024, we made cash dividend payments in an aggregate amount of \$5.6 million. PIK dividends are cumulative and are added to the Accrued Value, as defined in the H.I.G. Investment Agreement.

Board Nomination Rights – As of December 31, 2024, H.I.G. has designated one member and one board observer to the Company's Board of Directors.

Conversion Rights — The Series A Preferred Stock is convertible at any time into common stock at a conversion rate ("Conversion Price") and is subject to further adjustment and the number of shares of common stock issuable upon conversion is subject to certain limitations, each as set forth in the H.I.G. Investment Agreement. As of December 31, 2024, the Conversion Price was equal to \$79.5861 per share.

Mandatory Conversion of the Series A Preferred Stock by the Company — At any time on or after the third anniversary of the Closing Date, if the volume-weighted average price per share of our common stock is greater than 167.5% of the then-current Conversion Price for 20 consecutive trading days in a 30-day trading day period, the Company has the right to convert all, but not less than all, of the Series A Preferred Stock into common stock at a conversion rate in accordance with the Certificate of Designations.

Redemption Put Right — At any time on or after the sixth anniversary of the Closing Date, holders of the Series A Preferred Stock has the right to cause the Company to redeem all or any portion of the Series A Preferred Stock in cash at an amount equal to the greater of (i) 135% of the Accrued Value per share as of the redemption date, plus accrued PIK dividends that have not yet been added to the Accrued Value and (ii) the amount per share that would be payable on an as-converted basis on such Series A Preferred Stock at the then-current Accrued Value, plus accrued PIK dividends that have not yet been added to the Accrued Value, and in either case of (i) or (ii) plus any unpaid cash dividends that would have otherwise been settled in cash in connection with such conversion (the greater of (i) and (ii), the "Redemption Price").

Redemption Call Right — At any time on or after the sixth anniversary of the Closing Date, the Company has the right (but not the obligation) to redeem out of legally available funds and for cash consideration all (but not less than all) of the Series A Preferred Stock upon at least 30 days prior written notice at an amount equal to the Redemption Price.

Covenants and Liquidity Requirements — As long as H.I.G. continues to own at least 30% of the Series A Preferred Stock originally issued to it in the private placement, the consent of H.I.G. is required for the Company to incur certain indebtedness and to take certain other corporate actions as set forth in the H.I.G. Investment Agreement. The Company is required to maintain an Asset Coverage Ratio (as defined in the H.I.G. Investment Agreement), which was 2.5x from August 2023 onwards. Additionally, the H.I.G. Investment Agreement requires the Company to maintain a Minimum Liquidity Amount (as defined in the H.I.G. Investment Agreement) for certain periods that ranges from \$65.0 million to \$125.0 million. Failure to maintain the Minimum Asset Coverage Ratio or the Minimum Liquidity Amount as of the date or for the time period required by the H.I.G. Investment Agreement, for as long as H.I.G. continues to own at least 30% of the Series A Preferred Stock originally issued to it in the private placement, entitles H.I.G., subject to conditions and restrictions specified therein, to additional rights, including the right to nominate one additional member to the Company's Board of Directors, the right to approve the Company's annual budget, the right to approve hiring or termination of certain key executives, and the right to approve the incurrence of certain indebtedness. As of September 30, 2023, we failed to maintain the Minimum Asset Coverage Ratio, which entitles H.I.G. to the additional rights set forth above. On March 13, 2024, the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee of our Board of Directors approved the appointment of a board observer designated by H.I.G. As of November 30, 2024, we were no longer in compliance with the Minimum Liquidity Amount. The non-compliance with the Minimum Asset Coverage Ratio or the Minimum Liquidity Amount does not entitle H.I.G. to accelerate the redemption of the Series A Preferred Stock.

As of December 31, 2024, the estimated Series A Preferred Stock redemption value equals 135% of the Accrued Value per share as of the redemption date, plus accrued PIK dividends, that have not yet been added to the Accrued Value, which is significantly in excess of the fair value of the common stock into which the Series A Preferred Stock is convertible as of December 31, 2024. We have elected to apply the accretion method to adjust the carrying value of the Series A Preferred Stock to its redemption value at the earliest date of redemption, April 30, 2027. Amounts recognized to accrete the Series A Preferred Stock to its estimated redemption value are treated as a deemed dividend and are recorded as a reduction to retained earnings, to the extent available, and if not, are recorded as a reduction to additional-paid-in-capital. The estimated redemption value will vary in subsequent periods due to the redemption put right described above and we have elected to recognize such changes prospectively. No shares of Series A Preferred Stock have been converted and the Series A Preferred Stock was convertible into 3.7 million shares of common stock as of December 31, 2024.

The following table summarizes the proceeds and changes to our Series A Preferred Stock (in thousands):

Gross proceeds	\$ 225,000
Less: issuance costs	 (10,975)
Net proceeds	\$ 214,025
Balance as of December 31, 2023	\$ 298,053
Accrued paid-in-kind dividends	 16,688
Change in preferred stock redemption value	 22,768
Balance as of December 31, 2024	\$ 337,509

Note 7 - Net Loss Per Share Attributable to Common Stockholders

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted net loss attributable to common stockholders per share (in thousands, except per share amounts):

	Year Ended December 31,			er 31,
		2024		2023
<u>Basic</u>				
Net loss attributable to common stockholders	\$	(34,960)	\$	(66,515)
Shares used in per share calculation – basic		29,335		28,016
Net loss attributable to common stockholders per share – basic	\$	(1.19)	\$	(2.37)
Diluted:				
Net loss attributable to common stockholders	\$	(34,960)	\$	(66,515)
Shares used in per share calculation – basic	*	29,335	Ŧ	28,016
Dilutive effect of common stock		_		_
Shares used in per share calculation – diluted		29,335		28,016
Net loss attributable to common stockholders per share – diluted	\$	(1.19)	\$	(2.37)

For each of the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, we had securities outstanding that could potentially dilute net loss per share, but the shares from the assumed conversion or exercise of these securities were excluded in the computation of diluted net loss per share as their effect would have been anti-dilutive. The number of weighted-average outstanding anti-dilutive shares that were excluded from the computation of diluted net loss per share consisted of the following (in thousands):

	Year Ended De	cember 31,
	2024	2023
Convertible preferred stock	3,548	3,340
Restricted stock units	1,852	2,255
Performance-based stock units	209	154
Common stock options	216	221
Employee stock purchase program	9	51
Total	5,834	6,021

Note 8 - Commitments and Contingencies

Service and Licensing Obligations

We have entered into service and licensing agreements with third-party vendors to provide various services, including network access, equipment maintenance and software licensing. As the benefits of these agreements are experienced uniformly over the applicable contractual periods, we record the related service and licensing expenses on a straight-line basis, although actual cash payment obligations under certain of these agreements fluctuate over the terms of the agreements.

Our future minimum payments under non-cancellable contractual service and licensing obligations as of December 31, 2024 were as follows (in thousands):

 For the Years Ending December 31,

 2025
 \$ 8,171

 2026
 4,337

 2027
 512

 2028
 —

 2029
 —

 Thereafter
 —

 Total
 \$ 13,020

Operating Leases

Refer to Note 10 – Leases for commitments related to our operating leases.

Self-Insurance

We provide comprehensive major medical benefits to our employees. Effective January 1, 2023, we began maintaining a substantial portion of our U.S. employee health insurance benefits on a self-insured basis with up to \$0.3 million per individual per year with the maximum claim liability as of December 31, 2024 of \$22.5 million. As a result, we record a self-insurance liability based on claims filed and an estimate of claims incurred but not yet reported. For the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 we had a self-insurance liability balance of \$2.1 million and \$2.5 million, respectively, in the "Accrued compensation and benefits" line on our Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Contingencies

From time to time, we receive inquiries from governmental bodies and also may be subject to various legal proceedings and claims arising in the ordinary course of business. We assess contingencies to determine the degree of probability and range of possible loss for potential accrual in our consolidated financial statements. An estimated loss contingency is accrued in the consolidated financial statements if it is probable that a liability has been incurred and the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated. Legal proceedings or other contingencies could result in material costs, even if we ultimately prevail, and we may from time to time enter into settlements to resolve such litigation. Legal costs incurred in connection with the resolution of claims, lawsuits and other contingencies generally are expensed as incurred. There were no material litigation-related accruals recorded during the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023.

Note 9 - Segment and Geographic Information

Reportable Segments

Our operating and reportable segments have been determined in accordance with ASC 280, Segment Reporting. Our business structure is comprised of two reportable operating segments: (i) Medicare, and (ii) Employer and Individual ("E&I"). Our Medicare segment includes operating segments that have been aggregated based on the nature of products and services, types or class of customers, methods used to distribute the products and services, the nature of the regulatory environment and similarity of economic characteristics.

The Medicare segment consists primarily of commissions earned as the broker of record from our sale of Medicare-related health insurance plans, including Medicare Advantage, Medicare Supplement and Medicare Part D prescription drug plans, and to a lesser extent, ancillary products sold to our Medicare-eligible beneficiaries, including but not limited to, dental and vision insurance. Our commissions may include certain bonus payments, which are generally based on attaining predetermined target sales levels or other objectives, as determined by the health insurance carriers. The Medicare segment consists of amounts earned in connection with our advertising program that allows Medicare-related carriers to purchase advertising on a separate website developed, hosted and maintained by us or pursuant to which we perform other services as marketing and our delivery and sale to third parties of Medicare-related health insurance leads generated by our ecommerce platforms and our marketing activities. The Medicare segment also generates revenue from our fee-based business process outsourcing services ("BPO") where we are not the broker of record and cash is collected in advance or in close proximity to when revenue is recognized.

The E&I segment consists primarily of commissions earned from our sale of individual and family plans, including qualified and non-qualified, small business health insurance plans, and ancillary products sold to our non-Medicare-eligible consumers, including but not limited to, dental, vision and short-term insurance. To a lesser extent, the E&I segment includes amounts earned from our online sponsorship program that allows carriers to purchase advertising space in specific markets on our website as well as our technology licensing activities.

We report segment information based on how our chief executive officer, who is our chief operating decision maker ("CODM"), regularly reviews our operating results, allocates resources and makes decisions regarding our business operation in the annual budget and forecasting process along with evaluation of actual performance. Our CODM considers budget-to-actual variances on a monthly basis for our segment performance measures when making decisions about allocating capital and personnel to our segments. These performance measures include total segment revenue and segment gross profit (loss). Prior to the fourth quarter of 2024, we reported our measure of segment profitability as segment profit (loss). Accordingly, prior period amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current period presentation, in all material respects.

Segment gross profit (loss) is calculated as total revenue for the applicable segment less variable marketing and advertising expenses, segment CC&E and cost of revenue for the applicable segment. Variable marketing and advertising expenses represent costs incurred in member acquisition from our direct marketing and marketing partner channels and exclude fixed overhead costs, such as personnel related costs, consulting expenses and other operating costs allocated to the marketing and advertising department. Segment CC&E expenses include expenses we incur in assisting applicants during the enrollment process and exclude operating costs allocated to the CC&E department.

The results of our reportable segments are summarized for the periods presented below (in thousands):

	Year Ended December 31,			
	 2024		2023	
Medicare:				
Total revenue	\$ 500,638	\$	406,467	
Variable marketing and advertising	(157,121)		(141,487)	
Medicare CC&E	(150,613)		(137,910)	
Cost of revenue	 (1,396)		(1,312)	
Medicare segment gross profit	\$ 191,508	\$	125,758	
		Ended 1 <u>ber 31</u>	,	
	 2024	2023		
Employer and Individual:				
Total revenue	\$ 31,772	\$	46,404	
Variable marketing and advertising	(4,321)		(3,304)	
E&I CC&E	(10,103)		(9,214)	
Cost of revenue	 (398)		(459)	
E&I segment gross profit	\$ 16,950	\$	33,427	
		Ended ober 31	,	
	 2024		2023	
Consolidated:				
Total revenue	\$ 532,410	\$	452,871	
Variable marketing and advertising	(161,442)		(144,791)	
Segment CC&E	(160,716)		(147,124)	
Cost of revenue	 (1,794)		(1,771)	
Total segment gross profit	\$ 208,458	\$	159,185	

A reconciliation of our segment gross profit (loss) to the Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss) for the periods presented is as follows (in thousands):

	Year Ended December 31,			
	 2024		2023	
Total segment gross profit	\$ 208,458	\$	159,185	
Other marketing and advertising (1)	(29,395)		(27,849)	
Other CC&E (2)	(2,732)		(2,438)	
Technology and content	(53,520)		(58,609)	
General and administrative	(89,765)		(99,363)	
Impairment, restructuring and other charges	(9,475)		_	
Interest expense	(11,159)		(10,974)	
Other income, net	 6,900		9,453	
Income (loss) before income taxes	\$ 19,312	\$	(30,595)	

¹⁾ Other marketing and advertising costs consist of fixed marketing and advertising, previously capitalized labor, depreciation and share-based compensation costs.

There were no inter-segment revenue transactions for the periods presented. With the exception of contract assets – commissions receivable, which is presented by segment in *Note 3 – Supplemental Financial Statement Information*, our CODM does not separately evaluate assets by segment, and therefore assets by segment are not presented.

Geographic Information

Our long-lived assets primarily consist of property and equipment, net and internally developed software. Our long-lived assets are attributed to the geographic location in which they are located. Long-lived assets by geographical area are summarized as follows (in thousands):

	Decen	nber 31, 2024	December 31, 2023		
United States	\$	26,033	\$	29,419	
China		299		281	
Total	\$	26,332	\$	29,700	

Significant Customers

Substantially all revenue for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 was generated from customers located in the United States. Carriers representing 10% or more of our total revenue are summarized as follows. The majority of the revenue was from the Medicare segment.

	Year Ended Decen	nber 31,
	2024	2023
Humana	24 %	27 %
UnitedHealthcare (1)	22 %	23 %
Aetna ⁽¹⁾	18 %	15 %

⁽¹⁾ Percentages include the carriers' subsidiaries.

⁽²⁾ Other CC&E costs consist of previously capitalized labor, depreciation and share-based compensation costs.

Note 10 - Leases

Our lease portfolio primarily consists of operating leases for office space and our leases have remaining lease terms of 1 to 5 years. Certain of these leases have free or escalating rent payment provisions. We recognize lease expense on a straight-line basis over the terms of the leases, although actual cash payment obligations under certain of these agreements fluctuate over the terms of the agreements. Most leases include options to renew, and the exercise of these options is at our discretion.

Subsequent to becoming a remote first workplace in the third quarter of 2022, we executed several subleases of our office space in the United States. The subleases run through the remaining term of the primary leases. As of December 31, 2024, we expect to generate a total of \$12.2 million in future sublease income through January 31, 2030. Sublease income is recorded on a straight-line basis as a reduction of lease expense in our Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss).

We test right-of-use assets when impairment indicators are present in accordance with the asset impairment provisions of ASC 360, *Property, Plant and Equipment*. As part of our continued cost savings initiatives, we reassessed our occupied leased office space to identify excess space to vacate and potentially sublease. We also reassessed current market conditions in our previously vacated leased office spaces that have not yet been subleased. As a result, we determined impairment indicators were present and we performed impairment testing of our right-of-use assets, including leasehold improvements. We utilized an income approach to value the asset groups by performing a discounted cash flow analysis and determined that for certain leases the net carrying values exceeded the estimated discounted future cash flows expected to be derived from the properties based on Level 3 inputs, including current sublease market rent, future sublease market conditions and the discount rate. This resulted in \$7.5 million of impairment charges related to our operating lease right-of-use assets and property, plant and equipment, which was reflected in the "Impairment, restructuring and other charges" line in our Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss) for the year ended December 31, 2024. See *Note 11 — Impairment, Restructuring and Other Charges* for further discussion about our asset impairment charges. We recorded no impairment charges related to operating lease right-of-use assets and the corresponding property, plant and equipment during the year ended December 31, 2023.

The components of operating lease costs were as follows (in thousands):

	Year Ended December 31,			
	 2024		2023	
Operating lease expense	\$ 5,659	\$	7,912	
Operating sublease income	(2,549)		(2,210)	
Total operating lease cost	\$ 3,110	\$	5,702	

Supplemental information related to our leases are as follows (dollars in thousands):

	Year Ended December 31,			
		2024		2023
Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of operating lease liabilities	\$	8,881	\$	9,489
Non-cash investing activities relating to operating lease right-of-use assets	\$	509	\$	1,285

	December 31, 2024	December 31, 2023
Weighted-average remaining lease term of operating leases	3.9 years	4.8 years
Weighted-average discount rate used to recognize operating lease right-of-use-assets	5.7 %	5.7 %

As of December 31, 2024, maturities of our operating lease liabilities are as follows (in thousands):

2025 \$	9,162
	7.004
2026	7,691
2027	6,950
2028	4,998
2029	3,008
Thereafter	196
Total lease payments (1)	32,005
Less imputed interest	(3,542)
Total \$	28,463

⁽¹⁾ Non-cancellable sublease proceeds for the years ending December 31, 2025, 2026, 2027, 2028, 2029 and thereafter of \$2.7 million, \$2.9 million, \$3.0 million, \$3.1 million, \$1.1 million, and \$0.1 million, respectively, are not included in the table above.

Note 11 - Impairment, Restructuring and Other Charges

The following table details impairment, restructuring and other charges for each of the periods presented (in thousands):

	Year Ended December 31,			
	 2024		2023	
Asset impairment charges	\$ 7,479	\$		_
Restructuring and reorganization charges	 1,996			
Impairment, restructuring and other charges	\$ 9,475	\$		_

Asset Impairments

For the year ended December 31, 2024, we recognized non-cash, pre-tax asset impairment charges of \$7.5 million, related to several of our leased office spaces in the "Impairment, restructuring and other charges" line in our Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss). These charges were comprised of \$7.0 million of operating lease right-of-use asset impairments and \$0.5 million of property and equipment impairment.

Restructuring

Our restructuring and reorganization costs and liabilities consist primarily of severance, transition and other related costs. The following table summarizes the cash-based restructuring and reorganization related liabilities (in thousands):

Balance at December 31, 2023	\$ _
Restructuring and reorganization charges	1,996
Payments	 (1,996)
Balance at December 31, 2024	\$ _

During the year ended December 31, 2024, we recognized \$2.0 million of pre-tax restructuring charges in the "Impairment, restructuring and other charges" line in our Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss), primarily related to employee termination benefits as a result of our cost-reduction efforts. Substantially all of

the restructuring charges were settled in cash and no equity awards were modified. As of December 31, 2024, we had no restructuring accrual on our Consolidated Balance Sheets. During the year ended December 31, 2023, we incurred no pre-tax restructuring charges.

Note 12 - Debt

On February 28, 2022, we entered into a term loan credit agreement, which provides for a \$70.0 million secured term loan credit facility, with Blue Torch Finance LLC, as administrative agent and collateral agent, and other lenders party thereto (the "Original Credit Agreement"). On August 16, 2022, we entered into a first amendment (the "First Amendment") to the Original Credit Agreement (as amended by the First Amendment, the "First Amended Credit Agreement"). The First Amendment replaced the LIBOR-based Adjusted Euro currency Rate (as defined in the Original Credit Agreement) with Adjusted Term SOFR (as defined in the First Amendment) as a reference rate for loans under the Original Credit Agreement. On November 1, 2024, we entered into a second amendment (the "Second Amendment") to the First Amended Credit Agreement (as amended by the First Amendment and the Second Amendment, the "Credit Agreement"), which, among other things, (i) extends the maturity date of the Credit Agreement from February 2025 to February 2026, (ii) removes the "exit fee" contemplated by the Credit Agreement and replaces it with an "applicable premium" that is payable in the event of any voluntary or mandatory prepayment of the loan and (iii) reduces the margin applicable to SOFR loans and the margin applicable to base rate loans. The proceeds of the loans under the Credit Agreement may be used for working capital and general corporate purposes and to pay fees and expenses in connection with the entry into the Credit Agreement.

In accordance with ASC 470-50, *Debt Modification and Extinguishments*, the Second Amendment was accounted for as a debt modification. The \$1.1 million extension fee paid to the lenders of the Credit Agreement during the quarter ended December 31, 2024 has been recorded as a direct deduction from the face amount of the loan on our Consolidated Balance Sheets. Similar to the \$5.1 million of closing costs incurred for the Original Credit Agreement, the extension fee is amortized on a straight-line basis over the remaining term of the Credit Agreement in the "Interest expense" line in our Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss). Additionally, we paid \$1.3 million during the quarter ended December 31, 2024 in third-party costs as part of the Second Amendment, which is recorded in the "Other income, net" line in our Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss). For the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, total amortization of closing costs, or debt issuance costs, was \$1.8 million and \$1.6 million respectively. There were \$1.5 million of unamortized issuance costs as of December 31, 2024. The carrying value of the term loan approximates the fair value, based on Level 2 inputs (observable market prices in less than active markets), as the interest rate is variable over the selected interest period and is similar to current rates at which we can borrow funds. The carrying value of the loan was \$68.5 million as of December 31, 2024.

The loans under the Credit Agreement bear interest, at our option, at either a rate based on the Adjusted Term SOFR or a base rate, in each case plus a margin. The base rate is the highest of the prime rate, the federal funds rate plus 0.50% and three-month Adjusted Term SOFR plus 1.00%. The Second Amendment reduced the margin from 7.50% to 7.00% for Adjusted Term SOFR loans and from 6.50% to 6.00% for base rate loans. As of December 31, 2024, the interest rate was 11.78%. For the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, we incurred interest expense of \$9.2 million and \$9.1 million, respectively.

Furthermore, as part of the Credit Agreement, we incur a \$0.3 million fee per annum, payable annually. The outstanding obligations under the Credit Agreement are payable in full on the maturity date. The Credit Agreement matures in February 2026. We have the right to prepay the loans under the Credit Agreement in whole or in part at any time, subject, to an "applicable premium" that is payable in the event of any voluntary prepayment or certain mandatory prepayments of the loans under the Credit Agreement in an amount equal to 1.00% of the loans being prepaid, plus, solely in the case of loans prepaid on or prior to March 1, 2025, an additional "make-whole" amount. Our obligations under the Credit Agreement are guaranteed by certain of our material domestic subsidiaries and substantially all of our assets and the assets of such guarantors, in each case, subject to customary exclusion.

Financial covenants in the Credit Agreement require that we maintain Liquidity (as defined in the Credit Agreement) at or above \$25.0 million as of the last calendar day of any month. The Credit Agreement also requires that the outstanding amount as of the last calendar day of any month be less than 50% of our total contract assets - commissions receivable (i.e., both current and non-current commissions receivable). As of December 31, 2024, we were in compliance with our loan covenants.

Note 13 - Income Taxes

The components of our income (loss) before income taxes were as follows (in thousands):

	Year Ended December 31,		
	2024		2023
United States	\$ 17,707	\$	(31,972)
Foreign	1,605		1,377
Income (loss) before income taxes	\$ 19,312	\$	(30,595)

The federal, state and foreign income tax provision (benefit) is summarized as follows (in thousands):

	Year Ended December 31,		
	 2024		2023
Current:			
Federal	\$ _	\$	_
State	(177)		68
Foreign	254		221
Total current	77		289
Deferred:			
Federal	7,573		(2,164)
State	1,605		(506)
Foreign	_		_
Total deferred	 9,178		(2,670)
Provision for (benefit from) income taxes	\$ 9,255	\$	(2,381)

The effective tax rate of our provision for (benefit from) income taxes differs from the federal statutory rate as follows:

Year Ended December 31,		
2024	2023	
21.0 %	21.0 %	
4.4	2.8	
11.0	(6.8)	
7.4	(4.7)	
1.4	(0.9)	
(3.3)	1.7	
1.6	(2.0)	
0.8	(1.5)	
3.4	_	
0.2	(1.8)	
47.9 %	7.8 %	
	2024 21.0 % 4.4 11.0 7.4 1.4 (3.3) 1.6 0.8 3.4 0.2	

EHEALTH, INC. NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes, together with operating losses and tax credit carryforwards.

The tax effects of significant items comprising our deferred taxes as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 were as follows (in thousands):

	December 31, 2024		December 31, 2023	
Deferred tax assets:				
Net operating losses	\$	160,610	\$	154,607
Intangible assets		25,242		21,232
Research and development credits carryovers		13,466		12,493
Operating lease liabilities		6,912		8,458
Accruals and reserves		6,442		6,352
Fixed assets		982		1,069
Stock-based compensation		759		1,283
Other		2,809		2,279
Total deferred tax assets		217,222		207,773
Valuation allowance		(5,206)		(4,888)
Total deferred tax assets net of valuation allowance		212,016		202,885
Deferred tax liabilities:				
Commissions receivable		(248,038)		(227,242)
Right-of-use assets		(2,848)		(5,330)
Total deferred tax liabilities		(250,886)		(232,572)
Net deferred tax liabilities	\$	(38,870)	\$	(29,687)

Assessing the realizability of our deferred tax assets is dependent upon several factors, including the likelihood and amount, if any, of future taxable income in relevant jurisdictions during the periods in which those temporary differences become deductible. We forecast taxable income by considering all available positive and negative evidence, including our history of operating income and losses and our financial plans and estimates that we use to manage the business. These assumptions require significant judgment about future taxable income. As a result, the amount of deferred tax assets considered realizable is subject to adjustment in future periods if estimates of future taxable income change.

As of December 31, 2024, a valuation allowance of \$5.2 million was recorded against California net deferred tax assets. The valuation allowance was recorded as a result of increased uncertainty regarding our future taxable income and a lack of sources of other taxable income to realize our net deferred tax assets in California. The remaining deferred tax assets are supported by the reversal of deferred tax liabilities.

The change in our valuation allowance is summarized as follows for the years ended (in thousands):

Deferred Tax Assets - Valuation Allowance	Bala	nce at beginning of year	Pr	rovision for income taxes	Write-offs and Deductions	Balance at end of year
December 31, 2024	\$	4,888	\$	361	\$ (43)	\$ 5,206
December 31, 2023		4,287		643	(42)	4,888

EHEALTH, INC. NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards as of December 31, 2024 are summarized as follows (in thousands):

	Amount	Expires
Net operating losses, federal (with expiration)	\$ 39,166	2034-2037
Net operating losses, federal (without expiration)	608,904	Indefinite
Net operating losses, state (with expiration)	433,374	2025-2044
Tax credits, federal	12,346	2025-2044
Tax credits, state	12,854	n/a

Utilization of the net operating loss carryforwards and credits may be subject to a substantial annual limitation due to ownership changes that may have occurred or that could occur in the future, as required by Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code and similar state provisions. These ownership change limitations may limit the amount of net operating loss carryforwards and other tax attributes that can be utilized annually to offset future taxable income and tax, respectively.

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of our unrecognized tax benefits is as follows (in thousands):

	Year Ended December 31,		ber 31,	
		2024		2023
Beginning balance	\$	10,639	\$	9,875
Reductions for tax positions of prior years		(363)		_
Lapse of statute of limitations		(91)		(36)
Additions based on tax positions related to the current year		948		800
Ending balance	\$	11,133	\$	10,639

As of December 31, 2024, the total amount of gross unrecognized tax benefits was \$11.1 million, of which \$9.8 million, if recognized, would affect our effective tax rate. As of December 31, 2023, the total amount of gross unrecognized tax benefits was \$10.6 million, of which \$9.4 million, if recognized, would affect our effective tax rate.

We record interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits in benefit from income taxes. As of December 31, 2024, the amount accrued for estimated interest related to uncertain tax positions was immaterial. We did not record an accrual for penalties.

As of December 31, 2024, we had an immaterial amount related to tax positions for which it is reasonably possible that the statute of limitations will expire in various jurisdictions and income tax exams will close within the next 12 months.

We are subject to taxation in various jurisdictions, including federal, state and foreign. Our federal and state income tax returns are generally not subject to examination by taxing authorities for fiscal years before 2005 due to our credit carryforwards.

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Our Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation of our chief executive officer and chief financial officer, evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act, as of the end of the period covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Based on management's evaluation, our chief executive officer and chief financial officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures are effective to provide reasonable assurance that information we are required to disclose in reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in Securities and Exchange Commission rules and forms, and that such information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our chief executive officer and chief financial officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Management's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act. Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our chief executive officer and chief financial officer, we conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2024 based on the guidelines established in *Internal Control—Integrated Framework* issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 framework). Our internal control over financial reporting includes policies and procedures that provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external reporting purposes in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

Based on the results of our evaluation, our management concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2024. We reviewed the results of management's assessment with our Audit Committee.

Ernst & Young LLP, our independent registered public accounting firm, has issued a report on the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2024, which is presented below.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the three months ended December 31, 2024 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Inherent Limitations on Effectiveness of Controls

Our management, including our chief executive officer and chief financial officer, believes that our disclosure controls and our internal control over financial reporting are designed to provide reasonable assurance of achieving their objectives and are effective at the reasonable assurance level. However, our management does not expect that our disclosure controls or our internal control over financial reporting will prevent all errors and all fraud. A control system, no matter how well conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the control system are met. Further, the design of a control system must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints, and the benefits of controls must be considered relative to their costs. Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, have been detected. These inherent limitations include the

Table of Contents

realities that judgments in decision-making can be faulty, and that breakdowns can occur because of a simple error or mistake. Additionally, controls can be circumvented by the individual acts of some persons, by collusion of two or more people or by management override of the controls. The design of any system of controls also is based in part upon certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events, and there can be no assurance that any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential future conditions; over time, controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or the degree of compliance with policies or procedures may deteriorate. Because of the inherent limitations in a cost-effective control system, misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected.

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Stockholders and the Board of Directors of eHealth, Inc.

Opinion on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

We have audited eHealth, Inc.'s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2024, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 framework) (the COSO criteria). In our opinion, eHealth, Inc. (the Company) maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2024, based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the 2024 consolidated financial statements of the Company and our report dated February 27, 2025, expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

Basis for Opinion

The Company's management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying Management's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company's internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects.

Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

A company's internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company's internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company's assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

San Francisco, California February 27, 2025

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

Securities Trading Plans of Directors and Executive Officers

During our last fiscal quarter, no director or officer, as defined in Rule 16a-1(f) of the Exchange Act, adopted or terminated a "Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement" or any "non-Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement," each as defined in Item 408 of Regulation S-K.

ITEM 9C. DISCLOSURE REGARDING FOREIGN JURISDICTIONS THAT PREVENT INSPECTIONS

Not applicable.

PART III

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The information concerning our directors, executive officers, compliance with Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act, and corporate governance required by this Item 10 of Form 10-K is incorporated by reference from the information contained in the Definitive Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of Stockholders, which is expected to be filed within 120 days after our fiscal year ended December 31, 2024.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by Item 11 of Form 10-K is incorporated herein by reference from the information contained in the Definitive Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of Stockholders, which is expected to be filed within 120 days after our fiscal year ended December 31, 2024.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information required by Item 12 of Form 10-K is incorporated herein by reference from the information contained in the Definitive Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of Stockholders, which is expected to be filed within 120 days after our fiscal year ended December 31, 2024.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The information required by Item 13 of Form 10-K is incorporated herein by reference from the information contained in the Definitive Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of Stockholders, which is expected to be filed within 120 days after our fiscal year ended December 31, 2024.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by Item 14 of Form 10-K is incorporated herein by reference from the information contained in the Definitive Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of Stockholders, which is expected to be filed within 120 days after our fiscal year ended December 31, 2024.

PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(a) We have filed the following documents as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K:

1. Consolidated Financial Statements

Information in response to this Item is included in Item 8 of Part II of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

2. Financial Statement Schedules

All schedules are omitted because they are not applicable, not required or because the required information is included in the consolidated financial statements or notes thereto.

3. Exhibits

See Item 15(b) below.

- (b) *Exhibits* We have filed, or incorporated into this Annual Report on Form 10-K by reference, the exhibits listed on the accompanying Index to Exhibits of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
- (c) Financial Statement Schedule See Item 15(a) above.

ITEM 16. FORM 10-K SUMMARY

None.

February 27, 2025

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

eHealth, Inc. /s/ FRANCIS SOISTMAN /s/ JOHN DOLAN Francis Soistman John Dolan Chief Financial Officer Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities indicated on February 27, 2025. Signature Title Chief Executive Officer /s/ FRANCIS SOISTMAN (Principal Executive Officer) and Director Francis Soistman Chief Financial Officer /s/ JOHN DOLAN John Dolan (Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer) /s/ PRAMA BHATT Director Prama Bhatt Director /s/ ANDREA C. BRIMMER Andrea C. Brimmer Director /s/ BETH A. BROOKE Beth A. Brooke Director /s/ A. JOHN HASS A. John Hass Director /s/ ERIN L. RUSSELL Erin L. Russell /s/ CESAR M. SORIANO Director Cesar M. Soriano /s/ AARON C. TOLSON Director Aaron C. Tolson /s/ DALE B. WOLF Director Dale B. Wolf 115

EXHIBIT INDEX

Incorporation by Reference Herein

Exhibit Number	Description of Exhibit	Form	Date
3.1	Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Registrant	Registration Statement on Form S-1, as amended (File No. 333-133526)	April 25, 2006
3.2	Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Registrant	Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-33071)	December 19, 2022
3.3	Certificate of Designations of Series A Preferred Stock, par value \$0.001, of eHealth, Inc.	Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-33071)	May 3, 2021
4.1	Form of the Registrant's Common Stock Certificate	Registration Statement on Form S-1, as amended (File No. 333-133526)	June 28, 2006
4.2	Description of Capital Stock	Annual Report on Form 10-K (File No. 001-33071)	March 1, 2022
10.1	Investment Agreement, dated as of February 17, 2021, by and between eHealth, Inc. and Echelon Health SPV, LP	Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-33071)	February 18, 2021
10.2	Credit Agreement, dated February 28, 2022, by and among eHealth, Inc., Blue Torch Finance LLC and the other lenders identified therein	Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-33071)	February 28, 2022
10.2.1	First Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated August 16, 2022, by and among eHealth, Inc., Blue Torch Finance LLC and the lenders identified therein	Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-33071)	August 22, 2022
10.2.2	Second Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated November 1, 2024, by and among eHealth, Inc., Blue Torch Finance LLC and the lenders identified therein	Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-33071)	November 1, 2024
10.3*	Form of Indemnification Agreement	Annual Report on Form 10-K (File No. 001-33071)	February 26, 2021
10.4*	Executive Bonus Plan	Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 001-33071)	November 7, 2017
10.5*	Employment Agreement, dated December 13, 2021, between Fran Soistman and eHealth, Inc.	Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-33071)	December 17, 2021
10.6*	Severance Agreement, dated September 29, 2022 between Gavin Galimi and eHealth, Inc.	Annual Report on Form 10-K (File No. 001-33071)	March 1, 2023
10.7*	Severance Agreement, dated October 20, 2022 between John Stelben and eHealth, Inc.	Annual Report on Form 10-K (File No. 001-33071)	March 1, 2023

10.7.1*	Independent Contractor Agreement, dated May 29, 2024 between John Stelben and eHealthInsurance Services, Inc.	Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 001-33071)	August 7, 2024
10.8*	Severance Agreement, dated August 31, 2024 between John Dolan and eHealth, Inc.	Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 001-33071)	November 6, 2024
10.9*	† Severance Agreement, dated January 1, 2024, between Michelle Barbeau and eHealth, Inc.		
10.10*	Form of Deferral Election Form for Newly Eligible Individual with Existing Awards	Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 001-33071)	November 6, 2015
10.11*	Form of Deferral Election Form for Eligible Individual for Award to be Granted in the Next Calendar Year	Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 001-33071)	November 6, 2015
10.12*	Amended and Restated 2014 Equity Incentive Plan	Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 001-33071)	November 8, 2022
10.10.1*	Form of Notice of Stock Option Grant and Stock Option Agreement (Time-Based Vesting) under the Amended and Restated 2014 Equity Incentive Plan	Registration Statement on Form S-8 (File No. 333-196675)	June 11, 2014
10.10.7*	Form of Notice of Stock Option Grant and Stock Option Agreement (Performance-Based Vesting) under the Amended and Restated 2014 Equity Incentive Plan	Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 001-33071)	August 8, 2016
10.10.2*	Form of Notice of Stock Option Grant and Stock Option Agreement (People's Republic of China) under the Amended and Restated 2014 Equity Incentive Plan	Registration Statement on Form S-8 (File No. 333-196675)	June 11, 2014
10.10.3*	Form of Notice of Stock Unit Grant and Stock Unit Agreement (Initial Director Grant) under the Amended and Restated 2014 Equity Incentive Plan	Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 001-33071)	August 8, 2023
10.10.4*	Form of Notice of Stock Unit Grant and Stock Unit Agreement (Annual Director Grant) under the Amended and Restated 2014 Equity Incentive Plan	Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 001-33071)	August 8, 2023
10.10.5*	Form of Notice of Stock Unit Grant and Stock Unit Agreement (Time-Based Vesting) under the Amended and Restated 2014 Equity Incentive Plan	Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 001-33071)	August 9, 2021
10.10.8*	Form of Notice of Stock Unit Grant and Stock Unit Agreement (Performance-Based Vesting) under the Amended and Restated 2014 Equity Incentive Plan	Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 001-33071)	August 8, 2016
10.10.6*	Form of Notice of Stock Unit Grant and Stock Unit Agreement (People's Republic of China) under the Amended and Restated 2014 Equity Incentive Plan	Registration Statement on Form S-8 (File No. 333-196675)	June 11, 2014
10.11*	Amended and Restated 2020 Employee Stock Purchase Plan	Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-33071)	June 14, 2024
10.12*	Amended and Restated 2021 Inducement Plan	Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-33071)	October 5, 2022

10.12.1*		Form of Notice of Stock Option Grant and Stock Option Agreement (Time-Based Vesting) under the Amended and Restated 2021 Inducement Plan	Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-33071)	September 23, 2021
10.12.3*		Form of Notice of Stock Option Grant and Stock Option Agreement (Performance- Based Vesting) under the Amended and Restated 2021 Inducement Plan	Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-33071)	September 23, 2021
10.12.2*		Form of Notice of Stock Unit Grant and Stock Unit Agreement (Time-Based Vesting) under the Amended and Restated 2021 Inducement Plan	Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-33071)	September 23, 2021
10.12.4*		Form of Notice of Stock Unit Grant and Stock Unit Agreement (Performance-Based Vesting) under the Amended and Restated 2021 Inducement Plan	Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-33071)	September 23, 2021
10.13*		2024 Equity Incentive Plan	Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-33071)	June 14, 2024
10.13.1*		Form of Notice of Stock Option Grant and Stock Option Agreement under the 2024 Equity Incentive Plan	Registration Statement on Form S-8 (File No. 333-281336)	August 7, 2024
10.13.2*		Form of Notice of Time-Based Restricted Stock Unit Grant and Restricted Stock Unit Agreement under the 2024 Equity Incentive Plan	Registration Statement on Form S-8 (File No. 333-281336)	August 7, 2024
10.13.3*		Form of Notice of Performance-Based Restricted Stock Unit Grant and Restricted Stock Unit Agreement under the 2024 Equity Incentive Plan	Registration Statement on Form S-8 (File No. 333-281336)	August 7, 2024
19	†	Insider Trading Policy		
21.1		List of Subsidiaries	Annual Report on Form 10-K (File No. 001-33071)	March 19, 2018
23.1	†	Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm		
31.1	†	Certification of Francis Soistman, Chief Executive Officer of eHealth, Inc., pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a), as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002		
31.2	†	Certification of John Dolan, Chief Financial Officer of eHealth, Inc., pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a), as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002		
32.1	‡	Certification of Francis Soistman, Chief Executive Officer of eHealth, Inc., pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002		
32.2	‡	Certification of John Dolan, Chief Financial Officer of eHealth, Inc., pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002		
97		Compensation Recovery Policy	Annual Report on Form 10-K (File No. 001-33071)	February 29, 2024

101.INS	† Inline XBRL Instance Document - The instance document does not appear in the Interactive Data File because its XBRL tags are embedded within the Inline XBRL document
101.SCH	† Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
101.CAL	† Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document
101.DEF	† Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document
101.LAB	† Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document
101.PRE	† Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document
104	The cover page from the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2024, formatted in Inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101

- † Filed herewith.
- Furnished herewith.Indicates a management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.

EHEALTH, INC. SEVERANCE AGREEMENT

THIS SEVERANCE AGREEMENT (the "Agreement") is entered into effective as of January 1, 2024 by and between **EHEALTH, INC.** (together with its subsidiary, eHealthInsurance Services, Inc., the "Company") and Michelle Barbeau ("Executive").

1. AT-WILL EMPLOYMENT. Executive and the Company agree that Executive's employment with Company constitutes "at-will" employment. Executive and the Company acknowledge that this employment relationship may be terminated at any time, upon written notice to the other party, with or without Cause or Good Reason (as each such term is defined in Section 4 below), at the option either of the Company or Executive. However, as described in this Agreement, Executive may be entitled to severance benefits depending upon the circumstances of Executive's termination of employment.

2. SEVERANCE BENEFITS.

- (a) Involuntary Termination Other than for Cause or Voluntary Termination for Good Reason. If (i) Executive terminates his employment with the Company (or any parent or subsidiary of the Company) for "Good Reason" (as defined herein), or (ii) the Company (or any parent or subsidiary of the Company) terminates Executive's employment for other than "Cause" (as defined herein), and Executive signs and does not revoke a standard release of claims with the Company in a form substantially similar to that attached hereto as EXHIBIT A (the "Release"), then Executive shall receive the following severance benefits from the Company:
 - (i) *Severance Payment*. Executive shall receive a single lump-sum cash severance payment (less applicable withholding taxes) in an amount equal to twelve (12) months of Executive's then current annual base salary.
 - Budget Reconciliation Act of 1985 ("COBRA"), Executive shall receive one-hundred percent (100%) Company-paid group health, dental and vision coverage (the "Company-Paid Coverage"). If such coverage included Executive's dependents immediately prior to the termination, such dependents shall also be covered at Company expense. Company-Paid Coverage shall continue until the earlier of (i) twelve (12) months following the date of termination, or (ii) the date upon which Executive and his dependents become covered under another employer's group health, dental and vision plans that provide Executive and his dependents with comparable benefits and levels of coverage (such earlier date, the "COBRA Termination Date"). Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the Company determines, in its sole discretion, that it cannot provide the Company-Paid Coverage without a substantial risk of violating applicable law (including, without limitation, Section 2716 of the Public Health Service Act), the Company shall in lieu thereof provide to Executive a taxable monthly payment in an amount equal to the monthly COBRA premium that Executive would be required to pay to continue Executive's (and Executive's dependents', as applicable) group health, dental and vision coverage in effect on the date of Executive's employment termination (which amount shall be based on the premium for the first month of COBRA coverage),

which payments shall be made to Executive regardless of whether Executive elects COBRA continuation coverage and shall end on the COBRA Termination Date.

- **(b)** Involuntary Termination Other than for Cause or Voluntary Termination for Good Reason During the One-Year Period Following a Change in Control. If (i) Executive terminates his employment with the Company (or any parent or subsidiary of the Company) for "Good Reason" (as defined herein), or (ii) the Company (or any parent or subsidiary of the Company) terminates Executive's employment for other than "Cause" (as defined herein) during the one-year period following a Change in Control, and Executive signs and does not revoke the Release, then in addition to the severance benefits provided in Section 2(a) above, Executive shall receive the following severance benefits from the Company:
 - (i) *Bonus Payment*. Executive shall receive a single lump-sum cash payment (less applicable withholding taxes) in an amount equal to one hundred percent (100%) of Executive's then current target annual bonus.
 - (ii) Equity Award Vesting. One hundred percent (100%) of Executive's then outstanding and unvested time-based equity awards (whether stock options, stock appreciation rights, shares of restricted stock, restricted stock units or otherwise) shall become vested and shall otherwise remain subject to the terms and conditions of the applicable equity incentive plan and the award agreements pursuant to which the time-based equity awards were granted. Executive's then outstanding and unvested performance-based equity awards, shall vest in accordance with the terms of the applicable equity incentive plan and the award agreements pursuant to which the performance-based equity awards were granted and not pursuant to the terms of this Agreement. For the avoidance of doubt, all performance-based equity awards, including those where performance goals have been achieved but which remain subject to time-based vesting, shall not be considered time-based awards under the terms of this Agreement and shall be governed by the applicable incentive plan and the award agreements pursuant to which the performance-based equity awards were granted.
- (c) Voluntary Resignation; Termination for Cause; Death or Disability. If Executive's employment with the Company terminates (i) voluntarily by Executive other than for Good Reason (ii) for Cause by the Company, or (iii) due to Executive's death or Disability (as defined hereunder), then Executive shall not be entitled to receive severance or other benefits except for those (if any) as may then be established under the Company's then existing severance and benefits plans and practices or pursuant to other written agreements with the Company.
- (d) Exclusive Remedy. The provisions of this Section 2 are intended to be and are Executive's exclusive rights to severance payments and benefits in the event of termination of service. The parties hereto agree that nothing herein is intended to result in duplication of severance or any other benefits.

(e) Code Section 409A.

(i) Any amount paid under this Agreement that satisfies the requirements of the "short-term deferral" rule set forth in Section 1.409A-l(b)(4) of the regulations issued under Section 409A of the Code (the "*Treasury Regulations*") shall not constitute Deferred Compensation Separation Benefits for purposes of Section 2(e)(ii)

below, and consequently shall be paid to Executive promptly following termination as otherwise required by this Agreement.

- within the meaning of Section 409A of the Code, and the final regulations and any guidance promulgated thereunder ("Section 409A") at the time of Executive's separation from service (as such term is defined in Section 409A), then the cash severance benefits payable to Executive under this Agreement along with any other severance payments or separation benefits that may be considered deferred compensation under Section 409A (together, the "Deferred Compensation Separation Benefits") that are otherwise due to Executive on or within the six (6) month period following Executive's separation from service shall accrue during such six (6) month period and shall become payable in a lump sum payment on the date six (6) months and one (1) day following the date of Executive's separation from service. All subsequent payments, if any, shall be payable in accordance with the payment schedule applicable to each payment or benefit. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, if Executive dies following his separation from service but prior to the six (6) month anniversary of his date of separation from service, then any payments delayed in accordance with this Section shall be payable in a lump sum as soon as administratively practicable after the date of Executive's death and all other Deferred Compensation Separation Benefits shall be payable in accordance with the payment schedule applicable to each payment or benefit.
- (iii) Any amount paid under this Agreement that qualifies as a payment made as a result of an involuntary separation from service pursuant to Section 1.409A-l(b)(9)(iii) of the Treasury Regulations that does not exceed the Section 409A Limit (as defined below) shall not constitute Deferred Compensation Separation Benefits for purposes of Section 2(e) (ii) above. For purposes of this Section 2(e), "Section 409A Limit" will mean the lesser of two (2) times: (i) Executive's annualized compensation based upon the annual rate of pay paid to Executive during the Company's taxable year preceding the Company's taxable year of Executive's termination of employment as determined under Treasury Regulation 1.409A-l(b) (9)(iii)(A)(l); or (ii) the maximum amount that may be taken into account under a qualified plan pursuant to Section 401(a) (17) of the Code for the year in which Executive's employment is terminated.
- (iv) It is the intent of this Agreement to comply with the requirements of Section 409A so that none of the severance payments and benefits to be provided hereunder shall be subject to the additional tax imposed under Section 409A, and any ambiguities herein shall be interpreted to so comply. The Company and Executive agree to work together in good faith to consider amendments to this Agreement and to take such reasonable actions which are necessary, appropriate or desirable to avoid imposition of any additional tax or income recognition under Section 409A prior to actual payment to Executive.
- (v) Notwithstanding any other provisions of this Agreement, Executive's receipt of severance payments and benefits under this Agreement is conditioned upon Executive signing and not revoking the Release and subject to the Release becoming effective within sixty (60) days following Executive's termination of

employment (the "*Release Period*"). No severance will be paid or provided unless the Release becomes effective during the Release Period. Any severance payments to which Executive is entitled under this Agreement shall be paid by the Company to Executive in cash and in full arrears on the date on which the Release becomes effective or such later date as is required to comply with Section 409A; provided however, that if the Release Period straddles two calendar years, the severance payments to which Executive is entitled under this Agreement shall be paid on the latest of (A) the date on which the Release becomes effective, (B) the first business day of the calendar year following the year in which Executive terminates employment with the Company or (C) such later date as is required to comply with Section 409A.

- (vi) With respect to reimbursements or in-kind benefits provided to Executive hereunder (or otherwise) that are not exempt from Section 409A, the following rules shall apply: (A) the amount of expenses eligible for reimbursement, or in-kind benefits provided, during any one of Executive's taxable years shall not affect the expenses eligible for reimbursement, or in-kind benefit to be provided in any other taxable year, (B) in the case of any reimbursements of eligible expenses, reimbursement shall be made on or before the last day of Executive's taxable year following the taxable year in which the expense was incurred and (C) the right to reimbursement or in-kind benefits shall not be subject to liquidation or exchange for another benefit.
- 3. GOLDEN PARACHUTE EXCISE TAX BEST RESULTS. If any payment or benefit Executive would receive pursuant to this Agreement or otherwise ("Payment") would (i) constitute a "parachute payment" within the meaning of Section 280G of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code"), and (ii) but for this sentence, be subject to the excise tax imposed by Section 4999 of the Code (the "Excise Tax"), then such Payment shall be reduced to the Reduced Amount. The "Reduced Amount" shall be either (x) the largest portion of the Payment that would result in no portion of the Payment being subject to the Excise Tax or (y) the largest portion, up to and including the total, of the Payment, whichever amount, after taking into account all applicable federal, state and local employment taxes, income taxes, and the Excise Tax (all computed at the highest applicable marginal rate), results in Executive's receipt, on an after-tax basis, of the greater amount of the Payment notwithstanding that all or some portion of the Payment may be subject to the Excise Tax. If a reduction in payments or benefits constituting "parachute payments" is necessary so that the Payment equals the Reduced Amount, reduction shall occur in the following order: (A) cash payments shall be reduced first and in reverse chronological order such that the cash payment owed on the latest date following the occurrence of the event triggering such excise tax will be the first cash payment to be reduced; (B) accelerated vesting of stock awards shall be cancelled/reduced next and in the reverse order of the date of grant for such stock awards (i.e., the vesting of the most recently granted stock awards will be reduced first); and (C) employee benefits shall be reduced last and in reverse chronological order such that the benefit owed on the latest date following the occurrence of the event triggering such excise tax will be the first benefit to be reduced.

The Company shall appoint a nationally recognized accounting firm or consulting firm to make the determinations required hereunder and perform the foregoing calculations. The Company shall bear all expenses with respect to the determinations by such accounting or consulting firm required to be made hereunder.

The accounting or consulting firm engaged to make the determinations hereunder shall provide its calculations, together with detailed supporting documentation, to the Company and Executive within fifteen (15) calendar days after the date on which right to a Payment is triggered (if requested at that time by the Company or Executive) or such other time as requested by the Company or Executive. If the accounting or consulting firm determines that no Excise Tax is payable with respect to a Payment, either before or after the application of the Reduced Amount, it shall furnish the Company and Executive with an opinion reasonably acceptable to Executive that no Excise Tax will be imposed with respect to such Payment. Any good faith determinations of the accounting or consulting firm made hereunder shall be final, binding and conclusive upon the Company and Executive.

- **4. DEFINITION OF TERMS.** The following terms referred to in this Agreement shall have the following meanings:
- (a) Cause. "Cause" shall mean (i) Executive's commission of any act of fraud, embezzlement or dishonesty, (ii) Executive's conviction of, or plea of *nolo contendere* to, a felony under the laws of the United States or any state thereof, (iii) Executive's continued failure to perform lawfully assigned duties for 30 days after receiving written notification from the Company, (iv) Executive's unauthorized use or disclosure of confidential information or trade secrets of the Company, or (v) any other intentional misconduct by Executive that adversely affects the business of the Company in a material manner.
- **(b)** Change in Control. "Change in Control" means the occurrence of any of the following, in one or a series of related transactions:
 - (i) Any "person" (as such term is used in Sections 13(d) and 14(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended) becomes the "beneficial owner" (as defined in Rule 13d-3 under said Act), directly or indirectly, of securities of the Company representing fifty percent (50%) or more of the total voting power represented by the Company's then outstanding voting securities; or
 - (ii) The consummation of a merger or consolidation of the Company with any other corporation, other than a merger or consolidation which would result in the voting securities of the Company outstanding immediately prior thereto continuing to represent (either by remaining outstanding or by being converted into voting securities of the surviving entity) at least fifty percent (50%) of the total voting power represented by the voting securities of the Company or such surviving entity outstanding immediately after such merger or consolidation; or
 - (iii) The consummation of the sale, lease or other disposition by the Company of all or substantially all the Company's assets.
- **(c) Disability**. "*Disability*" means Executive (i) is unable to engage in any substantial gainful activity by reason of any medically determinable physical or mental impairment which can be expected to result in death or can be expected to last for a continuous period of not less than twelve (12) months, or (ii) is, by reason of any medically determinable physical or mental impairment which can be expected to last for a continuous period of not less

than twelve (12) months, receiving income replacement benefits for a period of not less than three (3) months under an accident and health plan covering Company employees,

(d) Good Reason. "Good Reason" means that Executive resigns his employment within 120 days after any of the following is undertaken by the Company (or its acquirer) without Executive's express written consent: (i) a reduction in Executive's title, (ii) a material reduction of Executive's duties, authority or responsibilities; (ii) any material reduction of Executive's base salary or potential target bonus (other than a proportionate reduction in Executive's base salary or potential bonus that affects all senior management of the Company); or (iii) a material change in the geographic location at which Executive must perform services; provided that in no instance will the relocation of Executive to a facility or location of thirty-five (35) miles or less from Executive's then current office location (or one of Executive's then-current office locations, if applicable) be deemed material for purposes of this Agreement; provided, however, that Good Reason shall not exist unless Executive has provided written notice to the Board of Directors of the purported grounds for the Good Reason within 90 days of its initial existence and the Company has been provided at least 30 days to remedy the condition.

5. Successors.

- (a) The Company's Successors. Any successor to the Company (whether direct or indirect and whether by purchase, merger, consolidation, liquidation or otherwise) to all or substantially all of the Company's business and/or assets shall assume the obligations under this Agreement and agree expressly to perform the obligations under this Agreement in the same manner and to the same extent as the Company would be required to perform such obligations in the absence of a succession. For all purposes under this Agreement, the term "Company" shall include any successor to the Company's business and/or assets which executes and delivers the assumption agreement described in this Section 5(a) or which becomes bound by the terms of this Agreement by operation of law.
- **(b) Executive's Successors**. The terms of this Agreement and all rights of Executive hereunder shall inure to the benefit of, and be enforceable by, Executive's personal or legal representatives, executors, administrators, successors, heirs, distributees, devisees and legatees.
- 6. NOTICE. All notices and other communications required or permitted hereunder shall be in writing, shall be effective when given, and shall in any event be deemed to be given upon receipt or, if earlier, (a) five (5) days after deposit with the U.S. Postal Service or other applicable postal service, if delivered by first class mail, postage prepaid, (b) upon delivery, if delivered by hand, (c) one (1) business day after the business day of deposit with Federal Express or similar overnight courier, freight prepaid, (d) one (1) business day after the business day of facsimile transmission, if delivered by facsimile transmission with copy by first class mail, postage prepaid, (e) upon transmission, if sent by email, and shall be addressed (i) if to Executive, at his or her last known residential address or email address and (ii) if to the Company, at the address of its principal corporate offices (attention: Secretary), or in any such case at such other address as a party may designate by ten (10) days' advance written notice to the other party pursuant to the provisions above.
- 7. NOTICE OF TERMINATION. Any termination by the Company for Cause or by Executive for Good Reason or as a result of a voluntary resignation shall be communicated by a notice of

termination to the other party hereto given in accordance with Section 6 of this Agreement. Such notice shall indicate the specific termination provision in this Agreement relied upon, shall set forth in reasonable detail the facts and circumstances claimed to provide a basis for termination under the provision so indicated, and shall specify the termination date (which shall be not more than thirty (30) days after the giving of such notice). The failure by Executive to include in the notice any fact or circumstance which contributes to a showing of Good Reason shall not waive any right of Executive hereunder or preclude Executive from asserting such fact or circumstance in enforcing his or her rights hereunder.

8. MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS.

- (a) No Duty to Mitigate. Executive shall not be required to mitigate the amount of any payment contemplated by this Agreement, nor shall any such payment be reduced by any earnings that Executive may receive from any other source.
- **(b)** Waiver. No provision of this Agreement shall be modified, waived or discharged unless the modification, waiver or discharge is agreed to in writing and signed by Executive and by an authorized officer of the Company (other than Executive). No waiver by either party of any breach of, or of compliance with, any condition or provision of this Agreement by the other party shall be considered a waiver of any other condition or provision or of the same condition or provision at another time.
- (c) Headings. All captions and section headings used in this Agreement are for convenient reference only and do not form a part of this Agreement.
- (d) Entire Agreement. This Agreement represents the entire agreement between Executive and the Company regarding Executive's severance agreement with the Company, and supersede in their entirety all prior representations, understandings, undertakings or agreements (whether oral or written and whether expressed or implied), of the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof.
- (e) Choice of Law. The validity, interpretation, construction and performance of this Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State of Texas (with the exception of its conflict of laws provisions).
- **(f) Severability**. The invalidity or unenforceability of any provision or provisions of this Agreement shall not affect the validity or enforceability of any other provision hereof, which shall remain in full force and effect.
- **(g) Withholding**. All payments made pursuant to this Agreement will be subject to withholding of applicable income and employment taxes.
- **(h)** Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, but all of which together will constitute one and the same instrument.

IN WITHESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have dury	executed and derivered this Agreement.
	COMPANY
	EHEALTH, INC.
	By: /s/ Fran Soistman
	Fran Soistman
	Date: Jan 17, 2024
	Title: Chief Executive Officer
	EXECUTIVE
	By: /s/ Michelle Barbeau
	Michelle Barbeau
	Date: Jan 18, 2024

EXHIBIT A

RELEASE OF CLAIMS

THIS RELEASE OF CLAIMS ("Agreement") is made by and between eHealth, Inc. (together with eHealthInsurance Services, Inc. the "Company") and Michelle Barbeau ("Executive").

WHEREAS, Executive has agreed to enter into a release of claims in favor of the Company upon certain events specified in the Severance Agreement by and between Company and Executive (the "Severance Agreement").

Now Therefore, in consideration of the mutual promises made herein, the Parties hereby agree as follows:

- **1. Termination**. Executive's employment from the Company terminated on _____.
- **2.** Confidential Information. Executive shall continue to maintain the confidentiality of all confidential and proprietary information of the Company and shall continue to comply with the terms and conditions of the Proprietary Information and Inventions Agreement between Executive and the Company. Executive shall return all the Company property and confidential and proprietary information in Executive's possession to the Company on the Effective Date of this Agreement.
- 3. Payment of Salary. Executive acknowledges and represents that the Company has paid all salary, wages, bonuses, accrued vacation, commissions and any and all other benefits due to Executive.
- 4. Release of Claims. Except as set forth in the last paragraph of this Section 4, Executive agrees that the foregoing consideration represents settlement in full of all outstanding obligations owed to Executive by the Company. Executive, on behalf of himself or herself, and Executive's respective heirs, family members, executors and assigns, hereby fully and forever releases the Company and its past, present and future officers, agents, directors, employees, investors, shareholders, administrators, affiliates, divisions, subsidiaries, parents, predecessor and successor corporations, and assigns (collectively, the "*Released Parties*"), from, and agrees not to sue or otherwise institute or cause to be instituted any legal or administrative proceedings concerning, any claim, duty, obligation or cause of action relating to any matters of any kind, whether presently known or unknown, suspected or unsuspected, that Executive may possess arising from any omissions, acts or facts that have occurred up until and including the Effective Date of this Agreement including, without limitation,
- (a) any and all claims relating to or arising from Executive's employment relationship with the Company and the termination of that relationship;
- **(b)** any and all claims relating to, or arising from, Executive's right to purchase, or actual purchase of shares of stock of the Company, including, without limitation,

any claims for fraud, misrepresentation, breach of fiduciary duty, breach of duty under applicable state corporate law, and securities fraud under any state or federal law;

- (c) any and all claims for wrongful discharge of employment; termination in violation of public policy; discrimination; breach of contract, both express and implied; breach of a covenant of good faith and fair dealing, both express and implied; promissory estoppel; negligent or intentional infliction of emotional distress; negligent or intentional misrepresentation; negligent or intentional interference with contract or prospective economic advantage; unfair business practices; defamation; libel; slander; negligence; personal injury; assault; battery; invasion of privacy; false imprisonment; and conversion;
- (d) any and all claims for violation of any federal, state or municipal statute, including, but not limited to, the Age Discrimination in Employment Act of 1967 (ADEA), the Civil Rights Act of 1866, Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, the Civil Rights Act of 1991, the Employee Retirement Income Security Act (ERISA), the Americans with Disabilities Act, the National Labor Relations Act (NLRA), the Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA), the Worker Adjustment and Retraining Notification Act, the Massachusetts Fair Employment Practices Act, the Massachusetts Payment of Wages Law, the Massachusetts Overtime Law, the Massachusetts Minimum Fair Wages Law, the Massachusetts Civil Rights Act, the Massachusetts Equal Rights Act, the Massachusetts Equal Pay Act, the Massachusetts Labor and Industries Act, the Massachusetts Privacy Act, the Massachusetts Independent Contractor statute, the Massachusetts Earned Sick Time Law, the anti-discrimination provisions of the Massachusetts Paid Family and Medical Leave Act, the New Jersey Conscientious Employee Protection Act, the New Jersey Law Against Discrimination, the West Virginia Human Rights Act, any amendments to the foregoing, any other federal, state, or local law, rule, ordinance, or regulation;
 - (e) any and all claims for violation of the federal, or any state, constitution;
- (f) any and all claims arising out of any other laws and regulations relating to employment or employment discrimination; and
 - (g) any and all claims for attorneys' fees and costs.

Executive agrees that the release set forth in this section shall be and remain in effect in all respects as a complete general release as to the matters released. This release does not extend to any severance obligations due Executive under the Severance Agreement or to any vested rights to benefits Executive has under any employee benefit plans of the Company. Nothing in this Agreement waives Executive's rights to indemnification or any payments under any fiduciary or directors & officers insurance policy, if any, provided by any act or agreement of the Company, state or federal law or policy of insurance.

The release contained in this section does not apply to (a) any claims or rights that may arise after the date that this Agreement is signed, (b) the Company's expense reimbursement policies, (c) any vested rights under the Company's ERISA-covered employee benefit plans as applicable on the date this Agreement is signed, and (d) any claims that the controlling law clearly states may not be released by private agreement, which may include claims for unemployment and/or workers' compensation benefits. Moreover, nothing in this Agreement (including but not limited to the acknowledgements, release of claims, the promise not to sue, the

confidentiality obligations, and the return of property provision): (i) waives Executive's right to testify in an administrative, legislative, or judicial proceeding concerning alleged criminal conduct, alleged unlawful employment practices regarding the Company, or alleged sexual harassment, on the part of the Company, or on the part of the agents or employees of the Company, when Executive has been required or requested to attend such a proceeding pursuant to a court order, subpoena, or written request from an administrative agency or the legislature; (ii) shall have the purpose or effect of requiring Executive to conceal the details relating to any claim of discrimination, harassment, or retaliation, abuse, assault, or other criminal conduct; (iii) limits or affects Executive's right to challenge the validity of this Agreement under the ADEA or the OWBPA; (iv) prevents Executive from communicating with, filing a charge or complaint with; providing documents or information voluntarily or in response to a subpoena or other information request to; or from participating in an investigation or proceeding conducted by the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission, National Labor Relations Board, the Securities and Exchange Commission, law enforcement, or any other any federal, state or local agency charged with the enforcement of any laws, or from responding to a subpoena or discovery request in court litigation or arbitration; or (v) precludes Executive from exercising his or her rights under Section 7 of the NLRA or similar state law to engage in protected, concerted activity with other employees, non-employees and entities, although by signing this Agreement Executive waives the right to recover any individual relief (including any back pay, front pay, reinstatement or other legal or equitable relief) in any charge, complaint, or lawsuit or other proceeding brought by Executive or on Executive's behalf by any third party, except for any right Executive may have to receive a payment or award from a government agency (and not the Company) for information provided to the government agency or where otherwise prohibited.

- 5. Acknowledgment of Waiver of Claims under ADEA. Executive acknowledges that he or she is waiving and releasing any rights he or she may have under the Age Discrimination in Employment Act of 1967 ("ADEA") and that this waiver and release is knowing and voluntary. Executive and the Company agree that this waiver and release does not apply to any rights or claims that may arise under the ADEA after the Effective Date of this Agreement, and Executive acknowledges that the consideration given for this waiver and release Agreement is in addition to anything of value to which Executive was already entitled. Executive further acknowledges that he or she has been advised by this writing that (a) he or she should consult with an attorney prior to executing this Agreement, and is hereby advised to do so; (b) he or she has at least twenty-one (21) days within which to consider this Agreement; (c) he or she has seven (7) days following the execution of this Agreement by the parties to revoke the Agreement; (d) this Agreement shall not be effective until the revocation period has expired; and (e) nothing in this Agreement prevents or precludes Executive from challenging or seeking a determination in good faith of the validity of this waiver under the ADEA, nor does it impose any condition precedent, penalties or costs for doing so, unless specifically authorized by federal law. Any revocation should be in writing and delivered to the Chief People Officer at the Company by close of business on the seventh day from the date that Executive signs this Agreement.
- **6.** Release of Unknown Claims. Executive releases all rights under California Civil Code 1542, below, which provides as follows: A general release does not extend to claims that the creditor or releasing party does not know or suspect to exist in his or her favor at the time of executing the release, and that, if known by him or her, would have materially affected his or her settlement with the debtor or released party.

Executive also releases and waives any rights he or she may have under any statute or common law principles of similar effect, including but not limited to Montana Code Annotated Section 28-1-1602, North Dakota Century Code Section 9-13-02, and South Dakota Codified Laws Section 20-7-11.

- 7. No Pending or Future Lawsuits. Executive represents that he or she has no lawsuits, claims, or actions pending in his name, or on behalf of any other person or entity, against the Company or any other person or entity referred to herein. Executive further represents that he or she has (i) reported to the Company any and all work-related injuries or occupational disease incurred by Executive during his or her employment by the Company; (ii) been properly provided any leave requested because of Executive's or a family member's health condition or military service and, that Executive has not been subjected to any improper treatment, conduct or actions due to a request for or taking such leave; (iv) had the opportunity to provide the Company with written notice of any and all concerns regarding suspected ethical and compliance issues or violations on the part of any Released Party; and (v) not raised a claim, including but not limited to, unlawful discrimination; harassment; sexual harassment, abuse, assault, or other criminal conduct; failure to prevent an act of workplace harassment or discrimination; or retaliation in a court or government agency proceeding, in an alternative dispute resolution forum, or through the Company's internal complaint process, involving the Company or any other Released Party.
- **8. No Admission of Liability**. No action taken by the Company, either previously or in connection with this Agreement shall be deemed or construed to be (a) an admission of the truth or falsity of any claims heretofore made or (b) an acknowledgment or admission by the Company of any fault or liability whatsoever to Executive or to any third party.
- 9. Costs. The Parties shall each bear their own costs, expert fees, attorneys' fees and other fees incurred in connection with this Agreement.
- 10. Authority. Executive represents and warrants that he or she has the capacity to act on his or her own behalf and on behalf of all who might claim through him to bind them to the terms and conditions of this Agreement.
- 11. No Representations. Neither party has relied upon any representations or statements made by the other party hereto which are not specifically set forth in this Agreement.
- 12. Severability. In the event that any provision hereof becomes or is declared by a court of competent jurisdiction to be illegal, unenforceable or void, this Agreement shall continue in full force and effect without said provision.
- 13. Entire Agreement. This Agreement, along with the Severance Agreement, the Proprietary Information and Inventions Agreement, and Executive's written equity compensation agreements with the Company, represents the entire agreement and understanding between the Company and Executive concerning Executive's separation from the Company.
- **14. No Oral Modification**. This Agreement may only be amended in writing signed by Executive and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company.

- 15. Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the same state in which Executive is or was last employed by the Company, without regard for choice of law provisions. Executive consents to personal and exclusive jurisdiction and venue in the same state in which Executive is or was last employed by the Company.
 - **16.** Effective Date. This Agreement is effective eight (8) days after it has been signed by both Parties.
- 17. Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in counterparts, and each counterpart shall have the same force and effect as an original and shall constitute an effective, binding agreement on the part of each of the undersigned.
- 18. Voluntary Execution of Agreement. This Agreement is executed voluntarily and without any duress or undue influence on the part or behalf of the Parties hereto, with the full intent of releasing all claims. The Parties acknowledge that:
 - (a) They have read this Agreement;
- **(b)** They have had the opportunity of being represented in the preparation, negotiation, and execution of this Agreement by legal counsel of their own choice or that they have voluntarily declined to seek such counsel;
 - (c) They understand the terms and consequences of this Agreement and of the releases it contains;
 - (d) They are fully aware of the legal and binding effect of this Agreement.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed this Agreement on the respective dates set forth below.

Dated:	Ву:	
	[name, title]	
Dated:		
	[name]	
	6.	

EHEALTH, INC.

EHEALTH, INC.

INSIDER TRADING POLICY

(As Amended on December 11, 2024)

A. POLICY OVERVIEW

eHealth, Inc. (together with any subsidiaries, collectively the "Company") has adopted this Insider Trading Policy (the "Policy") to help you comply with the federal and state securities laws and regulations that govern trading in securities and to help the Company minimize its own legal and reputational risk.

It is your responsibility to understand and follow this Policy. Insider trading is illegal and a violation of this Policy. In addition to your own liability for insider trading, the Company, as well as individual directors, officers and other supervisory personnel, could face liability. Even the appearance of insider trading can lead to government investigations or lawsuits that are time-consuming, expensive and can lead to criminal and civil liability, including damages and fines, imprisonment and bars on serving as an officer or director of a public company, not to mention irreparable damage to both your and the Company's reputation.

For purposes of this Policy, the Company's General Counsel serves as the Compliance Officer. The Compliance Officer may designate others, from time to time, to assist with the execution of his or her duties under this Policy.

B. POLICY STATEMENT

- 1. <u>No Trading on Material Nonpublic Information</u>. It is illegal for anyone to trade in securities on the basis of material nonpublic information. If you are in possession of material nonpublic information about the Company, you are prohibited from:
 - a. using it to transact in securities of the Company;
 - b. disclosing it to other directors, officers, employees, consultants, contractors or advisors whose roles do not require them to have the information;
 - c. disclosing it to anyone outside of the Company, including family, friends, business associates, investors or consulting firms, without prior written authorization from the Compliance Officer; or
 - d. using it to express an opinion or make a recommendation about trading in the Company's securities.

In addition, if you learn of material nonpublic information through your service with the Company that could be expected to affect the trading price of the securities of another company, you cannot (x) use that information to trade, directly or indirectly through others, or (y) provide that information to another person in order to trade, in the securities of that other company. Any such action will be deemed a violation of this Policy.

2. <u>No Disclosure of Confidential Information</u>. You may not at any time disclose material nonpublic information about the Company or about another company that you obtained in connection with your service with the Company to friends, family members or any other person or entity that the Company has not authorized to know such information. In addition, you must handle the confidential information of others in accordance with any related non-disclosure agreements and other obligations that the Company has with them and limit your use of the confidential information to the purpose for which it was disclosed.

If you receive an inquiry for information from someone outside of the Company, such as a stock analyst, or a request for sensitive information outside the ordinary course of business from someone outside of the Company, such as a business partner, vendor, supplier or salesperson, then you should refer the inquiry to the Compliance Officer or Investor Relations, as applicable. Responding to a request yourself may violate this Policy and, in some circumstances, the law. Please consult the Company's Regulation FD Corporate Communications Policy for more details.

3. <u>Definition of Material Nonpublic Information</u>. "**Material information**" means information that a reasonable investor would be substantially likely to consider important in deciding whether to buy, hold or sell securities or would view as significantly altering the total mix of information available in the marketplace about the issuer of the securities. In general, any information that could reasonably be expected to affect the market price of a security is likely to be material. Either positive or negative information may be material.

It is not possible to define all categories of "material" information. However, some examples of information that could be regarded as material include, but are not limited to:

- a. financial results, key metrics, financial condition, earnings pre-announcements, guidance, projections or forecasts, particularly if inconsistent with the Company's guidance or the expectations of the investment community;
- b. restatements of financial results, or material impairments, write-offs or restructurings;
- c. changes in independent auditors, or notification that the Company may no longer rely on an audit report;
- d. business plans or budgets;
- e. creation of significant financial obligations, or any significant default under or acceleration of any financial obligation;
- f. impending bankruptcy or financial liquidity problems;
- g. significant developments involving business relationships, including execution, modification or termination of significant agreements or orders with customers, suppliers, distributors, manufacturers or other business partners;
- h. significant information relating to the operation of product or service, such as new products or services, major modifications or performance issues, defects or recalls, significant pricing changes or other announcements of a significant nature;

- i. significant developments in research and development or relating to intellectual property;
- j. significant legal or regulatory developments, whether positive or negative, actual or threatened, including litigation or resolving litigation;
- k. major events involving the Company's securities, including calls of securities for redemption, adoption of stock repurchase programs, option repricings, stock splits, changes in dividend policies, public or private securities offerings, modification to the rights of security holders or notice of delisting;
- l. significant corporate events, such as a pending or proposed merger, joint venture or tender offer, a significant investment, the acquisition or disposition of a significant business or asset or a change in control of the Company;
- m. major personnel changes, such as changes in senior management or employee layoffs;
- n. data breaches or other cybersecurity events;
- o. updates regarding any prior material disclosure that has materially changed; and
- p. the existence of a special blackout period.

"Material nonpublic information" means material information that is not generally known or made available to the public. Even if information is widely known throughout the Company, it may still be nonpublic. Generally, in order for information to be considered public, it must be made generally available through media outlets or SEC filings.

After the release of information, a reasonable period of time must elapse in order to provide the public an opportunity to absorb and evaluate the information provided. As a general rule, at least one full trading day must pass after the dissemination of information before such information is considered public.

As a rule of thumb, if you think something might be material nonpublic information, it probably is. You can always reach out to the Compliance Officer if you have questions.

C. PERSONS COVERED BY THIS POLICY

This Policy applies to you if you are a director, officer, employee, consultant, contractor or advisor of the Company, both inside and outside of the United States. To the extent applicable to you, this Policy also covers your immediate family members, persons with whom you share a household, persons who are your economic dependents and any entity whose transactions in securities you influence, direct or control. You are responsible for making sure that these other individuals and entities comply with this Policy.

This Policy continues to apply even if you leave the Company or are otherwise no longer affiliated with or providing services to the Company, for as long as you remain in possession of material nonpublic information. In addition, if you are subject to a trading blackout under this Policy at the time you leave the Company, you must abide by the applicable trading restrictions until at least the end of the relevant blackout period.

D. TRADING COVERED BY THIS POLICY

Except as discussed in Section H (*Exceptions to Trading Restrictions*), this Policy applies to all transactions involving the Company's securities or other companies' securities for which you possess material nonpublic information obtained in connection with your service with the Company. This Policy therefore applies to:

- 1. any purchase, sale, loan or other transfer or disposition of any equity securities (including common stock, options, restricted stock units, warrants and preferred stock) and debt securities (including debentures, bonds and notes) of the Company and such other companies, whether direct or indirect (including transactions made on your behalf by money managers), and any offer to engage in the foregoing transactions:
 - 2. any disposition in the form of a gift of any securities of the Company;
 - 3. any distribution to holders of interests in an entity if the entity is subject to this Policy; and
- 4. any other arrangement that generates gains or losses from or based on changes in the prices of such securities including derivative securities (for example, exchange-traded put or call options, swaps, caps and collars), hedging and pledging transactions, short sales and certain arrangements regarding participation in benefit plans, and any offer to engage in the foregoing transactions.

There are no exceptions from insider trading laws or this Policy based on the size of the transaction or the type of consideration received.

E. TRADING RESTRICTIONS

Subject to the exceptions set forth below, this Policy restricts trading during certain periods and by certain people as follows:

1. Quarterly Blackout Periods. Except as discussed in Section H (Exceptions to Trading Restrictions), all directors, officers and employees of the Company, and those consultants, contractors and advisors identified by the Company, must refrain from conducting transactions involving the Company's securities during quarterly blackout periods. Individuals subject to quarterly blackout periods will be informed by the Compliance Officer that they are listed on the covered persons list maintained by the Compliance Officer (the "Covered Persons List"). To the extent applicable to you, quarterly blackout periods also cover your immediate family members, persons with whom you share a household, persons who are your economic dependents and any entity whose transactions in securities you influence, direct or control. Even if you are not specifically identified as being subject to quarterly blackout periods, you should exercise caution when engaging in transactions during quarterly blackout periods because of the heightened risk of insider trading exposure.

Quarterly blackout periods will start at the end of the fifteenth day of the third month of each fiscal quarter (i.e., March 15, June 15, September 15 and December 15) and will end at the start of the second full trading day following the Company's earnings release.

The prohibition against trading during the blackout period also means that brokers cannot fulfill open orders on your behalf or on behalf of your immediate family members, persons with whom you share a household, persons who are your economic dependents or any entity whose transactions in

securities you influence, direct or control, during the blackout period, including "limit orders" to buy or sell stock at a specific price or better and "stop orders" to buy or sell stock once the price of the stock reaches a specified price. If you are subject to blackout periods or pre-clearance requirements, you should so inform any broker with whom such an open order is placed at the time it is placed.

From time to time, the Company may identify other persons who should be subject to quarterly blackout periods, and the Compliance Officer may update and revise the Covered Persons List as appropriate.

- 2. <u>Special Blackout Periods</u>. The Company always retains the right to impose additional or longer trading blackout periods at any time on any or all of its directors, officers, employees, consultants, contractors and advisors. The Compliance Officer will notify you if you are subject to a special blackout period by providing to you a notice in writing or via email. If you are notified that you are subject to a special blackout period, you may not engage in any transaction involving the Company's securities until the special blackout period has ended other than the transactions that are covered by the exceptions below. You also may not disclose to anyone else that the Company has imposed a special blackout period. To the extent applicable to you, special blackout periods also cover your immediate family members, persons with whom you share a household, persons who are your economic dependents and any entity whose transactions in securities you influence, direct or control.
- 3. Regulation BTR Blackouts. Directors and officers may also be subject to trading blackouts pursuant to Regulation Blackout Trading Restriction, or Regulation BTR, under U.S. federal securities laws. In general, Regulation BTR prohibits any director or officer from engaging in certain transactions involving the Company's securities during periods when 401(k) plan participants are prevented from purchasing, selling or otherwise acquiring or transferring an interest in certain securities held in individual account plans. Any profits realized from a transaction that violates Regulation BTR are recoverable by the Company, regardless of the intentions of the director or officer effecting the transaction. In addition, individuals who engage in such transactions are subject to sanction by the SEC as well as potential criminal liability. The Company will notify directors and officers if they are subject to a blackout trading restriction under Regulation BTR. Failure to comply with an applicable trading blackout in accordance with Regulation BTR is a violation of law and this Policy.

F. PROHIBITED TRANSACTIONS

You may not engage in any of the following types of transactions other than as noted below, regardless of whether you have material nonpublic information or not.

- 1. <u>Short Sales.</u> You may not engage in short sales (meaning the sale of a security that must be borrowed to make delivery) or "sell short against the box" (meaning the sale of a security with a delayed delivery) if such sales involve the Company's securities.
- 2. <u>Derivative Securities and Hedging Transactions</u>. You may not, directly or indirectly, (a) trade in publicly-traded options, such as puts and calls, and other derivative securities with respect to the Company's securities (other than stock options, restricted stock units and other compensatory awards issued to you by the Company) or (b) purchase financial instruments (including prepaid variable forward contracts, equity swaps, collars and exchange funds), or otherwise engage in transactions, that hedge or offset, or are designed to hedge or offset, any decrease in the market value of Company equity securities

either (i) granted to you by the Company as part of your compensation or (ii) held, directly or indirectly, by you.

- 3. <u>Pledging Transactions</u>. You may not pledge the Company's securities as collateral for any loan or as part of any other pledging transaction.
 - 4. <u>Margin Accounts.</u> You may not hold the Company's common stock in margin accounts.

G. PRE-CLEARANCE OF TRADES

The Company's directors and officers and any other persons identified on the Covered Persons List as being subject to pre-clearance requirements must obtain pre-clearance prior to trading the Company's securities. If you are subject to pre-clearance requirements, you must submit a pre-clearance request to the Compliance Officer at least two (2) business days prior to your desired trade date. The pre-clearance request must be made on the form provided by the Compliance Officer. The person requesting pre-clearance will be asked to certify that he or she is not in possession of material nonpublic information about the Company. The Compliance Officer is under no obligation to approve a transaction submitted for pre-clearance and may determine not to permit the transaction.

If the Compliance Officer is the requester, then the Company's Chief Executive Officer or Chief Financial Officer, or their delegate, must pre-clear or deny any trade. All trades must be executed (i) no earlier than the desired trade date indicated in the pre-clearance request and (ii) no later than three business days following the desired trade date indicated in the pre-clearance request.

Even after pre-clearance, a person may not trade the Company's securities if they become subject to a blackout period or aware of material nonpublic information prior to the trade being executed.

From time to time, the Company may identify other persons who should be subject to the pre-clearance requirements set forth above, and the Compliance Officer may update and revise the Covered Persons List as appropriate.

H. EXCEPTIONS TO TRADING RESTRICTIONS

There are no unconditional "safe harbors" for trades made at particular times, and all persons subject to this Policy should exercise good judgment at all times. Even when a quarterly blackout period is not in effect, you may be prohibited from engaging in transactions involving the Company's securities because you possess material nonpublic information, are subject to a special blackout period or are otherwise restricted under this Policy.

Other than the limited exceptions set forth below, any other exceptions to this Policy must be approved by the Compliance Officer, in consultation with the Company's board of directors or an independent committee of the board of directors.

The following are certain limited exceptions to the quarterly and special blackout period restrictions and pre-clearance requirements imposed by the Company under this Policy:

1. stock option exercises where the purchase price of such stock options is paid in cash and there is no other associated market activity;

- 2. purchases pursuant to the employee stock purchase plan; however, this exception does not apply to subsequent sales of the shares;
- 3. receipt and vesting of stock options, restricted stock units, restricted stock or other equity compensation awards from the Company;
- 4. net share withholding with respect to equity awards where shares are withheld by the Company in order to satisfy tax withholding requirements, (x) as required by either the Company's board of directors (or a committee thereof) or the award agreement governing such equity award or (y) as you elect, if permitted by the Company, so long as the election is irrevocable and made in writing at a time when a trading blackout is not in place and you are not in possession of material nonpublic information;
- 5. sell-to-cover transactions where shares are sold on your behalf upon vesting of equity awards and sold in order to satisfy tax withholding requirements, (x) as required by either the Company's board of directors (or a committee thereof) or the award agreement governing such equity award or (y) as you elect, if permitted by the Company, so long as the election is irrevocable and made in writing at a time when a trading blackout is not in place and you are not in possession of material nonpublic information; however, this exception does not apply to any other market sale for the purposes of paying required withholding;
- 6. transactions made pursuant to a valid 10b5-1 trading plan approved by the Company (see Section I (10b5-1 Trading Plans) below);
- 7. purchases of the Company's stock in the 401(k) plan resulting from periodic contributions to the plan based on your payroll contribution election; *provided, however*, that the blackout period restrictions and pre-clearance requirements do apply to elections you make under the 401(k) plan to (a) increase or decrease the amount of your contributions under the 401(k) plan if such increase or decrease will increase or decrease the amount of your contributions that will be allocated to a Company stock fund, (b) increase or decrease the percentage of your contributions that will be allocated to a Company stock fund, (c) move balances into or out of a Company stock fund, (d) borrow money against your 401(k) plan account if the loan will result in liquidation of some or all of your Company stock fund balance and (e) prepay a plan loan if the pre-payment will result in the allocation of loan proceeds to a Company stock fund;
- 8. transfers by will or the laws of descent or distribution and, provided that prior written notice is provided to the Compliance Officer, distributions or transfers (such as certain tax planning or estate planning transfers) that effect only a change in the form of beneficial interest without changing your pecuniary interest in the Company's securities; and
- 9. changes in the number of the Company's securities you hold due to a stock split or a stock dividend that applies equally to all securities of a class, or similar transactions.

If there is a Regulation BTR blackout (and no quarterly or special blackout period), then the limited exceptions set forth in Regulation BTR will apply. Please be aware that even if a transaction is subject to an exception to this Policy, you will need to separately assess whether the transaction complies with applicable law.

I. 10B5-1 TRADING PLANS

The Company permits its directors, officers and employees to adopt written 10b5-1 trading plans in order to mitigate the risk of trading on material nonpublic information. These plans allow for individuals to enter into a prearranged trading plan as long as the plan is not established or modified during a blackout period or when the individual is otherwise in possession of material nonpublic information. To be approved by the Company and qualify for the exception to this Policy, any 10b5-1 trading plan adopted by a director, officer or employee must be submitted to the Compliance Officer for approval and comply with the requirements set forth in the Requirements for Trading Plans attached as Exhibit A. If the Compliance Officer is the requester, then the Company's Chief Executive Officer or Chief Financial Officer, or their delegate, must approve the written 10b5-1 trading plan.

J. SECTION 16 COMPLIANCE

All of the Company's officers and directors and certain other individuals are required to comply with Section 16 of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act") and related rules and regulations which set forth reporting obligations, limitations on "short swing" transactions, which are certain matching purchases and sales of the Company's securities within a six-month period, and limitations on short sales.

To ensure transactions subject to Section 16 requirements are reported on time, each person subject to these requirements must provide the Company with detailed information (for example, trade date, number of shares, exact price, *etc.*) about his or her transactions involving the Company's securities.

The Company is available to assist in filing Section 16 reports, but the obligation to comply with Section 16 is personal. If you have any questions, you should check with the Compliance Officer.

K. VIOLATIONS OF THIS POLICY

Company directors, officers, employees, consultants, contractors and advisors who violate this Policy will be subject to disciplinary action by the Company, including ineligibility for future Company equity or incentive programs or termination of employment or an ongoing relationship with the Company. The Company has full discretion to determine whether this Policy has been violated based on the information available.

There are also serious legal consequences for individuals who violate insider trading laws, including large criminal and civil fines, significant imprisonment terms and disgorgement of any profits gained or losses avoided. You may also be liable for improper securities trading by any person (commonly referred to as a "tippee") to whom you have disclosed material nonpublic information that you have learned through your position at the Company or made recommendations or expressed opinions about securities trading on the basis of such information.

Please consult with your personal legal and financial advisors as needed. Note that the Company's legal counsel, both internal and external, represent the Company and not you personally. There may be instances where you suffer financial harm or other hardship or are otherwise required to forego a planned transaction because of the restrictions imposed by this Policy or under securities laws. If you were aware of the material nonpublic information at the time of the trade, it is not a defense that you did not "use" the information for the trade. Personal financial emergency or other personal circumstances are not mitigating factors under securities laws and will not excuse your failure to comply with this Policy. In addition, a blackout or trading-restricted period will not extend the term of your options. As a

consequence, you may be prevented from exercising your options by this Policy or as a result of a blackout or other restriction on your trading, and as a result your options may expire by their term. In such instances, the Company cannot extend the term of your options and has no obligation or liability to replace the economic value or lost benefit to you. It is your responsibility to manage your economic interests and to consider potential trading restrictions when determining whether to exercise your options.

L. PROTECTED ACTIVITY NOT PROHIBITED

Nothing in this Policy, or any related guidelines or other documents or information provided in connection with this Policy, shall in any way limit or prohibit you from engaging in any of the protected activities set forth in the Company's Whistleblower Policy, as amended from time to time.

M. REPORTING

If you believe someone is violating this Policy or otherwise using material nonpublic information that they learned through their position at the Company to trade securities, you should report it to the Compliance Officer, or if the Compliance Officer is implicated in your report, then you should report it in accordance with the Company's Whistleblower Policy.

N. AMENDMENTS

The Company reserves the right to amend this Policy at any time, for any reason, subject to applicable laws, rules and regulations, and with or without notice, although it will attempt to provide notice in advance of any change. Unless otherwise permitted by this Policy, any amendments must be approved by the Board of Directors of the Company.

EXHIBIT A

REQUIREMENTS FOR TRADING PLANS

For transactions under a trading plan to be exempt from (A) the prohibitions in the Insider Trading Policy (the "Policy") of eHealth, Inc. (together with any subsidiaries, collectively the "Company") with respect to transactions made while aware of material nonpublic information and (B) the pre-clearance procedures and blackout periods established under the Policy, the trading plan must comply with the affirmative defense set forth in Exchange Act Rule 10b5-1 and must meet the following requirements (collectively, the "Trading Plan Requirements"):

- 1. The trading plan must be in writing and signed by the person adopting the trading plan.
- 2. The trading plan must be adopted at a time when:
 - a. the person adopting the trading plan is not aware of any material nonpublic information; and
 - b. there is no quarterly, special or other trading blackout in effect with respect to the person adopting the plan.
- 3. The trading plan must be entered in good faith and not as part of a plan or scheme to evade the prohibitions of Rule 10b5-1, and the person adopting the trading plan must act in good faith with respect to the trading plan.
- 4. The trading plan must include representations that, on the date of adoption of the trading plan, the person adopting the trading plan:
 - a. is not aware of material nonpublic information about the securities or the Company; and
 - b. is adopting the trading plan in good faith and not as part of a plan or scheme to evade the prohibitions of Rule 10b5-1.
- 5. The person adopting the trading plan may not have entered into or altered a corresponding or hedging transaction or position with respect to the securities subject to the trading plan and must agree not to enter into any such transaction while the trading plan is in effect.
- 6. The first trade under the trading plan for directors and officers (as defined in Rule 16a-1(f) of the Exchange Act) may not occur until after the expiration of a cooling-off period consisting of the later of (a) 90 calendar days after the adoption of the trading plan and (b) two business days after the filing by the Company of its financial results in a Form 10-Q or Form 10-K for the completed fiscal quarter in which the trading plan was adopted (but, in any event, this required cooling-off period is subject to a maximum of 120 days after adoption of the trading plan). The first trade under the trading plan for all other persons (other than the Company) may not occur until after the expiration of a cooling-off period that is 30 calendar days after adoption of the trading plan.
 - 7. The trading plan must have a minimum term of one year (starting from the date of adoption of the trading plan).
- 8. No transactions may occur during the term of the trading plan (except for the "Exceptions to Trading Restrictions" identified in the Policy and *bona fide* gifts) except for those transactions specified in the trading plan. In addition, the person adopting the trading plan may not have an outstanding (and may not subsequently enter into any additional) trading plan except as permitted by Rule 10b5-1. For example, as contemplated by Rule 10b5-1, a person may adopt a new trading plan before the

scheduled termination date of an existing trading plan, so long as the first scheduled trade under the new trading plan does not occur prior to the last scheduled trade(s) of the existing trading plan and otherwise complies with these guidelines. Termination of the existing trading plan prior to its scheduled termination date may impact the timing of the first trade or the availability of the affirmative defense for the new trading plan; therefore, persons adopting a new trading plan are advised to exercise caution and consult with the Compliance Officer prior to the early termination of an existing trading plan.

- 9. Any modification or change to the amount, price or timing of transactions under the trading plan is deemed the termination of the trading plan, and the adoption of a new trading plan ("**Modification**"). Therefore, a Modification must be submitted to the Compliance Officer for approval in accordance with Section I of the Policy and is subject to the same conditions as a new trading plan as set forth in Sections 1 through 8 herein.
- 10. Within the one year preceding the adoption or a Modification of a trading plan, a person may not have otherwise adopted or made a Modification to a plan more than once.
- 11. A person may adopt a trading plan designed to cover a single trade only once in any consecutive 12-month period except as permitted by Rule 10b5-1.
- 12. If the person that adopted the trading plan terminates the plan prior to its stated duration, he or she may not trade in the Company's securities until after the expiration of 30 calendar days following termination, and then only in accordance with the Policy.
- 13. The Company must be promptly notified of any termination of the trading plan, including any suspension of trading under the trading plan.
- 14. The Company must have authority to require the suspension of the plan if there are legal, regulatory or contractual restrictions applicable to the Company or the person that adopted the trading plan, or to require the cancellation of the trading plan at any time, subject to any reasonable broker notice requirements as may be set forth in the trading plan.
- 15. If the trading plan grants discretion to a stockbroker or other person with respect to the execution of trades under the trading plan:
 - a. the person adopting the trading plan may not exercise any subsequent influence over how, when or whether to effect purchases or sales under the plan;
 - b. the person adopting the trading plan may not confer with the person administering the trading plan regarding the Company or its securities; and
 - c. the person administering the trading plan must provide prompt notice to the Company of the execution of a transaction pursuant to the plan.
 - 16. All transactions under the trading plan must be in accordance with applicable law.
- 17. Any exceptions to the Trading Plan Requirements must be approved by the Compliance Officer or, in the case of directors and officers who are subject to Section 16 of the Exchange Act, by the Compliance Officer, in consultation with the Company's board of directors or an independent committee of the board of directors.
 - 18. The trading plan (including any Modification) must meet such other requirements as the Compliance Officer may determine.

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the following Registration Statements:

- (1) Registration Statements (Forms S-3 No. 333-267048 and No. 333-257571) of eHealth, Inc.,
- (2) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-248129 and No. 333-281336) pertaining to the 2020 Employee Stock Purchase Plan of eHealth, Inc.,
- (3) Registration Statements (Forms S-8 No. 333-266682, No. 333-232252 and No. 333-196675) pertaining to the 2014 Equity Incentive Plan of eHealth, Inc.,
- (4) Registration Statements (Forms S-8 No. 333-268253, No. 333-263760 and No. 333-260144) pertaining to the 2021 Inducement Plan of eHealth, Inc., and
- (5) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-281336) pertaining to the 2024 Equity Incentive Plan of eHealth, Inc.

of our reports dated February 27, 2025, with respect to the consolidated financial statements of eHealth, Inc. and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting of eHealth, Inc. included in this Annual Report (Form 10-K) of eHealth, Inc. for the year ended December 31, 2024.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

San Francisco, California February 27, 2025

CERTIFICATION

I, Francis Soistman, certify that:

- 1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of eHealth, Inc.;
- 2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
- 3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
- 4. The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
 - a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
 - b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
 - c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 - d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and
- 5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 - a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
 - b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

Date: February 27, 2025 /s/ FRANCIS SOISTMAN

Francis Soistman
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

CERTIFICATION

I, John Dolan, certify that:

- 1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of eHealth, Inc.;
- 2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
- 3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
- 4. The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
 - a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
 - b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
 - c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 - d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and
- 5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 - a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
 - b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

Date: February 27, 2025

/s/ JOHN DOLAN

John Dolan
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer)

Certification of Chief Executive Officer, Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, As Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of eHealth, Inc. on Form 10-K (the "Form 10-K") for the year ended December 31, 2024, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report"), I, Francis Soistman, Chief Executive Officer of eHealth, Inc., certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to my knowledge:

- (1) The Form 10-K, to which this certification is attached as Exhibit 32.1, fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
- (2) The information contained in the Form 10-K fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of eHealth, Inc.

/s/ FRANCIS SOISTMAN

Francis Soistman Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer) February 27, 2025

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to eHealth, Inc. and will be retained by eHealth, Inc. and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.

Certification of Chief Financial Officer, Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, As Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of eHealth, Inc. on Form 10-K (the "Form 10-K") for the year ended December 31, 2024, as filed with the Securities and

Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report"), I, John Dolan, Chief Financial Officer of eHealth, Inc., certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to my knowledge:

- (1) The Form 10-K, to which this certification is attached as Exhibit 32.2, fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
- (2) The information contained in the Form 10-K fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of eHealth, Inc.

/s/ JOHN DOLAN

John Dolan Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer) February 27, 2025

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to eHealth, Inc. and will be retained by eHealth, Inc. and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.